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The Berrigan Shire on the 
New South Wales and 
Victorian border is three 
hours or 270 km north of 
Melbourne and 
approximately 7 hours 
south west of Sydney. It is 
a rural area with Murray 
River based tourism and 
excellent recreational 
facilities in its four towns: 

 
  Barooga 
  Berrigan 
  Finley; and 
  Tocumwal 

 
The Shire was established in 
1906 and during its early 
years as now, the population 
of the Shire fluctuated in 
response to economic 
conditions.  
 
Visitors to our region and 
new residents comment on 
the lifestyle, our facilities and 
proximity to Melbourne as 
the reasons why they visit or 
have chosen to live in the 
shire.   
 
Consequently we continue to 
experience growth in the 
border towns of Barooga and 
Tocumwal.   
 
 

About Us 



 

Fast  Facts 

Gazetted as a Shire:    1906 

Forecast Population   2016:   8,501 

Number of Councillors:    8 

Length of our roads:    1,316 km 
 



 
 
 
 
 

In 2023 we will be recognised as a Shire that builds on and 
promotes our natural assets and advantages to create 
employment and economic activity to attract residents, families 
and tourists 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Developed at the Shire’s Futures Conference June 
2011 our vision reflects the top 5 ‘preferred futures’ of our 
communities that: 

 
 
 

1. Families with young children will want to live in or come 
to the area 

2. People will be more concerned about their health and 
wellbeing 

3. Tourists will go out of their way to come to the area 
4. There will be more business owned and run by local people 
5. Transport connections between here and other places 

will be faster and or busier.

Our Vision  



 
I am pleased to present the Annual Report of the Berrigan Shire for 2016. 

The past 12 months witnessed a tremendous amount of time devoted by Council 
demonstrating that this Council meets the requirements of the State Government’s 
Fit for the Future: Reform of Local Government Program.  Based on the State 
Government’s recommendation that this Council merge with the former Jerilderie 
Shire Council the Council’s assessment was that this was not in the best interests 
of our residents and ratepayers.  The Shire's preference, therefore, was that it 
stand alone. Placing an enormous demand on our mangers tasked with collating 
the evidence that supported the Council's decision and now the State 
Government’s decision that this Council is and in the foreseeable future is capable 
of providing services to its people. 

I wish to acknowledge in this report the enormous contributions made by our 
strong band of Section 355 Committee volunteers without whom many services 
would be extremely difficult to provide 

Council has been most pleased with the program of activities provided for 
residents and students by our Library service. This program, in each of the four 
libraries, includes access to computers, and school holiday activities.  In addition 
to, the traditional services that the libraries provide. 

Council continues to support participation in post-secondary education in our 
Shire by offering an Accommodation Scholarship for a first year university student 
at a Charles Sturt University. This Scholarship is available to a student who 
resides within the Shire irrespective of where they attend school. In addition to the 
above, Council provides a scholarship to the Finley TAFE College which is used to 
assist a student in the purchase of text books. I and this Council are very 
committed to assisting the long term future of the Finley TAFE College. Further 
support, is also offered via this Council’s participation in the Bush Bursary 
Program open to Medical students. The purpose of the Bursary is to assist and 
encourage those with a commitment to medicine to consider, during their training, 
opportunities which are available in rural areas. 

Council was pleased with the support and presentation of this year’s Annual 
Business and Environmental Awards. This year the Berrigan Shire Awards 
became affiliated with the NSW Chamber of Commerce – Business Awards. with 
five winners of Council’s Awards progressing to the Murrary-Riverina Regional 
Business Awards. 

The Annual International Women's Day Literary Luncheon held at the Berrigan 
Sportsground recognised the diversity of opportunity for rural women through the 
presentation of guest author, Karen Viggers.  I acknowledge the work done for this 
event over a number of years by our Library Manager, Anne Nevins and her Staff. 

In closing, I would like to express my appreciation for the support of my 
Colleagues together with the General Manager and his staff for their achievements 
during the last twelve months ranking the Berrigan Shire as a leader in New South 
Wales local government. 
 

Cr Bernard Curtin OAM 
MAYOR 
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This report reflects the final year of 

the last Council’s four year term.  That 
Council had a variety of strengths and 
passions that combined to create an 
effective governing body which also had 
the capacity to represent resident 
interests. 

As has been seen over the past 
several years, external influences, 
particularly other levels of government, 
can strongly influence the Council’s 
position both negatively and positively.  
The State’s Fit For the Future program, 
whilst ultimately producing a good result 
for this Council, diverted vast resources 
away from the Council’s preferred 
directions and towards developing and 
projecting the Council’s view in relation to 
the proposed merger with either all or the 
southern area of the former Jerilderie 
Shire Council. 

The freeze on indexation of the 
Council’s Financial Assistance Grant has 
continued to curtail the Council’s ability to 
independently choose its preferred 
outcomes.  Whilst the indexation freeze 
will conclude at the end of the current 
financial year the Council will, 
nonetheless, be $250k worse off every 
year into the future. 

A positive influence from the State 
level has been the $2.5m of funding to 
upgrade Silo Road and its drainage.  
These works are nearing completion and 
will markedly improve operation of the 
grain handling facilities in the area and 

reduce the risk of flooding. 
These drainage works complement 

other drainage works at Tocumwal that 
aim to better drain some residential areas 
and also cut off rural overland drainage 
before it impacts on the town drainage 
systems. 

Stormwater protection works have 
also commenced at Berrigan and Finley 
to, again, divert rural overland drainage 
before it impacts on urban drainage 
systems. 

The above drainage works have been 
funded from borrowings which have been 
subsidized by the State to reduce interest 
costs by 3% 

The decision by the federal 
government to introduce the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) saw 
the Council take the difficult decision to 
divest itself of its Home and Community 
Care program.  Whether this transition to 
consumer directed care model is 
ultimately in the best interest of Berrigan 
Shire Council and Murrumbidgee Shire 
Council residents will be seen over time. 

The transition to the NDIS similarly 
threatens the Council’s Early Intervention 
Service which provides services to 
residents of Berrigan, Murrumbidgee and 
Federation Shire Councils.  Whilst no 
decision has yet been made in relation to 
the future of this service there is a real risk 
that the Council will be forced to make the 
same decision as was made with its 
Home and Community Care service. 

General Manager 



The Council has been pursuing an 
ongoing town entry improvement program 
that has been initially focused on Finley 
and Tocumwal.  While there are some real 
challenges with these projects, particularly 
around required or desired changes to 
electrical reticulation, results to date are 
positive. 

The Council has taken the opportunity 
to link the Tocumwal Foreshore area into 
the town entry project through the now, 
almost complete, Tocumwal Foreshore 
Master Plan.  The development of the 
plan will not only ensure a co-ordinated 
future for the Foreshore but will also assist 
in attracting external funding to the 
various component of the Plan. 

Both the Finley and Tocumwal plans 
have included significant community 
consultation which will also soon be 
commenced at Berrigan and Barooga. 

The Council’s decision to undertake 
further subdivision works at the Tocumwal 
aerodrome has progressed to the point 
that a tender for the works will soon be 
presented to the Council for consideration.  
This work will see a further 12 lots made 
available after the initial 12 lots were sold.  
The Federal government has assisted the 
project with a subsidy to ensure lot prices 
are competitive. 

The Council worked with a property 
owner to have its Local Environmental 
Plan amended to provide the opportunity 
for “backpacker” accommodation.  This is 
seen as a positive step to both provide 

additional labour opportunities and to also 
broaden the cultural diversity of the area. 

The Council at its August 2016 
meeting adopted its End of Term report 
effectively concluding and reporting upon 
the first full cycle of the Integrated 
Reporting Program.  The introduction of 
the Integrated Reporting Program in lieu 
of the previous Management Planning 
process has been a relatively positive 
experience for the community and the 
Council.  This initial End of Term Report 
has seen a total of 393 outcomes 
identified for action with 282 completed, 
72 on target, 25 not on target and carried 
forward, 1 past due and 13 either deferred 
or not yet due to commence.  In terms of 
organization KPI’s that means that over 
90% of actions included in the Community 
Strategic Plan have or are being 
completed. 

After a period of closure development 
approval has recently been granted to 
operate a primitive caravan park at the 
Finley Showgrounds.  This approval will 
allow recreational vehicles to use the site 
for up to 72 hours.  The approval 
formalizes the previous use of the site. 

With the assistance of ClubGrants 
NSW the Council has been able to 
replace the Tocumwal skatepark.  The 
new facility replaced a deteriorating and 
dated previous facility and will be officially 
opened in the near future. 

Probably the most difficult project for 
the Council has been the proposed 



redevelopment of the Finley War 
Memorial and School of Arts site.  Despite 
community division around the proposal 
the Council has been able broadly 
achieve the wider agenda of protecting 
the School of Arts, provide disabled 
access and upgrade the amenities and 
increase parking while maintaining the 
War Memorial Hall at the site.   

The Council’s original proposal to 
demolish the hall, primarily due to lack of 
use, has been stayed to allow the 
community a three year period to 
demonstrate sustainable use of the 
facility. 

The Barooga Botanical Gardens 
toilets and work shed have now been 
completed and are effectively better 
supporting users of the gardens.  These 
new facilities were required as a result of 
the ever increasing use of the gardens. 

Whilst the Council’s direct role has 
significantly reduced, the effect of the Mr 
Fluffy insulation issue upon the 
community has been profound.  While the 
State, and to a lesser extent the Council, 
can help residents affected by the 
asbestos insulation they have and are 
being required to make significant 
decisions regarding their future residential 
accommodation with less than ideal 
potential outcomes available to them. 

In hindsight the year and the four year 
term has been a relatively successful one 
with good outcomes and good progress 
with longer term strategic projects. 

These results would not have been 
achieved without the co-operation and 
commitment of the Council to whom I 
extend my thanks and appreciation. 

I would also like to express my 
appreciation to the Council, all of the 
Council staff, especially the senior 
management team without whom, the 
Council’s goals could not be delivered 

 

 

Rowan Perkins 

GENERAL MANAGER 
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Median Age 48 years 
Number of Families 2,187 
Average Number of Children per family 2 
Number of Private Dwellings 4,030 
Average people per household 2.2 
Median monthly mortgage repayments $ 1,170 
Our Top Employing Industries % 
Sheep, Beef Cattle and Grain Farming 10.1 

School & Education 5.7 
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Council meetings are open to the public and held on the third Wednesday of 
the month commencing at 9.15 am in the Council Chambers, 56 Chanter 
Street, Berrigan.  Residents and ratepayers are encouraged by Council to 
attend Council meetings at 9.00 am for Public Question Time. 
Eight Councillors, representing the whole Shire are elected to Council 
and ordinarily serve a four year term.  Council’s mayor and deputy 
mayor are elected on an annual basis by Councillors. 
 
Committees of Council meet on the Wednesday two weeks prior to a 
Council meeting.  Major working Committees of Council are: 

• Corporate Services 
• Technical Services 
• Business and Economic Development 
• Risk Management 

 
Council decision making is guided by Council’s Strategic Planning 
framework and its plans:  

• 10+ yr Community Strategic Plan: Berrigan Shire 2023; 
• 10yr Resourcing Strategy; 
• 4yr Delivery Program; and 
• Annual Operational Plan 

 
These plans describe the scope of Council services and the 
resources (human, physical and financial) needed to ensure the 
public safety and wellbeing of residents, local businesses and visitors 
to our Shire 

.

. 
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Councillor Bernard Curtin 
Mayor 

Elected: 27 March 2004 

Councillor Brian Hill 
Deputy Mayor 

Elected: 13 September 2008 

Councillor John Bruce 
Elected: 14 February 1998 

Councillor Denis Glanville 
Elected: 8 September 2012 

Council Committees 
 

Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services Murray Darling Association 
Technical Services  
Business & Economic Development 

Rural Fire Service District 
Liaison Committee 

Risk Management Bushfire Management 
 Riverina Murray Regional 

Organisation of Councils 
 Western Joint Regional 

Planning Panel 
 
 

Council Committees 
 

Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services  Central Murray County 
Council  

Technical Services   
Finley Tidy Towns Committee of 
Management 
Finley Recreation Reserve 
Committee of Management  
Youth Development Committee 
Finley Showground and Sporting 
Complex Committee of 
Management 
Finley War Memorial Pool 
Committee of Management 

 

Council Committees Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services  
Technical Services   
Business & Economic Development  
Barooga Advancement Group  
  
  

 

 

 

Council Committees Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services Public Libraries NSW 
Technical Services   
Tocumwal Swimming Pool 
Committee of Management 

 

C
ouncillors 
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Council Committees Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services  
Technical Services   
Finley Recreation Reserve 
Committee of Management 

 

Youth Development Committee  
  
  
 

Council Committees Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services  
 

Central Murray County 
Council  

Technical Services  Murray Darling Association 
Business & Economic Development   
Barooga Advancement Group  
Tocumwal Swimming Pool 
Committee of Management 

 

Tocumwal Aerodrome Users Group  
 

 

Council Committees Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services  
Technical Services   
Business & Economic Development  
  
  
  
 

 

Council Committees Regional / Other 
Organisations 

Corporate Services  Rural Fire Service District 
Liaison Committee  

Technical Services  Bushfire Management 
Barooga Advancement Group Western Joint Regional 

Planning Panel 

Councillor Matthew Hannan 
Elected: 13 September 2008 
 

Councillor Colin Jones 
Elected: 13 September 2008 

Councillor Daryl Morris 
Elected: 8 September 2012 

Councillor Andrea O’Neill 
Elected: 8 September 2012 
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Councillor Council Meetings 
Attended 

 
 
 

  
 

Bernard Curtin 12 out of 15 

Brian Hill 14 out of 15 

John Bruce 13 out of 15 

Denis Glanville 14 out of 15 

Matthew Hannan 15 out of 15 

Colin Jones 15 out of 15 

Daryl Morris 13 out of 15 

Andrea O’Neill 14 out of 15 

C
ouncillor M

eeting Attendance 
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Rowan Perkins 

General Manager 
 

 
 

Fred Exton  
Director Technical 

Services  

 
 

Matthew Hansen 
Director Corporate 

Services  

 

Council Management / Operations 

Risk Management 

Strategic and Social Planning 

Economic Development  

Councillor Support 
 

 

 
Roads, Bridges, Footpaths, Drainage 
Depot & Council Buildings  
Animal Control 
Parks & Gardens 
Water & Sewerage 
Health Services 
Town Planning, Development & Building Control 
Waste Control 
Aerodrome 

 

Finance, Administration & Human Resources 
Rates & Charges 
Land Sales 
Saleyards 
Early Intervention 
Public Interest Disclosures & Requests for 
Information 
Community Assistance 
Libraries 
Swimming Pools 
Bush Fire Control 
HACC Services 
Tourism & Caravan Parks 
Cemeteries 

C
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il 
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GENERAL MANAGER 

DIRECTOR 
CORPORATE 

SERVICES 

LIBRARY MANAGER 
+2.0 EFT 

FINANCE 
MANAGER 

Storeperson 

Payroll /HR 
Officer 

Accounts 
Payable/Receivab

le Officer 

Finance Officer 

Revenue Officer 

Water & Safety 
Officer 

Assistant Revenue 
Officer 

Administration 
Officer 

 
Customer Service 

Officer 
 

EARLY 
INTERVENTION 

+ 0.5 EFT 

Technology and 
Innovation Officer 

DIRECTOR 
TECHNICAL 
SERVICES 

DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGER 

Town Planner 

Enviro Liaison 
Officer 

Asset 
Maintenance 

Officer 

Building Surveyor 
& Asset 

Maintenance 
Officer 

EXECUTIVE  
ENGINEER 

Technical Officer 
Assets 

Management 

Design Engineer 

Design Engineer 

OPERATIONS 
MANAGER 

+ 38 EFT 

Surveillance 
Officer 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
ENGINEER 
+ 11 EFT 

STRATEGIC AND 
SOCIAL PLANNING 

COORDINATOR 

ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT 

OFFICER 

ENTERPRISE RISK 
MANAGER 

GENERAL MANAGER’S 
PERSONAL ASSISTANT 

EXECUTIVE 
SUPPORT 
OFFICER 

SUPPORT OFFICER 

O
rganisational Structure 
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IN THE PAST YEAR, 67 COUNCIL ACTIONS HAVE BEEN FULLY COMPLETED 
AND OR ARE ON TARGET OUT OF 69 SCHEDULED ACTIONS. NOT ON 
TARGET AND CARRIED FORWARD ARE A FURTHER 2 ACTIONS THESE 
ACTIONS ARE PART OF COUNCIL’S ONGOING OPERATIONS.  
 
IN THIS FINANCIAL YEAR THREE OF COUNCIL’S 4 YEAR DELIVERY PROGRAM 
AND THE 2015/16 ANNUAL OPERATIONAL PLAN ONE ACTION WAS 
DEFERRED BY COUNCIL AT ITS REVIEW OF THE DELIVERY PROGRAM.  IN 
THE CONTEXT OF COUNCIL’ S FOUR-YEAR DELIVERY PLAN 2013 - 2017 THE 
PAST DUE AND THE DEFERRED ACTIONS ARE UNFUNDED 
 
 
 

 
 
Number and Status of Operational Plan 2015/16 Actions 
 

 

Completed 
On 

target 
Not on 
target 

Past 
Due 

Deferred / 
Not due to 

start 
Total 

Sustainable natural and 
built landscapes 

9 7 0 0 0 16 

Good government 12 2 0 0 0 14 

Supported and engaged 
communities 

16 1 0 1 0 18 

Diverse and resilient 
business 

18 2 0 0 1 21 

Total Actions  55 12 0 1 1 69 
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Snapshot of our performance 
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THE SHIRE COUNCIL’S ANNUAL OPERATIONAL PLAN AND 4-YEAR DELIVERY 

PROGRAM DESCRIBE THE FULL RANGE OF COUNCIL SERVICES.  IT IS 

THEMED ACCORDING TO BERRIGAN SHIRE 2023 STRATEGIC OUTCOMES 

AND IS COUNCIL’S BLUE PRINT ABOUT HOW COUNCIL SERVICES, 

PROGRAMS AND INITIATIVES CONTRIBUTE TOWARD OUR STRATEGIC 

OUTCOMES 

• SUSTAINABLE NATURAL AND BUILT LANDSCAPES 
• GOOD GOVERNMENT 
• SUPPORTED AND ENGAGED COMMUNITIES 
• DIVERSE AND RESILIENT BUSINESS 
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THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBES OUR STRATEGIC OUTCOMES AND INCLUDES 

COMMENTS ON SIGNIFICANT OR NEW PROJECTS UNDERTAKEN AND 

COMPLETED IN THE PAST YEAR  

 

THE TRAFFIC LIGHT REVIEW PROVIDES A VISUAL UPDATE ON THE STATUS 

OF COUNCIL’S ANNUAL OPERATIONAL PLAN AND COUNCIL’S PROGRESS 

TOWARD FULL IMPLEMENTATION OF ITS 4-YEAR DELIVERY PROGRAM.   

YOU SHOULD READ IT USING THE FOLLOWING KEY: 

 

 

 

KEY 

     

Complete On 

Target 

Not on 

Target 

Past 

Due 

No Status / 

Deferred 

 

  

R
eading this report 

25
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Sustainable natural 

and built 

landscapes  

Development decisions made 
today about how we move 
around and between our 
communities and use our natural 
resources – the River, wildlife, 
forests, agricultural and urban 
land, and water shape the future 
of our communities 

Council’s Delivery Program and 
strategic objectives are: 

1.1 Support sustainable use of our 
natural resources and built 
landscapes 

1.2 Retain the diversity and 
preserve the health of our 
natural landscapes and 
wildlife 

1.3 Connect and protect our 
communities  

Our traffic light review of 
Sustainable natural and built 
landscapes Operational Plan 
2015/16 actions describes 
whether Council  in the past 12 
months has done what it said it 
would do and if not Officers 
comments provide guidance on 
why not? 

Additional comment is also 
provided by Council Officers on 
significant achievements or 
projects commenced and or 
completed in the past 12 months 
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Highlights 

Alexander Garden Awards 
Council’s annual Alexander Garden Awards for the best garden viewed from the 
roadway were awarded to: 

Berrigan 
Mary Mills 

Barooga 
Bob & Fran Thatcher 

Finley 
Scott & Gail Thow 

Tocumwal 
Jo Boake 

 

Storm Water Projects 
Improvement in the efficient removal of storm water from the urban areas of the Shire has 

been a priority for Council in recent years with Council utilising $1.5m of loan funding to 

install improvements to the storm water system that will prevent flooding of properties during 

extreme storm events. 

Last year saw the completion of the following works: 

• Linkages in the north-eastern corner of Finley that service the large detention 
basin and pumps installed the previous year.  

• Upgrading of earth drains around the northern edge of Tocumwal and 
construction of a major pumping station on the Newell Highway that both 
reduces the impact of storms on the industrial area between the railway and 
Silo Road and provides and outfall for future drainage in the George Street 
and Dean Street areas. 

• Construction of a small pump station and mains to drain the Chanter 
Street/Jersey Street area of Tocumwal. 

• Installation of pipe drains to serve the Flynn Street area of Berrigan. 
Major drainage works including trunk drains along Barooga Street, Berrigan, a large pumping 

station and modifications to the Berrigan tank paddock to increase the capacity of the 

detention basin.  This work was done following consultation with the Berrigan community and 

constructed with the input and cooperation of the Berrigan Tidy Towns Committee. 

28



 
 

Silo Road 
Work on the much needed upgrade 
of Silo Road Tocumwal 
commenced this year. The $3M 
project has widened and 
strengthened Silo Road and part of 
Tuppal Road to accommodate the 
longer and heavier trucks that now 
use the road during harvest. 
The NSW government and the 
Council identified this project as a 
regional priority.  This project led to 
the removal of some trees and as 
part of Council’s Statement of 
Environmental Effects native 
shrubs will be replanted on cleared 
areas of the site and elsewhere in 
the Shire.

Drainage Works - Finley 

29
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Sustainable natural and built landscapes  
1.1 Support sustainable use of our natural resources and built landscapes 
 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Coordinate strategic land-
use planning and 
effective development 
assessment and control 

1.1.1.1 Review Land Use 
Strategy 

 
Complete 

Revised Project Work Plan 
and Timeframe variation 
request endorsed by 
Department of Planning. 
Progress payment of 
$50,000 from Planning 
Reform Fund received by 
Council. 

Coordinate strategic land-
use planning and 
effective development 
assessment and control 

1.1.1.2 Develop land-use 
strategy  

Complete 

 

Coordinate strategic land-
use planning and 
effective development 
assessment and control 

1.1.1.2 Increase community 
awareness regarding 
development application 
process  

Complete 

Electronic Housing Code 
and DA Tracking ready to 
be uploaded to website. 
Development section of 
website to be reviewed and 
updated this quarter. 

Coordinate strategic land-
use planning and 
effective development 
assessment and control 

1.1.1.3 Process and approve / 
refuse development 
applications in 
accordance with relevant 
legislation, codes and 
policies 

 
Complete 

 

Enhance the visual 
amenity, heritage and 
liveability of our 
communities 

1.1.2.1 Continue Annual Heritage 
Grants Program  

Complete 

Progressing 

Enhance the visual 
amenity, heritage and 
liveability of our 
communities 

1.1.2.2 Continue rolling program 
of works – town 
entrances  

On target 

Consultants are managing 
process for construction 
and should be completed 
by December 16 
Artistic and Heritage 
content of signage 
currently being resolved. 
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1.2 Retain the diversity and preserve the health of our natural landscapes and 
wildlife 

 

DP Strategic 
Objective 

Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Partner with 
community groups 
and agencies on 
projects that retain 
and preserve the 
health of our natural 
landscapes and 
wildlife 

1.2.1.1 Contribute to Central 
Murray County Council 

 
Complete 

 

Partner with 
community groups 
and agencies on 
projects that retain 
and preserve the 
health of our natural 
landscapes and 
wildlife 

1.2.1.2 Participation in roadside 
vegetation enhancement 
projects  

Complete 
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1.3 Connect and protect our communities 
DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Coordinate flood levee, 
Council road network 
and stormwater asset 
management and 
planning 

1.3.1.1 Develop and implement 
asset management plans 
which maintain a 
balance between 
improving and 
maintaining flood levees, 
stormwater, Council 
roads, paths and trails  

On target 

AMP's for these assets are up 
to date and being 
implemented 

Coordinate flood levee, 
Council road network 
and stormwater asset 
management and 
planning 

1.3.1.2 Design, construct and 
maintain stormwater 
systems that safely 
capture and remove 
water 

 
On target 

Budgeted works progressing 
satisfactorily, Tocumwal Dean 
St pump station complete, 
Berrigan trunk drainage 
nearing completion Finley 
Murray Street drainage 
complete other than electrical 
connection of pump, Finley 
Finley Street drainage 
commencement deferred to 
new financial year budget, 
Chanter Street due to 
commence. 

Coordinate flood levee, 
Council road network 
and stormwater asset 
management and 
planning 

1.3.1.3 Design, construct and 
maintain flood protection 
network 

 
On target 

Audit from NSW Public Works 
received and works program 
to be determined for future 
years to address issues 
raised to ensure future 
integrity of levees. 
Levee maintenance up to 
date.  Draft levee owners 
manual almost complete. 
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DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Coordinate flood levee, 
Council road network 
and stormwater asset 
management and 
planning 

1.3.1.4 Continue remediation 
Tocumwal Foreshore 
Levee 

 
On target 

Works carried out as required 

Coordinate flood levee, 
Council road network 
and stormwater asset 
management and 
planning 

1.3.1.5 Maintain the safety of 
Council roads and 
walkways 

 
On target 

Roads inspected and repaired 
as required 

Coordinate flood levee, 
Council road network 
and stormwater asset 
management and 
planning 

1.3.1.6 Exercise delegated 
functions Road Act 1993  

On target 

Functions exercised as 
required 

Manage landfill, 
recycling and waste 
disposal 

1.3.2.1 Reduce waste in landfill 

 
Complete 

Draft Waste Plan completed 

Manage landfill, 
recycling and waste 
disposal 

1.3.2.2 Deliver township 
garbage collection and 
street cleaning services 

 
Complete 

Landfills managed within 
budgets and recycling 
collected and delivered to 
contract specifications 

 

 

Sustainable natural and built landscapes  

Operational Plan 2015/16 Report  

Completed On target Not on 
target Past Due Deferred / 

Not due to start 
Total 

      

9 7 0 0 0 16 
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Good government  
 

Good government is about making 
good decisions over time.   These 
decisions involve managing our 
financial, economic, and 
environmental risks and the social 
implications of decisions made. 

Council’s Good government 
Delivery Program and strategic 
objectives are: 

2.1 Berrigan Shire 2023 objectives 
and strategies inform Council 
planning and community led 
projects 

2.2  Ensure effective governance 
by Council of Council 
operations and reporting 

2.3 Strengthen strategic 
relationships and partnerships 
with community, business and 
government  

Our traffic light review of 2015/16  
actions describes whether Council  
in the past 12 months has done 
what it said it would do and if not 
Officers comments provide 
guidance on why not? 

Additional comment is also 
provided by Council Officers 
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Highlights 
Excellence in 

Communication 

The RH Dougherty Awards recognise and 

encourage greater understanding and 

communication by councils to their local 

communities. The awards are managed by Local Government NSW, and judged by leading 

experts in the communications field. Special commendations are awarded for work that 

deserves recognition.  This year the Council for the first time submitted two entries 

recognising the exceptional work undertaken by Council staff encouraging and supporting 

communication between the Council and our communities.  As a small regional council it 

was recognised by the sector that our Council ‘punched well above its weight’ after Susie 

Escott took out the Outstanding Individual Contribution Award for her curation of Council’s 

Facebook.  Further, Merran Socha was also highly commended for her work with the Moira 

Shire and our communities on the No Flies on Us Fruit Fly Campaign in the Excellence in 

Communication category 

Australia Day Awards 
Held at Berrigan, this year’s Australia Day awards recognised the local community groups and 

community members that have contributed to the success of our towns and clubs.  This year’s 

winners were:  

Citizen of the Year  John Bruce  

Young Citizen of the Year: Rachael Barnes 

Junior Sports Person of the Year : Dela Gargaro 

Sports Person of the Year: Paul Massingham 

Community Organisation of the Year: Rotary Club of Tocumwal 
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Excellence in Rates & Revenue Collections 
Good corporate governance and the financial 

sustainability of Council’s operations is about 

our systems and benchmarks.  How we well 

we perform compared to our peers.  It is also 

about our people.  A key element of the State 

Government’s Fit for the Future Reform 

program is the ongoing financial sustainability 

of NSW Councils.  Financial sustainability that 

is owed we believe not only to the 

preparedness of our local communities to pay 

their way and participate in Council Volunteer 

Committees but also to Council’s Revenue 

Team, and in particular our Rates Team. 

Uncollected rates and charges affect the 

Council’s bottom line.  In particular the money 

it has for the services that you told us through 

the Nexus Survey (2015) are important to you: 

Libraries, Swimming Pools, Parks, Street 

Cleaning and Waste Collection.  In a 

community that experiences the ups and 

downs of rural employment and season 

incomes.  Our Rates Team negotiate hardship 

agreements that balance the needs of our 

ratepayers with the Council’s requirement that 

we reduce over time the debt owed to Council 

– contributing to the financial sustainability of 

Council and its services
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Source: Office Local Government Your Council Report: Time Series 2014/15 

 

Financial Fast Facts 
Overall performance 
Operating surplus $5.9 m 
Operating deficit before capital grants and contributions $3.3 m 
 
Revenue and expenses 
Total revenue $23.9 m 
Total expenses $18.0 m 
 
Cash and investments 
Cash and cash equivalents $7.05 m 
Investments $21.3 m 
 
Balance Sheet 
Total assets $241.2 m 
Total liabilities $5.5 m 
Total equity $235.7 m 
New assets 2015/16  

State Av Metropoli
tan

Metropoli
tan Fringe

Regional
Town/City

Large
Rural Rural Berrigan

Rates & Annual Charges
Outstanding % 6.25 3.4 4.6 5.5 7.3 10.3 4.4

Bench Mark City <5%
Bench Mark Rural  <10%

0

2

4

6

8
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12
How do we compare? 

Rates & Charges Outstanding %   

40



Good government  

2.1 Berrigan Shire 2023 objectives and strategies inform Council planning and 
community led projects 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Council operations, 
partnerships and 
coordination of resources 
contribute toward 
implementation of Berrigan 
Shire 2023 

2.2.1.1 Promote and support the 
engagement of Shire 
residents, local business 
and agencies in the 
development, 
implementation and review 
of Berrigan Shire 2023 

 
Complete 

The community 
engagement re: the re-
development of the 
Finley School of Arts and 
Finley War Memorial Hall 
included online survey, 
street stalls and public 
meeting.  Report 
prepared and presented 
to June Council 
Committee Meeting. 

Council operations, 
partnerships and 
coordination of resources 
contribute toward 
implementation of Berrigan 
Shire 2023 

2.2.1.2 Continue to evaluate Fit for 
the Future options to 
determine contribution 
toward implementation of 
Berrigan Shire 2023 

 
On target 

proposed merger not 
proceeding.  need to be 
declared "fit for the 
future". 

Council operations, 
partnerships and 
coordination of resources 
contribute toward 
implementation of Berrigan 
Shire 2023 

2.2.1.3 Develop Community 
Engagement Strategy and 
commence review of 
Berrigan Shire 2023 

 
Complete 

End of Term report 
preparation on track for 
presentation to the 
August 2016 Council 
meeting 
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2.2 Ensure effective governance by Council of Council operations and reporting 

 

DP Strategic 
Objective 

Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Meet legislative 
requirements for 
Council elections, local 
government and 
integrated planning and 
reporting 

2.2.2.01 Provide facilities and support 
including financial to elected 
Council 

 
Complete 

Financial support provided 
in accordance with Council 
policy and statutory 
requirements. 
All legislative requirements 
have been met. 
elections proceeding during 
September 2016. Staff are 
working with Electoral 
Commission on pre election 
procedures. 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.02 Implement and further 
develop the Berrigan Shire 
Integrated Management 
System  

Complete 

Integrated Management 
System Manual is 
completed.  Further 
development involves 
completion of Standard 
Operating Procedures for 
all positions.  These will be 
gradually developed in 
conjunction with relevant 
staff. 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.03 Coordinate Council 
investments, financial 
management financial 
operations and processing 

 
Complete 

Council now utilising NSW 
T-Corp Cash Hourglass 
investment for cash at-call. 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.04 Deliver responsive customer 
service  

Complete 

Ongoing 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.05 Manage human resource 
and workforce development 
activities through the 
implementation of the 
Berrigan Shire's Workforce 
Development Plan 2013-
2017 

 
Complete 

Ongoing. 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.5.1 Implement Equal 
Employment Opportunity 
Policy and Plan 2014 - 2018  

Complete 

Implementation ongoing 
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DP Strategic 
Objective 

Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.06 Provide information 
technonlogy and associated 
support for Council 
operations in line with 
Information Technology 
Action Plan 

 
Complete 

Council website migrated to 
new host and project to 
make website more 
accessible and user 
friendly underway. 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.07 Coordinate the delivery and 
management of Shire 
records and communications 

 
Complete 

 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.08 Maintain and sustainably re-
develop existing 
infrastructure and community 
assets 

 
Complete 

Finley School of Arts 
precinct consultation 
complete - consultation has 
lead to re-design of project 
to retain the Finley War 
Memorial Hall. Discussions 
for upgrade of Finley Indoor 
Sports Centre have 
commenced. Work with 
Finley RSL for 
improvements to Memorial 
Park. Tocumwal Foreshore 
redevelopment in design 
phase. 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.09 Coordinate and manage 
maintenance and renewal of 
Council plant and equipment  

On target 

Plant replaced in line with 
budget although 
replacement of small 
patching deferred due to 
insufficient budget 
allowance. 
Plant repaired as required 

Council operations 
support ethical, 
transparent and 
accountable corporate 
governance 

2.2.2.10 Coordinate the ongoing 
review and development of 
Council and Operational 
procedures 

 
Complete 

Development of the 
Council's procurement and 
disposal policies expected 
to be complete in July 2016 

Good government 

Operational Plan 2015/16 report  
Completed On target Not on 

target Past Due Deferred / 
Not due to start 

 Total 

     
 

12 2 0 0 0 14 
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Supported and 

engaged communities  
  

Safe, healthy, accessible and 
inclusive communities are child 
and older person friendly.   

Lifelong learning, cultural 
expression, services for older 
residents and recreational 
activities  provide opportunities 
for people with a diverse range 
of interests to become involved 
and engaged in their local 
communities 

Council’s Supported and 
engaged communities Delivery 
Program and strategic 
objectives are: 

3.1 Create safe, friendly and 
accessible communities 

3.2 Support community 
engagement through life-
long learning, culture and 
recreation  

Our traffic light review of 
Operational Plan 2015/16 
actions describes whether 
Council in the past 12 months 
has done what it said it would 
do and if not Officers comments 
provide guidance on why not? 

Council Officers have also 
commented on significant 
achievements or projects 
commenced in the past 12 
months. 
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Highlights  

Seniors Festival and Youth Week Photo Expo 

Voting for People’s Choice Award for this year’s combined 

Seniors Festival and Youth Week Photo Expo ‘through my 

eyes’ was launched at the Seniors Luncheon held at the 

Finley Returned Services Club 5th April 2016.  Attended by 

100 of the district's older residents and photography 

students from Finley High School the Luncheon was 

supported by Amaroo, Finley Regional Care and the Finley 

RSL.  At the Luncheon seniors were entertained by Ray 

McCartney, Tocumwal, Berrigan and Oaklands Public 

Schools.  Photo Expo voting then continued online during 

Youth Week.  Michelle Jenkins photo of her father polishing 

his ‘baby’ a Harley Davidson motorcycle – captured the eye 

of judges and people with the judges nominating Michelle’s 

photo as the ‘Most Innovative Photo by a Young Person’.  Michelle’s photo was also very popular in 

the People’s Choice section.  The People's Choice Senior Award went to Lesley Wilson of Finley for 

her photo titled ‘Granddad’s Hat’ and the People’s Choice Award winner was Jessica Sutton of 

Tocumwal for her photo ‘Like Grandpa Like Grandson’. 

Finley School of Arts Hall – Community Engagement 
The proposed redevelopment of the Finley School of Arts Hall, in response to community feedback, 

has been substantially modified.  Our communities told us that the retention of the Finley War 

Memorial Hall was important to it.  Prompting the modification of concept plans for the upgrade of 

the Finley School of Art Hall aimed at improving the access, the usability and amenity of the Finley 

School of Arts Hall.  The modified proposal includes the separation of the two facilities and the 

construction on the southern side of the Finley School of Arts Hall – accessible toilets and upgraded 

kitchen facilities.   
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Highlights 

International Children’s Games – A Berigan Shire Youth Development Committee Project 
The Berrigan Shire International Children’s 

Games Team, their families and a band of 

committed supporters have had busy 12 

months raising over $40,000 to send a team 

of 20 young athletes aged 12 -15 years of age 

to the 51st International Children’s Games – 

New Taipei City, Taiwan (July 2016).  

Following the success of the Youth 

Development Committee’s sponsorship of our 

first International Children’s Games Team 

which competed at the Lake Macquarie 

Games in 2014 and the fund raising efforts of 

the families involved.  A decision was made to 

support continued community interest in this 

International Olympic Committee event; while 

also working with project supporters on the 

development of the systems and processes 

that will allow our community to take on the 

future planning for this activity.  An activity 

which, for country kids is a once in a lifetime 

opportunity: going forward responsibility for 

future team’s and participation will transfer to 

an Incorporated Body – the Berrigan Shire 

International Children’s Games Inc.  An 

example of how Council’s Youth Development 

Committee can supports community 

ownership of projects and activities that 

promote healthy youth development and 

wellbeing across the whole Shire. 
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Supported and engaged communities 
3.1 Create safe, friendly and accessible communities 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Build communities that are 
home to more families and 
young people 

3.1.1.1 Support and promote the 
healthy development and 
wellbeing of children and 
young people  

Complete 

Tocumwal Skatepark 
completed and open. Support 
for International Childrens 
Games continuing. Tocumwal 
Splashpark in early 
development. Holiday program 
provided at all four libraries 

Build communities that are 
home to more families and 
young people 

3.1.1.2 Deliver on behalf of the 
funder Shire based  Early 
Childhood Intervention 
Services 

 

 
Complete 

Ongoing. Discussions about a 
transition to a Consumer 
Directed Care model are 
underway. This will require 
significant changes to the 
existing method of service 
provision. 

Build communities that are 
home to more families and 
young people 

3.1.1.3 Complete the development 
of the Children and 
Families Strategy 

 
Complete 

 

Facilitate all age healthy 
lifestyles and ageing in 
place 

3.1.2.1 Implement transition plan 
for integrated in-home 
services and support to 
frail, aged, and disabled 
residents until such time as 
service is transitioned 

 
Complete 

Service fully transitioned with 
final acquittals all submitted. 
Project an overall success. 

Facilitate all age healthy 
lifestyles and ageing in 
place 

3.1.2.2 Implement Liveability and 
Healthy Ageing Strategy  

Complete 
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DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Facilitate all age healthy 
lifestyles and ageing in 
place 

3.1.2.3 Provide recreation facilities 
which support active 
lifestyle and ageing place 

 
Complete 

Finley School of Arts project 
substantially modified following 
community consultation to 
include the retention of the 
Finley War Memorial Hall. The 
retention of the War Memorial 
Hall will make more difficult the 
achievement of some of the 
project aims such as 
accessibility but the new design 
should still improve usability 
and accessibility of the venue. 
The Tocumwal Skate Park has 
been replaced with a modern 
facility. 

Strengthen the 
inclusiveness and 
accessibility of our 
community 

3.1.3.1 Promote the social and 
economic wellbeing of 
Shire residents through 
social planning and 
community development 
activities 

 
Complete 

Commenced planning for 
Children's Week and continuing 
to work with Hume Partners in 
Recovery re: Hoarding Project; 
and in conjunction with Youth 
Development Committee 
continuing to work with service 
clubs on the following projects 
re: International Childrens 
Games and ICE Free Zone 

Coordinate and facilitate 
the delivery of potable 
water, public health and 
safety services 

3.1.4.1 Ensure potable water and 
sewer network is safe and 
functional 

 
Complete 

Potable water produced and 
delivery to residents to meeting 
drinking water standards 
throughout blue green algae 
bloom from January to May 

Coordinate and facilitate 
the delivery of potable 
water, public health and 
safety services 

3.1.4.2 Monitor, control and report 
upon environmental 
contaminants and public 
health hazards - water, fire, 
refuse, buildings and air 

 
Complete 

 

Coordinate and facilitate 
the delivery of potable 
water, public health and 
safety services 

3.1.4.3 Coordinate and facilitate 
local emergency 
management committee 

 
On target 

Meetings held as scheduled 

Coordinate and facilitate 
the delivery of potable 
water, public health and 
safety services 

3.1.4.4 Develop and maintain local 
cemeteries and associated 
infrastructure 

 
Complete 

Cemetery maintenance being 
undertaken regularly. Sprinkler 
system at Finley Cemetery 
installed. Barooga Cemetery 
fence and gates installed 

Coordinate and facilitate 
the delivery of potable 
water, public health and 
safety services 

3.1.4.9 Control and promote 
responsible ownership of 
companion animals 

 
Complete 
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3.2 Support community engagement through life-long learning, culture and 
recreation 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Provide opportunities for 
life-long learning, 
cultural expression and 
recreation 

3.2.1.1 Coordinate and deliver 
local library services in 
accordance with Library 
Services Strategic Plan 
2014 - 2018 

 
Complete 

Statistics: 
Total Door Count 4th Quarter:7645 
Total Loans 4th Quarter:7587 
Total Membership: 3813 (member 
update to reflect true numbers by 
deleting patrons who had not 
borrowed in 2 years) 
Total Annual Loans: 30267 
(decrease of 1.2% from 2014/15) 
Total Annual Door Count: 27901 
(decrease of 0.4% from 2014/15) 
Total Annual WiFi Logins: 3369 
Devices: 2572 
Total Annual BorrowBox : ebook 
Loans:1142. eAudio Loans: 444 
Total Annual Zinio Loans: 
eMagazines: 163 
Total Inter Library Loan report: 
Requested 12 items; Shipped 121 
items to requesting Libraries. 

Provide opportunities for 
life-long learning, 
cultural expression and 
recreation 

3.2.1.2 Strengthen community 
engagement and 
participation in Council 
activities  

Complete 

Liaised with Outback Theatre for 
Youth - support for Grant 
Application youth theatre project 
focused on experience of young 
people living on Border - 
Borderlands. 

Provide opportunities for 
life-long learning, 
cultural expression and 
recreation 

3.2.1.2.4 Lead strategic 
management of 
recreation and open 
space assets and 
facilities  

Complete 

Redevelopment of Tocumwal Skate 
park is complete. Masterplan for 
Tocumwal Foreshore nearly 
complete. Consultation on Finley 
School of Arts complete and new 
design to be prepared by October 
2016. Agreement in principal to 
develop a strategic plan for Berrigan 
Sportsground 

Provide opportunities for 
life-long learning, 
cultural expression and 
recreation 

3.2.1.3 Implement Council 
Volunteer Strategy and 
Action Plan 2012 - 2016  

Past due 

No Comments 
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DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Provide opportunities for 
life-long learning, 
cultural expression and 
recreation 

3.2.1.5 Financially contribute to 
and support South West 
Arts programs and 
activities  

Complete 

2015/16 finding provided. The 
"Passing Parade" joint regional 
cultural project to be launched in 
July. South West Arts working with 
Tocumwal Strawberry Fields festival 
to promote and develop local artists. 
"Threads of our Communities" fibre 
art exhibition has been launched. 
Collaboration with Outback Theatre 
for Young People continuing. 

Facilitate and partner 
with local communities 
in the development of 
township plans 

3.2.2.1 Coordinate and align 
community projects and 
activities with township 
plans 

 
Complete 

Desk top review commenced of 
projects undertaken and will be 
used to inform End of Term Report 

 

 

Supported and engaged communities  

Operational Plan 2015/16 report  

Completed On target Not on 
target Past Due Deferred / 

Not due to start 
 Total 

      

16 1 0 1 0 18 
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Diverse and 

resilient business   

 

 

Our lifestyle, climate, existing facilities 
and proximity to Melbourne present a 
range of agricultural, tourism, retail 
and health industry opportunities. 

Council’s Delivery Program and 
diverse and resilient business 
strategic objectives include: 

4.1 Invest in local job creation, 
retention and innovation 

4.2 Strong and diverse economy 

4.3 Diversify and promote local 
tourism 

4.4 Connect local, regional and 
national road, rail and aviation 
infrastructure 

Our traffic light review of Operational 
Plan 2015/16 actions describes 
whether Council in the past 12 
months has done what it said it would 
do. 
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Highlights  

Queensland Fruit Fly (QFF) program 2015/2016 

In 2015/16 Berrigan Shire Council partnered 
with Moira Shire Council and the Cobram and 
District Fruit Growers Association to continue 
to deliver a QFF awareness program.  QFF 
was declared endemic in the region in 2011 
with the State government(s) withdrawing 
funding of spray control programs. Since that 
time the numbers of the native pest have 
increased threatening the sustainability of the 
local and regional horticultural industry.  QFF 
also thrives in backyard orchards and 
vegetable gardens so the awareness program 
was designed to inform the community on 
how to save their own patch and in turn 
protect the broader industry. 

The 2015/2016 QFF program included: 

• Weekly media releases over a 10 week 
period – 8 of which were published 

• Road signage 
• Baits that were normally only available in 

commercial quantities were sold through 
Council 

• YouTube videos on QFF management in 
the backyard 

• 5 Community Forums 
• Social Media platform hosted by Council   
• Liaising with Real Estate Agents to assist 

Renters and Landlords with tree care. 
• Direct Mail of information brochure.  
 
 
 

Action 2014 2015 

Cue Lure Amulet – Male 
Fly attractant 

365 Units 
sold 

548 Units 
sold 

Bio Trap - Female 
attractant Fly Trap 

Not available 497 Units 
sold 

Hold Community 
Forums 

3 5 

Attendance at 
community forums 

136 293 

Industry Involvement None Joined the 
combined 
taskforce 

Social Media None 24 posts over 
first 4 months 
with the 
highest 
performing 
post 
receiving 
4082 views 

The program attracted a good deal of 
attention from a communication standpoint 
and the concept was presented, by invitation, 
to the NSW Farmers Federation AGM and 
Conference in Sydney in May and was 
awarded highly commended in the LGA NSW 
Dougherty Awards for Community 
Communication in populations less than 
30,000. 
Merran Socha, Council’s Economic 
Development Officer, was also appointed to 
the Area Wide Management and Sterile Insect 
Technology Taskforce to represent Local 
Governments in NSW.  
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Highlights 

The 2016 Berrigan Shire Business Awards 
The presentation dinner held at the Barooga 
Sports Club on the 20th of April was the 
culmination of a three year plan bringing the 
Shire Business awards in line with the 
Regional and State Awards.  In 2016 the final 
step in aligning the awards was taken.  Five of 
the sections offered were identical to those 
offered at Regional level.  The Council also 
entered into a partnership with the NSW 
Business Chamber ensuring that winners of 
our matching Awards would be automatic 
finalists at the Regional Business Awards.  
Each category is judged by Economic and 
Business Development professionals who do 
not live or work in the Berrigan Shire. 

Judging includes assessment of the written 
submission prepared via an online portal and 
a site visit.  This year the Tourism category 

the judge requested that due to quality of the 
entries that awarded.  All judges gave their 
time free of charge. 

1. Excellence in Event 
Management 

Barooga Classic Pairs – 
(Bowls Tournament)  

2. Excellence from an 
Employee 

Jeremy Cardillo – C A 
McNamara Licenced 
Builders 

3. Excellence from an 
Apprentice 

Mathew Osborn – Fortitude 
Frames - Tocumwal 

4. People’s Choice Award 
Barooga Hotel    
Runner up Berrigan 
Pharmacy 

5. Excellence in Small 
Business 

Fortitude Frames – 
Tocumwa 

6. Young Business 
Executive 

Kathy Giddens – Tocumwal 
Golf Club 

7. Business Leader 
Greg Harmes – Global 
Accreditation Services 

8. Excellence in Tourism 
Langford House B & B  
Special commendation 
Berrigan Caravan Park 

9. Excellence in 
Innovation 

Eagle I Machinery  

10. Excellence in Business 
KM and WM Kelly and Sons 

 

 

 

People’s Choice Runner 
Up – Berrigan Pharmacy 
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Youth Futures 2016 

The Youth Futures program is focused of the 
skills needed for tertiary education or 
employment while highlighting the possibility 
of local careers to year 11 and 12 Finley High 
School students.   
 
The Berrigan Shire Council has been involved 
in career education with Finley High School 
since 2007 and the program has grown as the 
curriculum has changed and student needs 
have become more clearly identified.   
 
The Councils’ interest in producing this 
program each year is that it is on opportunity 
to show case careers, in the region, whilst 
also acknowledging that most will need to 
leave the area for education. 
 
The 2016 program addressed: 
1. What can be achieved locally through true 

grit and a bit of creativity?  The keynote 
address was given by Finley High School 
graduate and local TV personality Sueanne 
McCumstie.  Her story was both inspiring 
and challenging and it set the scene for a 
day of good questions and interaction from 
the students.  

2. Careers in the Emergency Services.  A two 
part program that started with a panel 
session with local emergency service 
workers talking about their introduction to 
the job and why that had chosen to be in a 
rural area.  The second part of this session 
was a hands on look at a highway patrol 
car and an ambulance which proved very 
popular. 

3. Careers in the performing arts. Sam 
Ludeman and his band partner Sam 
Russell provided what appeared to be light 
relief for the students just before the lunch 
break by playing some of their well-known 
music.  This session however proved 
immensely popular as questions about 

their journey in this challenging industry 
went well into the allocated lunch break. 

4. How what students do on Social media 
today will affect them in the future.  This 
session was delivered very competently by 
Steven Wright from Melbourne who is a 
freelance media advisor just young enough 
to relate well to the audience.  Steve was 
able to impart sound advice about cleaning 
up social media account but also 
highlighted the use of social media such as 
Instagram in careers. 

5. Budgeting to live away from home.  A 
lighter look at the cost of living away from 
home was introduced through our own 
version of the 1980’s game show the Price 
is Right.  The final showcase involved 
organising starting salaries for a range of 
careers from highest to lowest.  This 
produced some interesting results and 
again some good discussion. 

 
The students complete a survey before 
leaving to evaluate the day and their 
comments clearly show that the spread of 
activities in the 2016 program were engaging 
and interesting for the students.   
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Diverse and resilient business 

4.1 Invest in local job creation, retention and innovation 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Identify opportunities for 
strategic investment and 
job creation 

4.1.1.1 Support the development 
of  Agriculture Industry 

 
Complete 

Continued liaison with Riverine 
Plains R and D 
Supply of ag. data through 
Economy ID 
Continued work with the Fruit Fly 
program at the research level with 
Hort Innovation Australia 
Contact with dairy farmers to 
monitor the effect of the milk price 
retrospective downgrade. 

Identify opportunities for 
strategic investment and 
job creation 

4.1.1.2 Support collaborative 
planning, shared 
resourcing in  local 
industry and promotion of 
business and 
development projects 

 
Complete 

 

Identify opportunities for 
strategic investment and 
job creation 

4.1.1.3 In conjunction with local 
business and employers 
develop an innovative 
industry and  local skills 
retention and 
employment prospectus 

 
Complete 

Commenced the development of 
Live , Work and Invest online 
brochure for Berrigan Shire 

 

  

57



4.2 Strengthen and diversify the local economy 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Partner with government 
and industry to renew 
and promote the 
development of the 
Shire's economic assets 

4.2.1.1 Continue implementation 
Berrigan Shire Economic 
Development Plan 

 
Complete 

 

Partner with government 
and industry to renew 
and promote the 
development of the 
Shire's economic assets 

4.2.1.2 Develop and implement 
action plan to promote 
business opportunities, 
location advantages and 
competiveness of Tocumwal 
Aerodrome and its industrial 
precinct 

 
Complete 

Social Media platform for the 
Airpark continues to promote 
the opportunities and keep 
interest alive in the new land 
release 

Partner with government 
and industry to renew 
and promote the 
development of the 
Shire's economic assets 

4.2.1.3 Lobby NSW Parks for 
investment in the 
enhancement of facilities and 
signage in and around 
National and Regional Parks 

 
Complete 

 

Support local enterprise 
through economic 
development initiatives 

4.2.2.1 Investigate the opportunity to 
hold a business event along 
the lines of a TEDx event 

 
Deferred 

Trying to get interest in this 
project form Business 
Chambers 

Engage local business 
through regular meetings, 
electronic newsletter, and 
Council bulletin and 
media publications 

4.2.3.2 Facilitate the effective 
operation of Chambers of 
Commerce, Tourism 
Associations and other 
business groups through the 
development and 
implementation of business 
plans  

Complete 

Business planning for the joint 
chambers group and 
Tocumwal Chamber has been 
completed. 
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DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Engage local business 
through regular meetings, 
electronic newsletter, and 
Council bulletin and 
media publications 

4.2.3.2 Facilitate the operation of 
vibrant business support 
groups within the Shire 

 
Complete 

Bi-monthly Chamber 
presidents meeting facilitated 

Engage local business 
through regular meetings, 
electronic newsletter, and 
Council bulletin and 
media publications 

4.2.3.3 Host Business and 
Environment Awards during 
business week 

 
Complete 

Planning commenced and 
report written for January 
Council meeting to adopt new 
sections in line with the NSW 
Business Chamber Award 
categories. 
External judges to be use in 
the 2016 awards 

Engage local business 
through regular meetings, 
electronic newsletter, and 
Council bulletin and 
media publications 

4.2.3.4 Host Murray Darling Basin 
Association Annual 
Conference 

 
Complete 
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4.3 Diversify and promote local tourism 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Implement the Berrigan 
Shire Visitor Events Plan 

4.3.1.1 Review the current Events 
Strategy (Action from the 
Tourism Strategy) 

 
Complete 

Changes to the event funding 
program have been finalised 
and published to inform the 
community. 

Implement the Berrigan 
Shire Visitor Events Plan 

4.3.1.2 Provide support to event 
proponents and organisers.  

Complete 

Assistance provided to the 
Health and Well Being expo to 
develop their promotion 
campaign that was funded by 
Council. 

Implement the Berrigan 
Shire Visitor Events Plan 

4.3.1.3 Facilitate use of Tocumwal 
Aerodrome for aviation and 
other events 

 
On target 

Aerodrome operating in 
accordance with CASA 
requirements and used for 
events where appropriate 

Partner regional Tourism 
Boards 

4.3.2.1 Maintain membership and 
benefit of regional tourism 
boards to increase local 
visitation and economic 
activity 

 
Complete 

Attended MRTB Tourism 
Manages forum and have 
attempted to attend Newell 
Highway promotions 
committee meeting that has 
been postponed twice. 

Partner regional Tourism 
Boards 

4.3.2.2 Implement the Berrigan Shire 
Tourism Strategy and Action 
Plan 2014 - 2018 

 
Complete 

 

Partner regional Tourism 
Boards 

4.3.2.3 Encourage and support local 
tourism body / operator 
activities which, foster and 
promote increased local 
tourism industry growth and 
development 

 
Complete 

Working with the Golf Clubs to 
encourage new tournaments 
into the region through Golf 
NSW 
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4.4 Connect local, regional and national road, rail and aviation infrastructure 

DP Strategic Objective Action Code OP Action Status Comments 

Develop and promote 
Berrigan Shire regional 
transport and freight 
infrastructure 

4.4.1.1 Continue development of the 
Tocumwal Intermodal 
precinct 

 
Complete 

Attended the Murray RDA 
logistics forum 

Develop and promote 
Berrigan Shire regional 
transport and freight 
infrastructure 

4.4.1.2 Lobby for upgrade of rail 
facilities, associated with 
Tocumwal rail line incl. line to 
Shepparton and Melbourne 
Ports 

 
Complete 

 

Develop and promote 
Berrigan Shire regional 
transport and freight 
infrastructure 

4.4.1.3 Participate actively in efforts 
to upgrade Newell Highway 
and Midland Murray Valley 
highways particularly the 
Shepparton bypass 

 
Complete 

Continue to work with RMS on 
Major Rest stop proposal for 
Tocumwal 

Develop and promote 
Berrigan Shire regional 
transport and freight 
infrastructure 

4.4.1.4 Operate the Tocumwal 
Aerodrome  

On target 

Aerodrome operating in 
accordance with CASA 
requirements 

 

 

Diverse and resilient business 

Operational Plan 2015/16 progress report  

Completed On target Not on 
target Past Due Deferred / 

Not due to start 
 Total 

      

18 2 0 0 1 21 
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STATUTORY 

REQUIREMENTS 

  

 

Council’s Annual Report is 
one of the key points of its 
accountability between 
Council and its community. 

It is not a report to 
Government but a report to 
the community. 

And while, this Report 
focuses on the 
implementation by Council 
of its Delivery Program and 
Operational Plan 2015/16 
the information in the 
following section includes 
information that is 
prescribed by the Local 
Government (General) 
Regulation 2005.   

This information is included 
in the regulations that 
govern Local Government in 
New South Wales because 
the Government believes 
that it is important for 
communities to build their 
understanding of how 
Council is performing.  
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SUMMARY ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16  
Reviews carried out by Council  0 

Information made publicly available  0 

Total Number of applications received 0 

Number of Applications Refused Wholly  0 

Other Public Interest considerations against disclosure – Individual rights, judicial 
processes and natural justice 

0 

Number of Applications Refused Partly  0 

Timeliness – Decided within the statutory timeframe (20 days plus extensions) 0 

Invalid Applications  1 

 

Table A: Number of applications by type of applicant and outcome* 

 Access 
granted 

in full 

Access 
granted 
in part 

Access 
refused 

in full 

Information 
not held 

Information 
already 

available 

Refuse to 
deal with 

application 

Refuse to 
confirm/deny 

whether 
information is 

held 

Application 
withdrawn 

Media 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Members of 
Parliament 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Private sector 
business 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Not for profit 
organizations or 
community 

 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of the 
public 
(application by 
legal 
representative) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Members of the 
public (other) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*More than one decision can be made in respect of a particular access application. If so, a 
recording must be made in relation to each such decision. This also applies to Table B. 
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Table B: Number of applications by type of application and outcome 

 Access 
granted in 

full 

Access 
granted 
in part 

Access 
refused 

in full 

Information 
not held 

Information 
already 

available 

Refuse to 
deal with 

application 

Refuse to 
confirm/deny 

whether 
information is 

held 

Application 
withdrawn 

Personal 
information 
applications* 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Access 
applications 
(other than 
personal 
information 

 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Access 
applications 
that are partly 
personal 
information 
applications and 
partly other 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

*A personal information application is an access application for personal information (as defined in 
clause 4 of Schedule 4 to the Act) about the applicant (the applicant being an individual). 
 
 

Table C: Invalid Applications 
Reason for Invalidity No. of Applications % of Total 
Application does not comply with formal requirements (Section 
41 of the Act 

1 100% 

Application is for excluded information of the agency (Section 
43 of the Act) 

0 0 

Applications contravenes restraint order (Section 110 of the 
Act) 

0 0 

Total number of invalid applications received 1 100% 
Invalid applications that subsequently became valid 
applications 

0 0 

Reporting Requirement Reference: Government Information (Public Access) Act 2009 s 125 (1) 
Government Information (Public Access) Regulation 2009 cl 7 Schedule 2 
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Privacy and 

Personal 

Information 

Protection Act 

1998  

&  

Carers 

Recognition 

Act 2010  

  

Privacy and Personal Information Protection 
Act 1988 
 
The collection, use, storage and disclosure of 
personal information is governed by the Privacy 
and Personal Information Protection Act 1998 
(PPIPA). The collection of personal information 
from Councillors, employees, volunteers, 
contractors, ratepayers and member of the 
public is needed for the effective delivery or a 
range of Council services. 
 
Further information regarding PPIPA can be 
found on the Information and Privacy 
Commission Website. 
 
 

Carers Recognition Act 2010 
The Carers Recognition Act 2010 requires that 
Council as a funded Human Services Agency 
develop and implement a Carers Recognition 
Policy.  

Council’s Early Intervention Services have 
policies and deliver services that support, value 
and recognize the importance of carers in our 
communities. 

Reporting Requirement: Carers Recognition Act s8 (2)  
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July 2015 – June 2016 

Number of public officials who made PIDs 0 

Number of PIDs received 0 

Of PIDs received, number primarily about:  

Corrupt conduct 0 

Maladministration 0 

Serious and substantial waste 0 

Government information 
contravention 

0 

Local government pecuniary interest 
contravention 

0 

Number of PIDs finalised 0 

Note: The number of PIDs finalised only refers to PIDs that have been received since 1 July 2015. 

 

Additional Information  
The Council adopted its Internal Reporting Policy in September 2013 which is 

the policy that deals with public interest disclosures. The policy is due for review in 

August 2016. 

All staff received the policy at its adoption with pay slips.  Copies of the policy are 

also available in common areas and on the Council intranet.   Similarly, new 

employees review the policy as a part of their induction. 

 

 

 Pu
bl

ic
 In

te
re

st
 &

 D
is

cl
os

ur
es

 A
ct

 1
99

4 

67



  

  

Mayor and Councillor Fees 

Councillor $ Amount Mayor Car Hire (Deduction) 

B. Curtin 10,965 $23,931.70 $(2,820) 

B. Hill 10,965   

J. Bruce 10,965   

M. Hannan 10,965   

C. Jones 10,965   

A. O'Neill 10,965   

D. Morris 10,965   

D. Glanville 10,965   

Total $87,720 $23,931.70  

C
ouncillor and M

ayor Expenses 
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Councillor Facilities and Expenses 2015 – 2016 

FACILITIES $ 

Office Equipment  754.06 

Telephone  1466.58 

Meals & Refreshments at meetings convened by Council 3,405.81 

Council Vehicles  19,512.02 

FACILITIES TOTAL  $25,138.47 

EXPENSES  

Telephone - Calls  - 

Conferences & Seminars  5,435.23 

Training  1,085.71 

Interstate Travel  - 

Overseas Travel  - 

Spouse/partner/accompanying person expenses - 

Carer or other related expenses  - 

Legal expenses  - 

Subscriptions  1,761.36 

Insurance  5,028.25 

Local Travel  19,174.59 

Travel outside the LGA  6,535.86 

Miscellaneous  5,275.86 

EXPENSES TOTAL  $44,296.86 

TOTAL FACILITIES AND EXPENSES $69,435.33 
Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217(1) (a) (a1)  
* The contracts for Councillors mobile phones include a call allowance.  No Councillor exceeds 

this allowance 
** Given the Council’s location on the Victorian border, the Council’s Policy on the provision of 

facilities and payment of expenses for Councillors excludes trips to Victoria and the ACT from 
the definition of interstate. 
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Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217(1)(b) – (c) 
 

Senior Staff Remuneration 

Number of senior staff 1 

Package Component $ 

Salary 153,259.62 

Bonus or other payments (non-salary) - 

Superannuation  (salary sacrifice and employer 
contribution) 

35,000 

Value non-cash benefits 2,458 

Fringe benefits tax payable for no-cash benefits 1,760 

Total Value of Contract $192,477.62 

Senior Staff R
em

uneration  
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Equal Employment 

Opportunity  
 

 

  

In April, 2014, Council reviewed its Equal 
Employment Opportunity requirements under 
the Local Government Act 1993, Ch. 11, Part 4, 
and implemented changes that included: 

• Separation and development of the 
Discrimination, Workplace Bullying 
and Harassment Policy, and the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Policy; 

• Development of the Equal 
Employment Opportunity 
Management Plan. 

The Equal Employment Opportunity Policy 
outlines Council’s commitment to EEO 
practices, and responsibilities for ensuring our 
workplace is fair and free from discrimination. 

The Equal Employment Management Plan 
(EEO Plan) has been designed to work in with 
the Berrigan Shire Council Workforce 
Development Plan, incorporating the 
provisions as outlined in the Local Government 
Act 1993, and states Council’s objectives for 
achieving compliance and eliminating 
discrimination in the workplace.   

The EEO Plan is a dynamic document outlining 
actions for Council which include: 

• Ongoing policy review 
• Distribution of information and 

awareness sessions relating to equal 
employment opportunity 

• Ongoing position description review 
• Succession planning, training 

opportunities and career progression 
for EEO target groups 

• Collection of relevant EEO information 

Reporting Requirement Local Government 
(General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  
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Committees of Management exercising functions delegated by Council 
Australia Day Committee 
Barooga Advancement Group 
Barooga Community Botanical Gardens Committee 
Barooga Recreation Reserve 
Berrigan Conservation & Tidy Town 
Berrigan Shire Heritage Committee 
Berrigan Shire Youth Development Committee 
Berrigan Sportsground Committee 
Berrigan War Memorial Hall 
Berrigan War Memorial Swimming Pool 
Boomanoomana Landcare Committee 
Finley Community Help Group 
Finley Recreation Reserve Committee of Management 
Finley Showground Sporting Complex Committee 
Finley War Memorial Hall & School of Arts 
Finley War Memorial Swimming Pool 
Fullers Road Landcare 
Mary Lawson Memorial Wayside Rest Committee 
Native Dog Landcare Group 
Retreat Public Hall 
Tocumwal Foreshore 
Tocumwal Friends of the Library Group 
Tocumwal Historic Aerodrome Museum 
Tocumwal Rail Preservation Committee 
Tocumwal Recreation Reserve Committee 
Tocumwal Swimming Pool Committee 
Tocumwal War Memorial Hall 

Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (a6) 



 

Partnerships, Co-
operatives or Other Joint 

Ventures 

Role Purpose 

StateCover Mutual Member General mutual-insurance pool 
Statewide Mutual  Member Workers compensation mutual-insurance 

pool 
Riverina and Murray Regional 
Organisation of Councils (RAMROC) 

Organisation 
Member 

Local Government Service Coordination 
and regional advocacy 

Local Government NSW  Organisation 
Member 

Local Government Sector Peak Body: high 
level intergovernmental advocacy, 
procurement and strategic support 

Central Murray County Council  Constituted 
Member 

Control of noxious weeds Berrigan, 
Conargo, Deniliquin and Murray Shires 

Murray Regional Tourism Board Member Regional tourism promotion and 
development  

South West Arts Member Promotion and development of the Arts 
Local Government Superannuation 
Scheme (LG Super) 

Participating 
Employer 

Complying superannuation scheme  

Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (a8)  

 

Summary Resolutions Section 67 – Works carried out on Private Land 
 

Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (a4) 

Nil 

Statement of all corporations, partnerships, trusts, joint ventures, syndicates or other 
bodies in which council held a controlling interest 

 
Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (a7) 

Nil 
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Section 356 Grants / Contributions 
Organisation Purpose $ 
Outstanding student awards As per Council Policy 400 

Berrigan Tennis Club  Donation – Rates & Charges 2,055 

Barooga Sports Club  Donation – Rates & Charges – Fitness Centre 6,138 

Cemetery Honorariums  Cemetery Honorarium 18,120 

Events Funding Program As per Events Policy 19,930 

Lions Club Tocumwal  Skate Park Maintenance 1,000 

Local Heritage Incentive Fund As per Council Policy 4,798 

KidsFest Program Honorarium Community Volunteers 400 

NSW Rural Doctors Network Bush Bursary 3,300 

Charles Sturt University Accommodation Sponsorship 5,500 

Outback Theatre for Young People Breaking Down Barriers Festival 2,500 

Grants for children under 18 selected in 
state or national sporting events 

As per policy - $100 per attendee 1,500 

Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217(1) (a5) 
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This summary includes the amount, costs and expenses paid or received by way of out 

of Court settlements, other than those the terms of which are not to be disclosed in addition 

to a summary of the status of each legal proceeding  and the result (if finalized)  for the 12-

monthly period 1 July 2015 to 30 June 2016.  The Council was not party to any legal 

proceedings during 2015/16. 

Legal Proceedings 
Details of Legal 
Proceedings 

Amount 
Incurred 

Amount 
Recovered 

State of 
Progress 

Result 

NIL - - - NA 
Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1) (a3) 

The follow table is a summary of routine legal action taken for the collections of outstanding 
debt. 

Debt Recovery (Outstanding Rates and Charges) 
 Number $  Cost 

Summons 22 $13,156.00 

Other Legal Action  63 $45,015.20 

Total 63 $58,171.20 
Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (a3) 

Rates and Charges Written Off     $ 
Ordinary/General Rates / Interest 340.56 

Annual Water Charges / Interest 178.19 

Water Consumption Charges / Interest 1,156.33 

Annual Sewer / Pedestal Charges / Interest 205.76 

Garbage / Domestic Waste Charges / Interest 157.75 

Stormwater / Drainage Charges / Interest 210-.19 

Interest / Legal & Other Charges  562.25 

Total  $2,811.03 
Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 132 
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 NUMBER 

Total Dogs Seized 68 

Dogs returned to owner 12 

Dogs impounded 56 

Dogs released 21 

Dogs Sold 3 

Dogs Released to organisations to rehome 0 

Dogs Euthanized – Unable to rehome 32 

Cats impounded 5 

Cats returned to owner 0 

Cats euthanized – Unable to rehome 5 

Penalty Infringement Notices Issued – COMP. ANIMALS 26 

Penalty Infringement Notices Issued – LIVESTOCK 10 

Reportable Dog Attacks  3 

Dangerous Dog Declarations  1 

Off-Leash Areas in the Shire:  2 

OTHER ANIMAL MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES   

Community Education Programs as required Council Bulletin Info on Council 
Social Media & 

Web 

De-sexed animals attract a reduced registration fee Yes 

EXPENSES 2015/16 $ 

Companion Animal and Livestock Impounding – Staff Salaries 78,326 

Companion Animal and Livestock Impounding – Vehicle operating costs 18,402 

Companion Animal and Livestock Impounding – Telephone expenses 160 

Dog Food Expenses 727 

Government Registrations and levies 5,198 

Other Operating Expenses 3,408 

Capital Works Improvements to Pound Facility NIL 

REVENUE 2014/15  

Companion Animal Registration Fee Reimbursement 10,780 

Penalty Notices – Fines Received 11,600 
Reporting Requirement Clause 217(1) (f) of the NSW Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 

Anim
al C

ontrol 
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STATE OF 

OUR 

ASSETS 
  

Council’s Asset Management Strategy 2013 
– 2023 assists Council monitor the delivery 
of services from Council infrastructure 
including: 
 roads, bridges, footpaths, stormwater 
drainage, and flood protection levees; 
corporate and council community service 
facilities - parks , reserves, pools, libraries, 
halls and other council buildings; 
commercial facilities – caravan parks, sale 
yards, quarries and aerodrome; waste 
management, sewerage , water 
distribution and supply.  
 
Council assets also include plant and 
Council business operations technology 
and systems.  
 
As at 30 June 2016 Council’s infrastructure 
assets have a replacement value $ 314,873. 
 
We use the Asset Management Strategy to 
show:  
 

• How its asset portfolio will meet the 
service delivery needs of its 
community into the future,  

• What Council’s asset management 
policies are to be achieved, and to  

• Ensure the integration of Council’s 
asset management with Berrigan 
Shire 2023 our communities’ and 
Council’s long term strategic plan 

 
Each year Council in its Annual Report 
provides a snapshot of its capital works 
program, the assessed value and condition 
of Council assets and contracts awarded by 
Council to build, maintain or plan new 
assets 
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Contracts – includes Contracts over $150,000 

Name and address of 
Contractor Contract description 

Tendered 
amount 

(including GST) 
RSD Chartered Accountants Provide Audit Services to Council 

period ending 30 June 2016. 
Ref: T03/13/14 

$22,000 p.a 

Stabilco Pty Ltd Insitu Pavement Stabilisation for 3 
years ending 30th June 2017 
T03/14/15 

Schedule of Rates 

Geelong Abrasive Blasting Pty Ltd Repainting of Interior/Exterior of 
Barooga Raw Water Reservoir 

$191,535 

Muzzaslash Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 1 

Schedule of Rates 

Foxy’s Backhoe Service Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 2 

Schedule of Rates 

Luxton Plant Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 3 

Schedule of Rates 

Pascoe Grading & Earthmoving 
Contractors Pty Ltd 

Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 4 

Schedule of Rates 

Andrew Goldman Excavations Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 5 

Schedule of Rates 

O’Loughlin Excavations Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 6 

Schedule of Rates 

Judd & Sons Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 7 

Schedule of Rates 

Stabilised Pavements of Australia Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 8 
 
 

Schedule of Rates 
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Contracts – includes Contracts over $150,000 

Name and address of 
Contractor Contract description 

Tendered 
amount 

(including GST) 
Rollers Australia Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 

2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 9 

Schedule of Rates 

RSP Environmental Services Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 10 

Schedule of Rates 

Stabilco Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 11 

Schedule of Rates 

William Adams Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 12 

Schedule of Rates 

Porter Plant Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 13 

Schedule of Rates 

Sherrin Rentals Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 14 

Schedule of Rates 

THE Mining Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 15 

Schedule of Rates 

Stephen Haynes Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 16 

Schedule of Rates 

Universal Mobile Tower Hire Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 17 

Schedule of Rates 

Miller Pipe & Civil Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 18 

Schedule of Rates 

RobEX Civil Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 19 
 

Schedule of Rates 

81



Contracts – includes Contracts over $150,000 

Name and address of 
Contractor Contract description 

Tendered 
amount 

(including GST) 
Riverina Earthworks Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 

2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 20 

Schedule of Rates 

S & A Crawford Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 21 

Schedule of Rates 

Coates Hire Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 22 

Schedule of Rates 

Earth Plant Hire Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 23 

Schedule of Rates 

SE & ST Little Pty Ltd Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 24 

Schedule of Rates 

Gordon Yelland Earthmoving Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 25 

Schedule of Rates 

JG & VE Muirhead Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 26 

Schedule of Rates 

Peter McPherson Compaction Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 27 

Schedule of Rates 

Berrigan Water Cartage Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 - 28 

Schedule of Rates 

R M Wood Contract Cartage Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 29 
 

Schedule of Rates 

John Nolen Annual Plant Hire Rates for 
2015/16 Year 
T01/15/16 – 30 

Schedule of Rates 
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Contracts – includes Contracts over $150,000 

Name and address of 
Contractor Contract description 

Tendered 
amount 

(including GST) 
E.B Mawson & Sons Pty Ltd Supply of Quarry Products for 

2015/16 Year 
T02/15/16 - 1 

Schedule of Rates 

Lawrence Brothers Supply of Quarry Products for 
2015/16 Year 
T02/15/16 – 2 

Schedule of Rates 

Andrew Goldman Excavations Supply of Quarry Products for 
2015/16 Year 
T02/15/16 - 3 

Schedule of Rates 

Burgess Earthmoving Pty Ltd Supply of Quarry Products for 
2015/16 Year 
T02/15/16 - 4 

Schedule of Rates 

Auselec Supply of Electrical Services for 
2015/16 Year 
T03/15/16 - 1 

Schedule of Rates 

Pace Electrics Supply of Electrical Services for 
2015/16 Year 
T03/15/16 - 2 

Schedule of Rates 

PA & JL Scott Pty Ltd Supply of Electrical Services for 
2015/16 Year 
T03/15/16 - 3 

Schedule of Rates 

PBS Power Services Supply of Electrical Services for 
2015/16 Year 
T03/15/16 - 4 

Schedule of Rates 

Cobram Electrical & Data Supply of Electrical Services for 
2015/16 Year 
T03/15/16 – 5 

Schedule of Rates 

Murray Valley Locating & Electrical Supply of Electrical Services for 
2015/16 Year 
T03/15/16 - 6 

Schedule of Rates 

Lawrence Brothers Supply of Road Base Material for 
Silo Road Construction 
T05/15/16 -1 
 

Schedule of Rates 
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Contracts – includes Contracts over $150,000 

Name and address of 
Contractor Contract description 

Tendered 
amount 

(including GST) 
Andrew Goldman Excavations Supply of Road Base Material for 

Silo Road Construction 
T05/15/16 -2 
 

Schedule of Rates 

VFG Skateparks Design and Construction of 
Tocumwal Skate Park 
Redevelopment  
T04/15/16 

$150,000 

Almagro Pty Ltd Drainage Construction Finley 
T06/15/16 
 

$407,927.61 

Andrew Goldman Excavations Design and Construction of 
Extensions to Culverts and 
Concrete Causeway at Causeway 
at Dead Dog Crossing 
T07/15/16 

$278,146.00 

Fenhill Pty Ltd Berrigan South East Town 
Drainage Construction 
T08/15/16 

$156,077.52 

 

Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (a2)  
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Council in the past year has continued its commitment to maintain our road and 
footpath network to a high standard  

 

Value of Road Works Completed                          $ 
Urban Roads Unsealed 40,517 
Urban Roads Sealed 638,001 
Rural Sealed (Maintenance) 317,599 
Rural Unsealed (Maintenance) 502,321 
Rural Unsealed (Maintenance) Re-sheet 248,248 
Fire Breaks Rural Unsealed 11,526 
Kerb & Gutter Repairs 180,944 
New Kerb & Gutter 155,516 
Footpath Maintenance 18,036 
New Footpath 36,597 
Total  2,149,305 
 

Urban Roads 
Unsealed 

2% 

Urban Roads 
Sealed 

30% 

Rural Sealed 
(Maintenance) 

15% 
Rural Unsealed 
(Maintenance) 

23% 

Rural Unsealed 
(Maintenance) Re-

sheet 
12% 

Fire Breaks Rural 
Unsealed 

0% 

Kerb & Gutter 
Repairs 

8% 

New Kerb & 
Gutter 

7% 

Footpath 
Maintenance 

1% 
New Footpath 

2% 

How the  Road Works Budget is spent?   

R
oad W

orks Program
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There were no major capital items completed in the 15/16 financial year although 

there were a number of significant smaller asset renewal projects as follows: 

Water Services Asset Renewals $ 
  

Repaint/reline Barooga Water Tower 188,408 

Installation of solar Panels at Berrigan, Finley and 
Tocumwal Water Treatment Facilities 

106,691 

Terracing at Barooga Water Treatment Plant 34,491 

Value of Water Asset Renewal Works 329,590 
 

Sewer Services Asset Renewal Projects $ 
  

Tocumwal Sewer Treatment Plant Upgrade 32,399 

Finely Sewer Treatment Plant Upgrade 26,995 

Value of Sewer Asset Renewal Works 59,394 
 
 

Council operates two business units – its water supply service and its sewer 

service. Each service is required to raise sufficient funds from its own activities to 

fund its operations. 

The water supply service has increased its operating surplus with the $762,000 

2015/16 result due to continued increase in water consumption revenue and 

temporary transfer of high security water. 

Council’s sewer service is returning an operating surplus of $267,000 its fourth 

surplus after five years of operating at a deficit
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Stormwater Management Plan – Statement of 

Works 2015 – 2016 

Council took out a $1.63 million (LIRS) Local Infrastructure Scheme Loan in 2014/15 

to accelerate its Storm Water Capital Works Program. 

Major Stormwater Works Completed $ 

Murray Street, Finley 262,293 

Flynn Street area, Berrigan (LIRS Project)  102,255 

William Street Cross Connection, Finley 206,766 

George and Dean Street, Tocumwal (Pumpstation) 318,368 

Lane 961, Tocumwal 12,566 

Value of Works undertaken 902,248 
Reporting Requirement Local Government (General) Regulation 2005 cl 217 (1)  (e) 

This acceleration recognised that increased protection is needed post the 2012 

Floods and that capital investment(using borrowings) in our storm water 

infrastructure is warranted 
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FINANCIAL 

MANAGEMENT 

 

 

After Capital Grants and Contributions 

the Berrigan Shire Council generated a 

small surplus for the 2015/16 financial 

year.    

 

This report provides a brief overview of 

Council’s revenue and expenditure.  

More detailed information is included 

in council’s audited financial 

statements which are the final part of 

this report 
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 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Revenue $19.5 m $19.0 m $18.9 m $20.5 m 23.9 m 

Expenditure $17.6 m $18.8 m $18.7 m $18.0 m 18.0 m0 

Surplus $1.9 m $0.2 m 0.2m $2.5 m $ 5.9 m 

Surplus 
before 

Capital grants 

& 
contributions 

 

 

$1.4 m 

 

 

$(0.4)m 

 

 

$(1.5)m 

 

 

$1.5 m 

 

 

3.3 m 

 

Financial Performance 
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Revenue - Where did the money come from? 
Ordinary rates provide 22% of the Council’s revenue, with the total of all 
rates and charges contributing to 43% of total consolidated revenues.  
The balance is made up of user charges, government grants, interest 
and developer contributions.  After council rates and charges (43%) 
operating grants and contributions (34%) are the next most important 
source of revenue. 
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Expenses – How was the money spent? 
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Balance Sheet 
Council’s balance sheet 
describes what it owns and owes 
to relevant stakeholders which, 
when taken together determines 
the net wealth of the community. 
The increase in the Council’s net 

asset (equity) position is due to 
Council’s operating surplus ($5.9 
m) less the revaluation of pre-
existing assets ($-1.6m). Most of 
the Council’s assets are roads 
and associated infrastructure.  

 

 2011/12 2011/13 2013/14 2014/15* 2015/16 

Assets $200.8 m $204.0 m $205.0m $237.2 m 241.2 

Less 
Liability 

$4.1 m $4.1 m $4.1 m $6.1 m 5.5 m 

Equity $196.7 m $199.9 m $200.9 m $231.1 m 235.7 m 
* To account for revaluation of assets 2014/15 restated from previous report 

Assets & Liabilities 

ASSET % 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant and Equipment 89% 
Investments  8% 
Cash and Cash equivalents 2% 
Receivables 0.5% 
Inventories 0.2% 
Other  0% 
 

Cash assets include the Council’s bank deposits, term deposits, 
managed funds and other cash holdings held for future use.  
Receivables are the funds owed to the Council by other parties, 
including ratepayers, government departments and other organisations.  
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Inventories include the goods held by the Council for use in its 
operations such as gravel, pipes and the like as well as developed land 
held for sale. 

LIABILITIES  % 
Provisions  55% 
Payables 17% 
Borrowings 28% 

 
Provisions cover the amounts put aside by the Council for future 
commitments such as employee entitlements (annual leave, etc.) and 
remediation of the Council’s tips and quarries. 
Payables are amounts that the Council owes other parties and including 
government departments and suppliers. It also accounts for rates and 
charges paid in advance 
Borrowings include those amounts borrowed by the Council to fund 
investments in community assets.  

Council’s Liquidity, Cash and Investments 
Council’s unrestricted current ratio examines the value between short-

term assets and liabilities.  A 1-1 or better ratio tells us that Council has 

sufficient funds to meet its commitments and maintain cash flow.   This 

means Council has the ability to pay its debts when they are due. 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Liquidity Ratio 4.19       3.45 4.04 4.19 7.05 

Cash & 
Investment 
Balances 

$17.3m $17.8 m $16.3 m $21.3 m $23.7 m 
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Council’s Debt Strategy 
Council actively manages its level of debt and limits the use of loan 

funds.  Council borrows funds when it sees a financial return on the 

asset e.g.: water supply, sewerage and property development. The 

following table describes Council’s ongoing commitment to its debt 

strategy and the continuation of its capital works program and 

associated expenditure.  

Council took out loan in 2014/15 - $1.62m to fund essential stormwater 

drainage works currently being completed in Berrigan, Finley and 

Tocumwal.  

 

The interest on this loan is part subsidised by the NSW Government 

under the Local Infrastructure Renewal Scheme (LIRS). 

The Berrigan Shire Council has one other outstanding external loan - $1 

million for the reservoir at Finley Water Treatment Plant.  It is due to be 

repaid in full by the end of the 2016/17 financial year. 

 

 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 
Debt ($ mil)  0.6 0.4 0.4 $1.8 $1.8 
Capital Expenditure ($ mil) 5.241 5.452 6.8 $7.3 $7.4 
Debt per Capita $  64.83 55.78 42.32 215.53 $184.17 
% of Assets funded by Debt 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.8% 0.7% 
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Water and Sewer Funds 
Council operates two business units – its water supply service and its 
sewer service. Each service is required to raise sufficient funds from its 
own activities to fund its operations. 
 
The water supply service has increased its operating surplus with the 
($762,000) 2015/16 result due to continued increase in water 
consumption revenue.  While Council’s sewer service returned an 
operating surplus of $267,000. 
 

Water and Sewer Services Operating Surplus / Deficit 
 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Water operating surplus $171 $588 $635 $816 $762
Sewer operating deficit -$342 -$478 $171 $34 $267
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Berrigan Shire Council

General Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Contents

1. Statement by Councillors and Management

2. Primary Financial Statements:

– Income Statement
– Statement of Comprehensive Income
– Statement of Financial Position
– Statement of Changes in Equity
– Statement of Cash Flows

3. Notes to the Financial Statements

4. Independent Auditor’s Reports:

 – On the Financial Statements (Sect 417 [2])
 – On the Conduct of the Audit (Sect 417 [3])

Overview

(i) These financial statements are General Purpose Financial Statements and cover the operations for
Berrigan Shire Council.

(ii) Berrigan Shire Council is a body politic of NSW, Australia – being constituted as a local government area
by proclamation and is duly empowered by the Local Government Act 1993  (LGA).

Council’s Statutory Charter is detailed in Paragraph 8 of the LGA and includes giving Council;

the ability to provide goods, services and facilities, and to carry out activities appropriate to the current and future
needs of the local community and of the wider public,

the responsibility for administering regulatory requirements under the LGA and

a role in the management, improvement and development of the resources in the area.

A description of the nature of Council’s operations and its principal activities are provided in Note 2(b).

(iii) All figures presented in these financial statements are presented in Australian currency.

(iv) These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Council on 12 October 2016.
Council has the power to amend and reissue these financial statements.
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This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. page 3

Berrigan Shire Council

Income Statement
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Revenue:
Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Interest and investment revenue
Other revenues
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes
Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Other income:
Net gains from the disposal of assets
Net share of interests in joint ventures and
associates using the equity method

Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Other expenses
Net losses from the disposal of assets

Total expenses from continuing operations

Operating result from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations

Net operating result for the year

Net operating result attributable to Council
Net operating result attributable to non-controlling interests

Net operating result for the year before grants and
contributions provided for capital purposes

Original budget as approved by Council – refer Note 16

–                   

–                     
2,490              

2,490        

1,502              

–                     

Actual 
2015

Actual 

8,826            

666               
734               

2,490            

17,956          

–                   –                   

2,214            

2,586            988               

129               

20,811       

7,166         

5,422         
–                

2,008         

1,004           

23,887          

2,860            
5,741            

5,882        

20,446          

5

4a 7,188            

–                   
1,941            

18,005          

5,882            

4d
2,003            

7,295            

–                   
5,758            

–                   

3,031            

4e
–                   

4c
87                 

–                   

5,882              

9                

4,107           

4,107      

–                  

24–                

16,704       

4,107         

3,296              

Budget 1

3e,f

4d

5

4b

7,993            

9,201            9,068         

Notes

3a

3d
3c

2016

438            

2016

198               

1,392         

513            

3b 2,367            
722               
820               

6,889            3e,f

–                

–                

76              
2,023         

6,297         
3,103         

19

57                 

1
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This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. page 4

Berrigan Shire Council

Statement of Comprehensive Income
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Net operating result for the year (as per Income Statement)

Other comprehensive income:

Amounts which will not be reclassified subsequently to the operating result

Gain (loss) on revaluation of I,PP&E
Impairment (loss) reversal relating to I,PP&E
Total items which will not be reclassified subsequently
to the operating result

Amounts which will be reclassified subsequently to the operating result
when specific conditions are met
Nil

Total other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to Council
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests

31,334      

31,334          

Actual 
2015

29,254          

2,490          

(410)              410               

(1,215)           28,844          

20b (ii) (1,625)           

Notes
Actual 

5,882          

20b (ii)

–                   
4,667            

28,844        

–                   

(1,215)        

4,667        

2016
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This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. page 5

Berrigan Shire Council

Statement of Financial Position
 as at 30 June 2016

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as ‘held for sale’
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Net assets

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Council equity interest
Non-controlling equity interests

Total equity

–                   

213,787        

8

–                   

–                   

–                   

235,748    

10

10

2,641            

231,081        

231,081    

136,439        

1,551            
17                 

22

5,474          

–                   

–                   

185               257               

214,146        

–                   

1,297            

10

–                   
–                   

9

10
929               

215,987        

–                   

215,802        

23,057          

–                   

253               
1,485            

303               

4,691            

261               
2,505            

28                 

102               

3,823            

–                   

100,527        

1,651            1,871            

6,122          

4,251            

354               

94,642          

331               

19,630          
1,377            

10

235,748        

235,748    
–                   

231,081    
–                   

20
135,221        20

6a
6b

10

7

25

6b

8

Notes

7

14
19

8

25,235          

2016

223               
27                 

16,630          
1,230            

4,125            

237,203      

2015
Actual Actual 

241,222      
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This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. page 6

Berrigan Shire Council

Statement of Changes in Equity
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Opening balance (as per last year’s audited accounts)

a. Correction of prior period errors
b. Changes in accounting policies (prior year effects)

Revised opening balance (as at 1/7/15)

c. Net operating result for the year

d. Other comprehensive income
 – Revaluations: IPP&E asset revaluation rsve
 – Revaluations: other reserves
 – Transfers to Income Statement
 – Impairment (loss) reversal relating to I,PP&E
 – Other reserves movements
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income (c&d)

e. Distributions to/(contributions from) non-controlling Interests

f. Transfers between equity

Equity – balance at end of the reporting period

$ ’000

Opening balance (as per last year’s audited accounts)

a. Correction of prior period errors
b. Changes in accounting policies (prior year effects)

Revised opening balance (as at 1/7/14)

c. Net operating result for the year

d. Other comprehensive income
 – Revaluations: IPP&E asset revaluation rsve
 – Revaluations: other reserves
 – Transfers to Income Statement
 – Impairment (loss) reversal relating to I,PP&E
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income (c&d)

e. Distributions to/(contributions from) non-controlling Interests

f. Transfers between equity

Equity – balance at end of the reporting period

28,844      

–               29,254      29,254      

Total
interest

–               

28,844      

–               –               –               

–               
–               

(410)          (410)          (410)          
–               

–               

–               

28,844      
–               

–               
–               

235,748    

–               
–               

4,667          

–               

–               

(1,144)       
–               

5,882        

232,225    

231,081    

–               

Non-

4,667          

410           

(1,144)       –               (1,144)       

136,439    

–               

–               

controlling

231,081    

232,225    

–               
–               

Council
interest

–               

equity

Non-

(1,625)       

–               

–               

–               

(1,215)       
–               
–               

–               
–               

(1,625)       

–               

–               

–               

–               

20b (ii)

5,882        

20 (c)

20 (d)

–               

–               

–               

5,882        

–               
–               

94,642      

20b (ii) –               

–               

Retained
earningsNotes

–               
–               

20b (ii)

20b (ii) –               

94,642      

(1,625)       

20b (ii)

–               

–               

–               
–               –               

(1,215)       

(Refer 20b)

410           

Reserves

Reserves

(1,215)         

135,221    

(3)              

–               

137,583    

(Refer 20b)

2016

–                 

–               –               
–               

231,081    

299           

136,439    

20b (ii)

2015

–               2,490        

92,451      

–               
107,296    

108,440    
(1,144)       

20b (ii)

20b (ii)

–               
–               

20 (d)

94,642      

(299)          
–               

2,490          

–               

28,844        31,334        

199,747    
–               

20b (ii) 29,254      

–               

–               
–               

–               
–               

231,081    

31,334        

410           

–               

Council

235,748    

–               
–               

92,451      

–               

–               

earnings

2,490        

–               

–               
199,747    

200,891    

2,490        

–               

Retained
Notes

5,882          

100,527    

3               

Total
interest

controlling

–                 

Equityinterest

(1,215)       

20 (c) (1,144)       
–               
–               

200,891    
(1,144)       
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This statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. page 7

Berrigan Shire Council

Statement of Cash Flows
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts:
Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Investment and interest revenue received
Grants and contributions
Bonds, deposits and retention amounts received
Other
Payments:
Employee benefits and on-costs
Materials and contracts
Borrowing costs
Bonds, deposits and retention amounts refunded
Other
Net cash provided (or used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts:
Sale of investment securities
Sale of real estate assets
Sale of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Deferred debtors receipts
Payments:
Purchase of investment securities
Purchase of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Purchase of real estate assets
Deferred debtors and advances made
Net cash provided (or used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipts:
Proceeds from borrowings and advances
Payments:
Repayment of borrowings and advances
Net cash flow provided (used in) financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Plus: cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents – end of the year

Additional Information:

plus: Investments on hand – end of year

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments
Please refer to Note 11 for additional cash flow information

6b

Notes

633               

(7,027)           

1,720            

7,877            
10                 40                 

2,937            

1,666            

20152016

2,487        

(397)           

(262)           

2,884            

(9,575)        

11a

(262)              

–                   

–                   

–                   
(10,409)         

–                   

334               

(625)              

–                   

–                   

1,125            

9,440          
(2,023)           

547               
–                   

9,394            
465               

9,047            

Budget 

(3,486)           

(76)                
(5,831)           

2016

1,403            

1,630            

(262)              

(2,630)           

23,755      

19,630          

4,125        

21,321      

4,691        

16,630          

11a

11,201        

(3,000)           

–                   

148               

(79)                
–                   

(9,068)           

743               

9,275            

10,579          

2,262            

Actual 

8,873            

8,706          

(29)                
(4,705)           
(7,279)           

(1,943)           
(53)                

(57)                
(3,581)           

–                   –                   
330               

(120)              
(7,782)        (11,505)      

(5,557)           

(172)              

2,309            

1,458          

2,382          

4,691            

(566)           

(262)           

Actual 

(4)                  

(2,034)           
11b

–                   
164               

302               
227               

–                   
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Contents of the notes accompanying the financial statements

Details

Summary of significant accounting policies
Council functions/activities – financial information
Council functions/activities – component descriptions
Income from continuing operations
Expenses from continuing operations
Gains or losses from the disposal of assets
Cash and cash equivalent assets
Investments
Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments – details
Receivables
Inventories and other assets
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Externally restricted infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – current year impairments
Payables, borrowings and provisions
Description of (and movements in) provisions
Statement of cash flows – additional information
Commitments for expenditure
Statement of performance measures:
13a (i) Local government industry indicators (consolidated)
13a (ii) Local government industry graphs (consolidated)
13b Local government industry indicators (by fund)
Investment properties
Financial risk management
Material budget variations
Statement of developer contributions
Contingencies and other liabilities/assets not recognised
Interests in other entities

Financial result and financial position by fund
‘Held for sale’ non-current assets and disposal groups
Events occurring after the reporting date
Discontinued operations
Intangible assets
Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration liabilities
Fair value measurement

n/a  –  not applicable

Retained earnings, revaluation reserves, changes in accounting 
policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

27 69

52
50

68 n/a

53 n/a

62 n/a

57

67 n/a

59

65

63

68
68 n/a

67

9
27
28
29

7
8

9(a)
9(b)

34

38

47

61

53
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1

25
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15
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20

21

49

48

43

44
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23

26

Note

22

14

10(a)
10(b)
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4

6(c)

9(c)
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24
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3
2(b)

6(b)

5

40

37

38
39
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44
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The principal accounting policies adopted by Council 
in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below in order to assist in its 
general understanding. 
 
Under Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs), 
accounting policies are defined as those specific 
principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
applied by a reporting entity (in this case Council) in 
preparing and presenting its financial statements. 
 
 
(a) Basis of preparation 
 
(i) Background 
 
These financial statements are general purpose 
financial statements, which have been prepared in 
accordance with: 
 
 Australian Accounting Standards and Australian 

Accounting Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, 

 
 the Local Government Act (1993) and Regulation, 

and 
 
 the Local Government Code of Accounting 

Practice and Financial Reporting. 
 
For the purpose of preparing these financial 
statements, Council has been deemed to be a not-
for-profit entity. 
 
(ii) Compliance with International Financial  
      Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
 
Because AASBs are sector neutral, some standards 
either: 
 

(a) have local Australian content and 
prescription that is specific to the not-for-
profit sector (including local government) 
which are not in compliance with IFRSs, or 
 

(b) specifically exclude application by not-for-
profit entities. 

 
Accordingly, in preparing these financial statements 
and accompanying notes, Council has been unable 
to comply fully with International Accounting 
Standards, but has complied fully with Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

 

Under the Local Government Act (LGA), Regulation 
and Local Government Code of Accounting Practice 
and Financial Reporting, it should be noted that 
Councils in NSW only have a requirement to comply 
with AASBs. 
 
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by  
      Council 
 
There have been no new accounting standards 
adopted in this year’s financial statements which 
have had any material impact on reported financial 
position, performance or cash flows.  
 
(iv) Early adoption of accounting standards 
 
Council has not elected to apply any 
pronouncements before their operative date in the 
annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2015, 
except for AASB2015-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of 
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities, which has 
reduced the fair value disclosures for Level 3 assets. 
 
For summary information relating to the effects of 
standards with future operative dates refer further to 
paragraph (ab). 
 
(v) Basis of accounting 
 
These financial statements have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention except for: 
 
(i) certain financial assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss and available-for-
sale financial assets, which are all valued at fair 
value, 
 

(ii) the write down of any asset on the basis of 
impairment (if warranted), and 

 
(iii) certain classes of non-current assets (e.g. 

infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
and investment property) that are accounted for 
at fair valuation. 

 
The accrual basis of accounting has also been 
applied in their preparation. 
 
(vi) Changes in accounting policies 
 
Council’s accounting policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 
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There have also been no changes in accounting 
policies when compared with previous financial 
statements unless otherwise stated [refer Note 20 (d)]. 
 
(vii) Critical accounting estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates (in 
conformity with AASBs). 
 
Accordingly this requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Council's 
accounting policies. 
 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that 
may have a financial impact on Council and that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions     
 
Council makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. 
 
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are set out below: 
 
(i) Estimated fair values of infrastructure, property, 

plant and equipment, 
 

(ii) Estimated remediation provisions. 
 
 
(b) Revenue recognition 
 
Council recognises revenue when the amount of 
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to it, and specific 
criteria have been met for each of the Council’s 
activities as described below. 
 
Council bases any estimates on historical results, 
taking into consideration the type of customer, the 
type of transaction and the specifics of each 
arrangement. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable. 

Revenue is measured on major income categories as 
follows: 
 
Rates, Annual Charges, Grants and Contributions 
 
Rates, annual charges, grants and contributions 
(including developer contributions) are recognised as 
revenues when the Council obtains control over the 
assets comprising these receipts. 
 
Control over assets acquired from rates and annual 
charges is obtained at the commencement of the 
rating year as it is an enforceable debt linked to the 
rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of 
the rates. 
 
A provision for the impairment on rates receivables 
has not been established as unpaid rates represent a 
charge against the rateable property that will be 
recovered when the property is next sold. 
 
Control over granted and contributed assets is 
normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or 
upon earlier notification that a grant has been 
secured, and is valued at their fair value at the date 
of transfer. 
 
Revenue from Contributions is recognised when the 
Council: 
 
(i) either obtains control of the contribution, or the 

right to receive it; and 
(ii) it is probable that the economic benefits 

comprising the contribution will flow to the 
Council, and 

(iii) the amount of the contribution can be measured 
reliably 
 

Where grants or contributions recognised as 
revenues during the financial year were obtained on 
condition that they be expended in a particular 
manner or used over a particular period and those 
conditions were undischarged at balance date, the 
unused grant or contribution is disclosed in Note 3 
(g). 
 
Note 3 (g) also discloses the amount of unused grant 
or contribution from prior years that was expended 
on Council’s operations during the current year. 
 
The Council has obligations to provide facilities from 
contribution revenues levied on developers under the 
provisions of s94 of the EPA Act 1979. 
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Whilst Council generally incorporates these amounts 
as part of a Development Consents Order, such 
developer contributions are only recognised as 
income upon their physical receipt by Council, due to 
the possibility that individual development consents 
may not be acted upon by the applicant and 
accordingly would not be payable to Council. 
 
Developer contributions may only be expended for 
the purposes for which the contributions were 
required but the Council may apply contributions 
according to the priorities established in work 
schedules. 
 
A detailed note relating to developer contributions 
can be found at Note 17. 
 
User charges, fees and other Income 
 
User charges, fees and other income (including 
parking fees and fines) are recognised as revenue 
when the service has been provided, the payment is 
received, or when the penalty has been applied, 
whichever first occurs. 
 
A provision for the impairment of these receivables 
is recognised when collection in full is no longer 
probable. 
 
A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is 
reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite 
service has not been provided as at balance date. 
 
Sale of infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment 
 
The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined 
when control of the asset has irrevocably passed to 
the buyer. 
 
Interest and rents 
 
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 
 
Interest income from cash and investments is 
accounted for using the effective interest rate at the 
date that interest is earned. 
 
Dividend income 
 
Revenue is recognised when the Council’s right to 
receive the payment is established, which is 
generally when shareholders approve the dividend. 

Other Income 
 
Other income is recorded when the payment is due, 
the value of the payment is notified or the payment is 
received, whichever occurs first. 
 
 
(c) Principles of consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the 
financial position and performance of controlled 
entities from the date on which control is obtained 
until the date that control is lost. 
 
(i) The Consolidated Fund 
 
In accordance with the provisions of section 409(1) of 
the LGA 1993, all money and property received by 
Council is held in the Council’s consolidated fund 
unless it is required to be held in the Council’s trust 
fund. 
 
The consolidated fund and other entities through 
which the Council controls resources to carry on its 
functions have been included in the financial 
statements forming part of this report. 
 
The following entities have been included as part of 
the consolidated fund: 
 
 General Purpose Operations 
 Water Supply 
 Sewerage Service 
 
Due to their immaterial value and nature, the 
following Committees, Entities and Operations have 
been excluded from consolidation: 
 
 Australia Day Committee 
 Barooga Advancement Group 
 Barooga Community Botanical Gardens 
 Barooga Recreation Reserve 
 Barooga Cemetery 
 Berrigan Conservation and Tidy Towns 
 Berrigan Shire Heritage Committee 
 Berrigan Shire Youth Development Committee 
 Berrigan Sports Ground 
 Berrigan War Memorial Hall 
 Berrigan War Memorial Swimming Pool 
 Boomanoomana Landcare Group 
 Finley Community Help Group 
 Finley Log Cabin 
 Finley Pioneer Rail 
 Finley Railway Park 
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 Finley Recreation Reserve 
 Finley Showground and Sporting Complex 
 Finley Swimming Pool 
 Finley Tidy Towns 
 Finley War Memorial Hall and School of Arts 
 Mary Lawson Wayside Rest 
 Fullers Road Landcare 
 Native Dog Landcare Group 
 Retreat Public Hall 
 Tocumwal Foreshore 
 Tocumwal Friends of the Library 
 Tocumwal Historic Aerodrome Museum 
 Tocumwal Rail Preservation 
 Tocumwal Recreation Reserve 
 Tocumwal Swimming Pool 
 Tocumwal War Memorial Hall 
 
(ii) The trust fund 
 
In accordance with the provisions of section 411 of 
the Local Government Act 1993 (as amended), a 
separate and distinct trust fund is maintained to 
account for all money and property received by the 
Council in trust that must be applied only for the 
purposes of or in accordance with the trusts relating 
to those monies. 
 
Trust monies and property subject to Council’s 
control have been included in these statements. 
 
Trust monies and property held by Council but not 
subject to the control of Council have been excluded 
from these statements. 
 
A separate statement of monies held in the trust 
fund is available for inspection at the Council office 
by any person free of charge. 
 
(iii) Interests in other entities 
 
Subsidiaries 
 
Council has no interest in any subsidiaries. 
 
Joint arrangements 
 
Council has no interest in any joint arrangements. 
 
Joint ventures 
 
Council has no interest in any joint arrangements 
 
 
 

Associates 
 
Council has no interest in any associates. 
 
County councils 
 
Council is a member of the following county councils 
(which are bodies incorporated under the Local 
Government Act): 
 
 Central Murray County Council 

Responsible for noxious weed management 
 
The governing body of the County Council is 
responsible for managing its own affairs. 
 
Council is of the opinion that it neither controls nor 
significantly influences the above county council/s 
and accordingly these entities have not been 
consolidated or otherwise included within these 
financial statements. 
 
Unconsolidated structured entities 
 
Council has no interest in any unconsolidated 
structured entities. 
 
 
(d) Leases 
 
All leases entered into by Council are reviewed and 
classified on inception date as either a finance lease 
or an operating lease. 
 
Finance leases 
 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Council has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. 
 
Council did not have any finance leases in the year 
ended 30 June 2015 or the year ended 30 June 
2016. 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. 
 
Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 



 

  Financial Statements 2016_ 

 
 
Berrigan Shire Council 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 
Note 1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 

 
  page 13 
 

Lease income from operating leases is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For Statement of Cash Flows (and Statement of 
Financial Position) presentation purposes, cash and 
cash equivalents includes; 
 
 cash on hand, 
 
 deposits held at call with financial institutions, 
 
 other short-term, highly liquid investments with 

original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and that are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, and 

 
 bank overdrafts. 
 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the balance sheet but are 
incorporated into cash and cash equivalents for 
presentation of the Cash Flow Statement. 
 
(f) Investments and other financial assets 
 
Council (in accordance with AASB 139) classifies 
each of its investments into one of the following 
categories for measurement purposes: 
 
 financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, 
 
 loans and receivables,  
 
 held-to-maturity investments, and 
 
 available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
Each classification depends on the purpose or 
intention for which the investment was acquired and 
at the time it was acquired. 
 
Management determines each investment 
classification at the time of initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 
 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit  
    or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
include financial assets that are ‘held for trading’. 

A financial asset is classified in the ‘held for trading’ 
category if it is acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short term. 
 
Assets in this category are primarily classified as 
current assets as they are primarily held for trading 
and/or are expected to be realised within 12 months 
of the balance sheet date. 
 
(ii) Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. 
 
They arise when the Council provides money, goods 
or services directly to a debtor with no intention (or in 
some cases ability) of selling the resulting receivable. 
 
They are included in current assets, except for those 
with maturities greater than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date, which are classified as non-
current assets. 
 
(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 
 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities that the Council’s management 
has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. 
 
In contrast to the ‘loans and receivables’ 
classification, these investments are generally 
quoted in an active market. 
 
Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-
current assets, except for those with maturities less 
than 12 months from the reporting date, which are 
classified as current assets. 
 
(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives 
that are either designated in this category or not 
classified in any of the other categories. 
 
Investments must be designated as available-for-sale 
if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or 
determinable payments and management intends to 
hold them for the medium to long term. 
 
Accordingly, this classification principally comprises 
marketable equity securities, but can include all types 
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of financial assets that could otherwise be classified 
in one of the other investment categories. 
 
They are generally included in non-current assets 
unless management intends to dispose of the 
investment within 12 months of the balance sheet 
date or the term to maturity from the reporting date is 
less than 12 months. 
 
Financial assets – reclassification 
 
Council may choose to reclassify a non-derivative 
trading financial asset out of the held-for-trading 
category if the financial asset is no longer held for 
the purpose of selling it in the near term. 
 
Financial assets other than loans and receivables 
are permitted to be reclassified out of the held-for-
trading category only in rare circumstances arising 
from a single event that is unusual and highly 
unlikely to recur in the near term. 
 
Council may also choose to reclassify financial 
assets that would meet the definition of loans and 
receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-
for-sale categories if it has the intention and ability to 
hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future 
or until maturity at the date of reclassification. 
 
Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the 
reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new 
cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no 
reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded 
before reclassification date are subsequently made. 
 
Effective interest rates for financial assets 
reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity categories are determined at the 
reclassification date. Further increases in estimates 
of cash flows adjust effective interest rates 
prospectively. 
 
General accounting and measurement of 
financial instruments: 
 
(i) Initial recognition 
 
Investments are initially recognised (and measured) 
at fair value, plus in the case of investments not at 
‘fair value through profit or loss’, directly attributable 
transactions costs. 
 

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised 
on trade-date – the date on which the Council 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Council has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
 
(ii) Subsequent measurement 
 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial 
assets at fair value through profit and loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value. 
 
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity 
investments are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
 
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets 
classified as ‘fair value through profit or loss’ 
category are included in the income statement in the 
period in which they arise. 
 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in 
the fair value of non-monetary securities classified as 
‘available-for-sale’ are recognised in equity in the 
available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. 
 
When securities classified as ‘available-for-sale’ are 
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are included in the income statement as 
gains and losses from investment securities. 
 
Impairment 
 
Council assesses at each balance date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
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(iii) Types of investments 
 
Council has an approved Investment Policy in order 
to invest in accordance with (and to comply with) 
section 625 of the Local Government Act and s212 
of the LG (General) Regulation 2005. 
 
Investments are placed and managed in accordance 
with the policy and having particular regard to 
authorised investments prescribed under the 
Ministerial Local Government Investment Order. 
 
Council maintains its Investment Policy in 
compliance with the Act and ensures that it or its 
representatives exercise care, diligence and skill that 
a prudent person would exercise in investing Council 
funds. 
 
(g) Fair value estimation – financial 
      instruments 
 
The fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in 
active markets is based on quoted market prices at 
the balance sheet date. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques. 
 
Council uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each balance date. 
 
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are used for long-term debt instruments 
held. 
 
If the market for a financial asset is not active (and 
for unlisted securities), the Council establishes fair 
value by using valuation techniques. 
 
These include reference to the fair values of recent 
arm’s length transactions, involving the same 
instruments or other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect 
the issuer’s specific circumstances. 
 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments 
of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. 
 
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure 
purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest 
rate that is available to the Council for similar 
financial instruments. 
 
(h) Receivables 
 
Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less any 
provision for impairment. 
 
Receivables (excluding rates and annual charges) 
are generally due for settlement no more than 30 
days from the date of recognition. 
 
The collectibility of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be 
uncollectible are written off in accordance with 
Council’s policy. 
 
A provision for impairment (i.e. an allowance 
account) relating to receivables is established when 
objective evidence shows that Council will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of each receivable. 
 
The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the effective interest rate. 
 
Impairment losses are recognised in the Income 
Statement within other expenses. 
 
When a receivable for which an impairment 
allowance had been recognised becomes 
uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off 
against the allowance account. 
 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against other expenses in the Income 
Statement. 
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(i) Inventories 
 
(i) Raw materials and stores, work in progress  
    and finished goods 
 
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and 
finished goods in respect of business undertakings 
are all stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. 
 
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on 
the basis of normal operating capacity. 
 
Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory 
on the basis of weighted average costs. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. 
 
Inventories held in respect of non-business 
undertakings have been valued at cost subject to 
adjustment for loss of service potential. 
 
(ii) Land held for resale/capitalisation of     
      borrowing costs 
 
Land held for resale is stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. 
 
Cost is assigned by specific identification and 
includes the cost of acquisition and development. 
 
 
(j) Infrastructure, property, plant and  
      equipment (I,PP&E) 
 
Acquisition of assets 
 
Council’s non-current assets are continually 
revalued (over a 5-year period) in accordance with 
the fair valuation policy as mandated by the Office of 
Local Government. 
 
At balance date, the following classes of I,PP&E 
were stated at their Fair Value; 
 
- Water and Sewerage Networks 

(Internal Valuation by Mr Fred Exton - Director Technical 
Services, Berrigan Shire Council) 
 

- Operational Land (External Valuation by Mr Martin 
Burns – Principal  Valuer, Liquid Pacific) 

 
- Buildings – Specialised/Non Specialised  

(External Valuation by Mr Martin Burns – Principal  Valuer, 
Liquid Pacific) 

 
- Plant and Equipment 

(as approximated by depreciated historical cost) 
 

- Roads Assets incl. roads, bridges and 
footpaths  
(Internal Valuation by Mr Fred Exton - Director Technical 
Services, Berrigan Shire Council) 
 

- Drainage Assets (Internal Valuation by Mr Fred Exton - 
Director Technical Services, Berrigan Shire Council) 

 
- Bulk Earthworks (Internal Valuation by Mr Fred Exton - 

Director Technical Services, Berrigan Shire Council) 
 

- Community Land (External Valuation by NSW Valuer 
General) 

 
- Land Improvements 

(as approximated by depreciated historical cost) 
 

- Other Structures 
(as approximated by depreciated historical cost) 
 

- Other Assets 
(as approximated by depreciated historical cost) 

 
- Investment properties – refer Note 1(p), 
 
Initial recognition 
 
On initial recognition, an asset’s cost is measured at 
its fair value, plus all expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition. 
 
Where settlement of any part of an asset’s cash 
consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the 
future are discounted to their present value as at the 
date of recognition (i.e. date of exchange) of the 
asset to arrive at fair value. 
 
The discount rate used is the Council’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar 
borrowing could be obtained from an independent 
financier under comparable terms and conditions. 
 
Where infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
assets are acquired for no cost or for an amount 
other than cost, the assets are recognised in the 
financial statements at their fair value at acquisition 
date – being the amount that the asset could have 
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been exchanged between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction. 
 
Subsequent costs 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to Council and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. 
 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
income statement during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 
 
Asset revaluations (including indexation) 
 
In accounting for asset revaluations relating to 
infrastructure, property, plant and equipment: 
 
 increases in the combined carrying amounts of 

asset classes arising on revaluation are credited 
to the asset revaluation reserve, 

 
 to the extent that a net asset class increase 

reverses a decrease previously recognised via 
the profit or loss, then increase is first recognised 
in profit or loss, 

 
 net decreases that reverse previous increases of 

the same asset class are first charged against 
revaluation reserves directly in equity to the 
extent of the remaining reserve attributable to the 
asset, with all other decreases charged to the 
Income Statement. 

 
Water and sewerage network assets are indexed 
annually between full revaluations in accordance 
with the latest indices provided in the NSW Office of 
Water – Rates Reference Manual. 
 
For all other assets, Council assesses at each 
reporting date whether there is any indication that a 
revalued asset’s carrying amount may differ 
materially from that which would be determined if the 
asset were revalued at the reporting date. 
 
If any such indication exists, Council determines the 
asset’s fair value and revalues the asset to that 
amount. 
 
Full revaluations are undertaken for all assets on a 
5-year cycle. 

Capitalisation thresholds 
 
Items of infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 
are not capitalised unless their cost of acquisition 
exceeds the following; 
 
Land 
- council land 100% Capitalised  
- open space 100% Capitalised 
- land under roads (purchases after 30/6/08) 100% Capitalised 
 
 
Plant and Equipment 
Office Furniture > $1,000 
Office Equipment > $1,000 
Other Plant and Equipment > $1,000 
 
 
Buildings and Land Improvements 
Park Furniture and Equipment > $2,000 
 
Building 
- construction/extensions 100% Capitalised 
- renovations > $10,000 
 
Other Structures > $2,000 
 
 
Water and Sewer Assets 
Reticulation extensions > $5,000 
Other > $5,000 
 
 
Stormwater Assets 
Drains and Culverts > $5,000 
Other > $5,000 
 
 
Transport Assets 
Road construction and reconstruction > $10,000 
Reseal/Re-sheet and major repairs: > $10,000 
 
Bridge construction and reconstruction > $10,000 
 
 
Other Infrastructure Assets 
Swimming Pools > $10,000 
Other Open Space/Recreational Assets > $10,000 
 
Other Infrastructure > $10,000 
 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation on Council's infrastructure, property, 
plant and equipment assets is calculated using the 
straight-line method in order to allocate an asset’s 
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cost (net of residual values) over its estimated useful 
life. 
 
Land is not depreciated. 
 
Estimated useful lives for Council's I,PP&E include: 
 
Plant and Equipment 
- Office Equipment 5 to 10 years 
- Office furniture 10 to 20 years 
- Computer Equipment 3 years 
- Vehicles 5 to 8 years 
- Heavy Plant/Road Making equip. 5 to 8 years 
- Other plant and equipment 5 to 15 years 
 
 
  Other Equipment 
- Playground equipment 5 to 15 years 
- Benches, seats etc. 10 to 20 years 
 
 
  Buildings 
- Buildings: Masonry 50 to 100 years 
- Buildings: Other  20 to 40 years                       
 
 
  Stormwater Drainage 
- Drains 80 to 100 years 
- Culverts 50 to 80 years 
 
 
  Transportation Assets 
- Sealed Roads: Surface 15 to 20 years 
- Sealed Roads: Structure 50 years 
- Unsealed roads  20 to 50 years 
- Bridge: Concrete  80 to 100 years 
- Bridge: Other  50 to 80 years 
 
- Road Pavements 50 years 
- Kerb, Gutter and Paths 40 years 
 
 
  Water and Sewer Assets 
- Dams and reservoirs 80 to 100 years 
- Bores 20 to 40 years 
 
- Reticulation pipes: PVC 80 years 
- Reticulation pipes: Other 25 to 75 years 
- Pumps and telemetry 15 to 20 years 
 
 
  Other Infrastructure Assets 
- Bulk earthworks Infinite 
 
 
All asset residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed and adjusted (if appropriate) at each 
reporting date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount – refer Note 1 (s) on asset 
impairment. 
 
Disposal and derecognition 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. 
 
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in Council’s Income Statement in 
the year the asset is derecognised. 
 
(k) Land 
 
Land (other than land under roads) is in accordance 
with Part 2 of Chapter 6 of the Local Government Act 
(1993) classified as either operational or community.  
 
This classification of land is disclosed in Note 9 (a). 
 
(l) Land under roads 
 
Land under roads is land under roadways and road 
reserves, including land under footpaths, nature 
strips and median strips. 
 
Council has elected not to recognise land under 
roads acquired before 1 July 2008 in accordance 
with AASB 1051. 
 
Land under roads acquired after 1 July 2008 is 
recognised in accordance with AASB 116 – Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
(m) Intangible assets 
 
Council has not classified any assets as intangible. 
 
(n) Crown reserves 
 
Crown reserves under Council’s care and control are 
recognised as assets of the Council. 
 
While ownership of the reserves remains with the 
Crown, Council retains operational control of the 
reserves and is responsible for their maintenance 
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and use in accordance with the specific purposes to 
which the reserves are dedicated. 
 
Improvements on Crown reserves are also recorded 
as assets, while maintenance costs incurred by 
Council and revenues relating to the reserves are 
recognised within Council’s Income Statement. 
 
Representations are currently being sought across 
state and local government to develop a consistent 
accounting treatment for Crown Reserves across 
both tiers of government. 
 
(o) Rural fire service assets 
 
Under section 119 of the Rural Fires Act 1997, ‘all 
fire fighting equipment purchased or constructed 
wholly or from money to the credit of the Fund is to 
be vested in the council of the area for or on behalf 
of which the fire fighting equipment has been 
purchased or constructed’. 
 
At present, the accounting for such fire fighting 
equipment is not treated in a consistent manner 
across all Councils. 
 
Until such time as discussions on this matter have 
concluded and the legislation changed, Council will 
continue to account for these assets as it has been 
doing in previous years, which is to exclude the 
assets, their values and depreciation charges from 
these financial statements. 
 
(p) Investment property 
 
Investment property comprises land and/or buildings 
that are principally held for long-term rental yields, 
capital gains or both, that are not occupied by 
Council. 
 
Council did not hold any investment property in the 
year ending 30 June 2015 or the year ending 30 
June 2016 
 
(q) Provisions for close down, restoration  
      and for environmental clean-up costs –  
      including tips and quarries 
 
Close down, restoration and remediation costs 
include the dismantling and demolition of 
infrastructure, the removal of residual materials and 
the remediation of disturbed areas. 
 

Estimated close down and restoration costs are 
provided for in the accounting period when the 
obligation arising from the related disturbance 
occurs, whether this occurs during the development 
or during the operation phase, based on the net 
present value of estimated future costs. 
 
Provisions for close down and restoration costs do 
not include any additional obligations that are 
expected to arise from future disturbance. 
 
Costs are estimated on the basis of a closure plan. 
 
The cost estimates are calculated annually during the 
life of the operation to reflect known developments, 
e.g. updated cost estimates and revisions to the 
estimated lives of operations, and are subject to 
formal review at regular intervals. 
 
Close down, restoration and remediation costs are a 
normal consequence of tip and quarry operations, 
and the majority of close down and restoration 
expenditure is incurred at the end of the life of the 
operations. 
 
Although the ultimate cost to be incurred is uncertain, 
Council estimates the respective costs based on 
feasibility and engineering studies using current 
restoration standards and techniques. 
 
The amortisation or ‘unwinding’ of the discount 
applied in establishing the net present value of 
provisions is charged to the Income Statement in 
each accounting period. 
 
This amortisation of the discount is disclosed as a 
borrowing cost in Note 4 (b). 
 
Other movements in the provisions for close down, 
restoration and remediation costs including those 
resulting from new disturbance, updated cost 
estimates, changes to the estimated lives of 
operations and revisions to discount rates are 
capitalised within property, plant and equipment.  
 
These costs are then depreciated over the lives of 
the assets to which they relate. 
 
Where rehabilitation is conducted systematically over 
the life of the operation, rather than at the time of 
closure, provision is made for the estimated 
outstanding continuous rehabilitation work at each 
balance sheet date and the cost is charged to the 
Income Statement. 
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Provision is made for the estimated present value of 
the costs of environmental clean-up obligations 
outstanding at the balance sheet date. 
 
These costs are charged to the Income Statement. 
 
Movements in the environmental clean-up provisions 
are presented as an operating cost, except for the 
unwind of the discount, which is shown as a 
borrowing cost. 
 
Remediation procedures generally commence soon 
after the time the damage, remediation process and 
estimated remediation costs become known, but 
may continue for many years depending on the 
nature of the disturbance and the remediation 
techniques. 
 
As noted above, the ultimate cost of environmental 
remediation is uncertain and cost estimates can vary 
in response to many factors, including changes to 
the relevant legal requirements, the emergence of 
new restoration techniques or experience at other 
locations. 
 
The expected timing of expenditure can also 
change, for example, in response to changes in 
quarry reserves or production rates. 
 
As a result there could be significant adjustments to 
the provision for close down and restoration and 
environmental clean-up, which would affect future 
financial results. 
 
Specific information about Council's provisions 
relating to close down, restoration and remediation 
costs can be found at Note 26. 
 
(r) Non-current assets (or disposal groups)  
     ‘held for sale’ and discontinued 
     operations 
 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are 
classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of 
either: 
 
(i) their carrying amount. and  
(ii) fair value less costs to sell, if their carrying 

amount will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. 

 

The exception to this is plant and motor vehicles, 
which are turned over on a regular basis.  
 
Plant and motor vehicles are retained in non-current 
assets under the classification of infrastructure, 
property, plant and equipment – unless the assets 
are to be traded in after 30 June and the replacement 
assets were already purchased and accounted for as 
at 30 June. 
 
For any assets or disposal groups classified as non-
current assets ‘held for sale’, an impairment loss is 
recognised at any time when the assets carrying 
value is greater than its fair value less costs to sell. 
 
Non-current assets ‘held for sale’ are not depreciated 
or amortised while they are classified as ‘held for 
sale’. 
 
Non-current assets classified as ‘held for sale’ are 
presented separately from the other assets in the 
balance sheet. 
 
A discontinued operation is a component of Council 
that has been disposed of or is classified as ‘held for 
sale’ and that represents a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations, is part 
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line 
of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 
 
Council did not have any discontinued operations in 
the year ended 30 June 2015 and the year ended 30 
June 2016. 
 
(s) Impairment of assets 
 
All Council's I,PP&E is subject to an annual 
assessment of impairment. 
 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
 
Where an asset is not held principally for cash- 
generating purposes (for example infrastructure 
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assets) and would be replaced if the Council was 
deprived of it, then depreciated replacement cost is 
used as value in use, otherwise value in use is 
estimated by using a discounted cash flow model. 
 
Non-financial assets (other than goodwill) that 
suffered a prior period impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting 
date. 
 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life and are not subject to 
amortisation are tested annually for impairment. 
 
(t) Payables 
 
These amounts represent liabilities and include 
goods and services provided to the Council prior to 
the end of financial year that are unpaid. 
 
The amounts for goods and services are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
(u) Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred.  
 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost. 
 
Amortisation results in any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount being recognised in the Income 
Statement over the period of the borrowings using 
the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet 
when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless 
the Council has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the balance sheet date. 
 
(v) Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs are expensed 
 
 
 
 

(w) Provisions 
 
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and 
other like liabilities are recognised when: 
 
(i) Council has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of past events, 
 
(ii) it is more likely than not that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and 

 
(iii) the amount has been reliably estimated.  
 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 
likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole. 
 
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the 
same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date. 
 
The discount rate used to determine the present 
value reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. 
 
The increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as interest expense. 
 
(x) Employee benefits 
 
(i) Short-term obligations 
  
Short-term employee benefit obligations include 
liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-
monetary benefits), annual leave and vesting sick 
leave expected to be wholly settled within the 12 
months after the reporting period. 
 
Leave liabilities are recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date with other short term 
employee benefit obligations disclosed under 
payables. 
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These provisions are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  
 
All other short-term employee benefit obligations are 
presented as payables. 
 
Liabilities for non-vesting sick leave are recognised 
at the time when the leave is taken and measured at 
the rates paid or payable, and accordingly no 
Liability has been recognised in these reports. 
 
Wages and salaries, annual leave and vesting sick 
leave are all classified as current liabilities. 
 
(ii) Other long-term obligations 
 
The liability for all long service and annual leave in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date (which is not expected to be wholly 
settled within the 12 months after the reporting 
period) are recognised in the provision for employee 
benefits. 
 
These liabilities are measured at the present value 
of the expected future payments to be made using 
the projected unit credit method. 
 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. 
 
Expected future payments are then discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date based on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and 
currency that match as closely as possible the 
estimated future cash outflows. 
 
Due to the nature of when and how long service 
leave can be taken, all long service leave for 
employees with 4 or more years of service has been 
classified as current, as it has been deemed that 
Council does not have the unconditional right to 
defer settlement beyond 12 months – even though it 
is not anticipated that all employees with more than 
4 years service (as at reporting date) will apply for 
and take their leave entitlements in the next 12 
months. 
 
(iii) Retirement benefit obligations 
 
All employees of the Council are entitled to benefits 
on retirement, disability or death.  
 

Council contributes to various defined benefit plans 
and defined contribution plans on behalf of its 
employees. 
 
Defined benefit plans 
 
A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans would ordinarily be recognised 
in the balance sheet, and measured as the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting 
date plus unrecognised actuarial gains (less 
unrecognised actuarial losses) less the fair value of 
the superannuation fund’s assets at that date and 
any unrecognised past service cost. 
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
based on expected future payments which arise from 
membership of the fund to the reporting date, 
calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. 
 
However, when this information is not reliably 
available, Council can account for its obligations to 
defined benefit plans on the same basis as its 
obligations to defined contribution plans – i.e. as an 
expense when they become payable. 
 
Council is party to an Industry Defined Benefit Plan 
under the Local Government Superannuation 
Scheme, named the ‘Local Government 
Superannuation Scheme – Pool B’. 
 
This scheme has been deemed to be a ‘multi-
employer fund’ for the purposes of AASB 119.  
 
Sufficient information is not available to account for 
the Scheme as a defined benefit plan (in accordance 
with AASB 119) because the assets to the scheme 
are pooled together for all Councils. 
 
The standard employer contributions were 
determined using the new entrant rate method under 
which a contribution rate sufficient to fund the total 
benefits over the working life-time of a typical new 
entrant is calculated.  
 
The current standard employer contribution rates are: 
 
 
Division B 1.9 times employee contributions 
Division C 2.5% salaries 
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Division D 1.64 times employee contributions  
 
 
As a pooled employer, Council is exposed to the 
actuarial risks associated with current and former 
employees of other sponsoring employers and 
hence shares in the associated gains and losses.  
 
However, there is no relief under the Fund’s trust 
deed for employers to walk away from their defined 
benefit obligations. Under limited circumstances, an 
employer may withdraw from the plan when there 
are no active members, on full payment of 
outstanding additional contributions.  
 
There is no provision for allocation of any surplus 
which may be present at the date of withdrawal of 
the entity. 
 
There are no specific provisions under the Fund’s 
trust deed dealing with deficits or surplus on wind-
up. 
 
The last valuation of the Scheme was performed by 
Mr Richard Boyfield, FIAA on 24 February 2016.The 
fund continues to operate with a deficit of assets to 
accrued liabilities as at 30 June 2015. 
 
Effective from 1 July 2009, employers were required 
to contribute additional contributions to assist in 
extinguishing this deficit.  

These additional contributions are estimated to 
remain in place until 30 June 2020 at an estimated 
amount of $368,000; however the Trustee of the 
fund will be reviewing the financial position of the 
fund on an annual basis.  

The estimated employer reserves financial position 
for the Pooled Employers at 30 June 2016 is: 
 

Employer reserves only*  $M  Asset 
Coverage  

Assets  1,665.2  
Past Service Liabilities  1,739.3  95.7%  
Vested Benefits  1,796.0  92.7%  

* excluding member accounts and reserves in both  
  assets and liabilities 

 
The key economic long term assumptions used to 
calculate the present value of accrued benefits are:  
 
 
Investment return  6.5% per annum 

Salary inflation  3.5% per annum 
Increase in CPI   2.5% per annum  
 
 
The contribution requirements may vary from the 
current rates if the overall sub-group experience is 
not in line with the actuarial assumptions in 
determining the funding program; however, any 
adjustment to the funding program would be the 
same for all sponsoring employers. 
 
The additional lump sum contribution for each Pooled 
Employer is a share of the total additional 
contributions of $40 million per annum, apportioned 
according to each employer’s share of the accrued 
liabilities as at 30 June 2009. These additional lump 
sum contributions are used to fund the deficit of 
assets to accrued liabilities as at 30 June 2015.  
 
The adequacy of contributions is assessed at each 
triennial actuarial investigation and monitored 
annually between triennials. 
 
Council additional lump sum contributions per annum 
as a percentage of the total additional lump sum 
contributions for all Pooled Employers (of $40m) 
provides an indication of the level of participation of 
that employer compared with other employers in the 
Pooled Employer sub-group. On this basis, Council’s 
participation in the Scheme compared with other 
participating entities is approximately 0.23%. 
 
Council’s share of the deficiency cannot be 
accurately calculated as the Scheme is a mutual 
arrangement where assets and liabilities are pooled 
together for all member councils. 
 
For this reason, no liability for the deficiency has 
been recognised in these financial statements. 
 
Council has, however, disclosed a contingent liability 
in Note 18 to reflect the possible obligation that may 
arise should the Scheme require immediate payment 
to correct the deficiency.   
 
The Council’s expected contribution to the Fund in 
the year ending 30 June 2017 is $172,247. 
 
Defined contribution plans 
 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense as they become payable.  
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Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available. 
 
(iv) Employee benefit on-costs 
 
Council has recognised at year end the aggregate 
on-cost liabilities arising from employee benefits, 
and in particular those on-cost liabilities that will 
arise when payment of current employee benefits is 
made in future periods. 
 
These amounts include Superannuation and 
Workers Compensation expenses payable upon the 
future payment of certain Leave Liabilities accrued 
as at 30 June 2016 
 
(y) Self-insurance 
 
Council does not self-insure. 
 
(z) Allocation between current and 
      non-current assets and liabilities 
 
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is 
classified as current or non-current, consideration is 
given to the time when each asset or liability is 
expected to be settled. 
 
The asset or liability is classified as current if it is 
expected to be settled within the next 12 months, 
being the Council’s operational cycle. 
 
Exceptions 
 
In the case of liabilities where Council does not have 
the unconditional right to defer settlement beyond 12 
months (such as vested long service leave), the 
liability is classified as current even if it is not 
expected to be settled within the next 12 months. 
 
In the case of inventories that are ‘held for trading’, 
these are also classified as current even if not 
expected to be realised in the next 12 months. 
 
(aa) Taxes 
 
The Council is exempt from both Commonwealth 
Income Tax and Capital Gains Tax. 
 
Council does, however, have to comply with both 
Fringe Benefits Tax and Goods and Services Tax 
(GST). 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Income, expenses and assets are all recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 
Tax Office (ATO). 
 
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the revenue / expense. 
 
Receivables and payables within the Balance Sheet 
are stated inclusive of any applicable GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable 
to the ATO is included as a current asset or current 
liability in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Operating cash flows within the Cash Flow 
Statement are on a gross basis, i.e. they are 
inclusive of GST where applicable. 
 
Investing and financing cash flows are treated on a 
net basis (where recoverable from the ATO), i.e. they 
are exclusive of GST. Instead, the GST component 
of investing and financing activity cash flows that are 
recoverable from or payable to the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable from (or payable to) 
the ATO. 
 
(ab) New accounting standards and  
         Interpretations issued (not yet effective) 
 
Certain new (or amended) accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for reporting periods ending 30 June 
2016. 
 
Council has not adopted any of these standards 
early. 
 
Apart from the AASB disclosures below, there are no 
other standards that are ‘not yet effective’ that are 
expected to have a material impact on Council in the 
current or future reporting periods and on 
foreseeable future transactions. 
 
Council’s assessment of the impact of upcoming new 
standards and interpretations that are likely to have 
an effect are set out below. 
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AASB 9 – Financial Instruments 
 
AASB 9 replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and has an effective 
date for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018 (and must be applied retrospectively). 
 
The overriding impact of AASB 9 is to change the 
requirements for the classification, measurement 
and disclosures associated with financial assets and 
financial liabilities. 
 
These requirements are designed to improve and 
simplify the approach for classification and 
measurement of financial assets compared with the 
requirements of AASB 139. 
 
Under the new requirements the four current 
categories of financial assets stipulated in AASB 139 
will be replaced with two measurement categories:  
 
 fair value, and 
 

 amortised cost (where financial assets will only be 
able to be measured at amortised cost when very 
specific conditions are met). 

 
Council is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of 
the impact of AASB 9. 
 
AASB 15 – Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers and associated amending standards 
 
AASB 15 will replace AASB 118 which covers 
contracts for goods and services and AASB 111 
which covers construction contracts. 
 
AASB 15 will introduce a 5-step process for revenue 
recognition with the core principle of the new 
standard being that entities recognise revenue so as 
to depict the transfer of goods or services to 
customers in amounts that reflect the consideration 
(that is, payment) to which the entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 
 
The changes in revenue recognition requirements in 
AASB 15 may cause changes to accounting policies 
relating to the timing and amount of revenue 
recorded in the financial statements, as well as 
additional disclosures. 
 
The effective date of this standard is for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018. 

Council is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of 
the impact of AASB 15. 
 
AASB ED 260 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities  
 
The AASB previously issued exposure draft AASB 
ED 260 on Income of Not-for-Profit Entities in April 
2015. 
 
The exposure draft proposed specific not-for-profit 
entity requirements and guidance when applying the 
principles of AASB 15 to income from certain 
transactions. 
 
Much of the material in AASB 1004 is expected to be 
replaced by material included in AASB ED 260. 
 
Specific revenue items that may considerably change 
are Grants and Contributions. 
 
The most likely financial statement impact is the 
deferred recognition of Grants and Contributions (i.e. 
recognition as unearned revenue [liability]) until 
Council has met the associated performance 
obligation/s relating to the Grants or Contribution. 
 
At this stage there is no specific date of release for a 
standard or a date of applicability. 
 
AASB16 – Leases 
 
AASB 116 Leases replaces AASB 117 Leases and 
some associated lease-related Interpretations. 
 
AASB 16 introduces a single lease accounting model 
(for lessees) that will require all leases to be 
accounted for on the balance sheet (i.e. recognition 
of both a right-of-use asset and a corresponding 
lease) for all leases with a term of more than 12 
months unless the underlying assets are determined 
to be of ‘low value’. There will also be detailed 
disclosure requirements for all lessees. 
 
The effective date of this standard is for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2019. 
 
Council is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of 
the accounting impacts from AASB 16. However, 
based on preliminary assessments, impacts from the 
first time adoption of the standard may include: 
 

- an increase in lease assets and financial 
liabilities recognised on the balance sheet, 
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- a reduction in reported equity as the carrying 
amount of lease assets will reduce more quickly 
than the carrying amount of lease liabilities, 
 

- lower operating cash outflows and higher 
financing cash flows in the statement of cash 
flows as principal repayments on all lease 
liabilities will now be included in financing 
activities rather than operating activities. 

 
Council does not consider that the impact of first 
time adoption will be significant given the small 
number of low value of the operating leases it holds. 
 
AASB2015-6 – Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party 
Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities 
 
From 1 July 2016, AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures will apply to Council. 
 
This means that Council will be required to disclose 
information about related parties and Council 
transactions with those related parties. 
 
Related parties will more than likely include the 
Mayor, Councillors and certain Council staff. In 
addition, the close family members of those people 
and any organisations that they control or are 
associated with will be classified as related parties 
(and fall under the related party reporting 
requirements). 
 
(ac) Rounding of amounts 
 
Unless otherwise indicated, amounts in the financial 
statements have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars. 
 
(ad) Comparative figures 
 
To ensure comparability with the current reporting 
period’s figures, some comparative period line items 
and amounts may have been reclassified or 
individually reported for the first time within these 
financial statements and/or the notes. 
 
(ae) Disclaimer 
 
Nothing contained within these statements may be 
taken to be an admission of any liability to any 
person under any circumstance. 
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Note 2(a). Council functions/activities – financial information

1. Includes: rates and annual charges (incl. ex-gratia), untied general purpose grants and unrestricted interest and investment income.

2016
Actual

2015
Actual

2015 2016

$ ’000 Income, expenses and assets have been directly attributed to the following functions/activities.
Details of these functions/activities are provided in Note 2(b).

Income from continuing 
operations

Expenses from continuing 
operations

Total assets held 
(current &                          

non-current) Functions/activities

20162015
Actual Actual Actual

Grants included in 
income from 
continuing 
operations

Operating result from 
continuing operations

Original
budget

Original
Actual

2016 20152016
(682)       

361         400         
116         

2016
Actual

Original
budget

2016
Actualbudget

(307)       451         
520         334         

2             2             
9             

585         
(359)       
419         684         –             

370         120         

 Health
 Environment 1,961      

70           372         
5             3             

137         377          Public order and safety

 Governance
 Administration

108         1,853      
753         494         

1,440      1,851      2,215      
(125)       

4             105         

271         

98           

518         

(93)         119         

450         341         

1,953      

1,062       Housing and community amenities 1,552      
 Water supplies

 Recreation and culture 214         

2,736      
 Sewerage services 1,964      

3,586      3,235      
2,058      

198         

282          Community services and education 146         

2,423      2,572      2,790      
1,906      1,737      

5,828      

490         714         
164         

246         

1,027      

2,187      
1,884      1,788      

13           
6,001      

715         2,063      2,095      

 Transport and communication 2,680      
 Mining, manufacturing and construction 95           160         

4,996      
302         307         

4,998      
(142)       
(832)       2,142      

489         364         
121,103  

20,803    86           –             22,689    

Actual
2016

734         
2015

94           –             480         

270         
32,951    
12,314    

22,190    
33,067    
21,573    –             

–             

(102)       
(256)       

75           
3             (585)       

693         
(417)       

Actual

–             
–             

22           
812         

45           
46           

27,141    
15,467    15,139    

459         
180         

79           
22,895    624         –             

(314)       
–             (115)       –             

–             
(373)       

–             –             
268         72           

425         
174         
459         (262)       (411)       

796         
(577)       
(236)       (259)       

(1,380)    
227         

(1,849)    (1,989)    

(487)       

–             

(2,318)    
(212)       

(3,541)    

17,956    

–             
–             

17,956    

–             

–             

–             

4,386      (6,864)    

2,490      

(233)       
2,204      3,145      

–             (476)       

(4,673)    

4,107      

–             –             

5,882      

825         

9,354      8,780      9,423      

2,204      237,027  

(3,859)    
–             

241,222  

4,216      4,086      (530)       
98,700    

237,203  

–             
176         

241,222  

–             

6,626      

–             
4,399      

8,785      

–             
4,422      

18,005    16,704    20,446    

–             
–             –             

562         813         

–             
–             

–             

326         295         

11,092    16,704    18,005    

9,354      

14,464    
 Share of gains/(losses) in associates

 General purpose income 1

 continuing operations

9,423      
 and joint ventures (using the equity method)

 Operating result from

–             

 Economic affairs

12,031     Total functions and activities

86           

8,780      

23,887    20,811    



Financial Statements 2016

page 28

Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2(b). Council functions/activities – component descriptions

Details relating to the Council’s functions/activities as reported in Note 2(a) are as follows:

GOVERNANCE

ADMINISTRATION

PUBLIC ORDER AND SAFETY

HEALTH

ENVIRONMENT

COMMUNITY SERVICES AND EDUCATION

HOUSING AND COMMUNITY AMENITIES

WATER SUPPLIES
SEWERAGE SERVICES

RECREATION AND CULTURE

MINING, MANUFACTURING AND CONSTRUCTION

TRANSPORT AND COMMUNICATION

ECONOMIC AFFAIRS
Includes camping areas and caravan parks; tourism and area promotion; industrial development promotion; sale
yards and markets; real estate development; commercial nurseries; and other business undertakings.

Includes administration and education; social protection (welfare); migrant, Aboriginal and other community
services and administration (excluding accommodation – as it is covered under ‘housing and community
amenities’); youth services; aged and disabled persons services; children’s’ services, including family day care;
child care; and other family and children services.

Includes public cemeteries; public conveniences; street lighting; town planning; other community amenities,
including housing development and accommodation for families and children, aged persons, disabled persons,
migrants and Indigenous persons.

Includes public libraries; museums; art galleries; community centres and halls, including public halls and
performing arts venues; sporting grounds and venues; swimming pools; parks; gardens; lakes; and other
sporting, recreational and cultural services.

Includes building control, quarries and pits, and mineral resources.

Urban local, urban regional, includes sealed and unsealed roads, bridges, footpaths, parking areas, and
aerodromes.

Includes noxious plants and insect/vermin control; other environmental protection; solid waste management,
including domestic waste; other waste management; other sanitation; and garbage, street cleaning, drainage
and stormwater management.

Includes costs relating to Council’s role as a component of democratic government, including elections,
members’ fees and expenses, subscriptions to local authority associations, meetings of Council and policy-
making committees, public disclosure (e.g. GIPA), and legislative compliance.

Includes corporate support and other support services, engineering works, and any Council policy compliance.

Fire protection, animal control, beach control, enforcement of local government regulations, emergency
services, other.

Includes immunisation, food control, health centres etc.
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations

$ ’000

(a) Rates and annual charges

Ordinary rates
Residential
Farmland
Business
Total ordinary rates

Special rates
Nil

Annual charges   (pursuant to s.496, s.496A, s.496B, s.501 & s.611)
Domestic waste management services
Stormwater management services
Water supply services
Sewerage services
Waste management services (non-domestic)
Total annual charges

TOTAL RATES AND ANNUAL CHARGES

Council has used 2013 year valuations provided by the NSW Valuer General in calculating its rates.

791               

4,537            

9,201        

72                 
755               

1,714            
1,692            

4,664            

1,813            
1,788            

73                 

72                 

4,297            
64                 

8,826        

Actual 

2,368            

514               
1,782            

Actual 

4,529            

1,720            
2,312            

497               

Notes 2016 2015
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(b) User charges and fees

Specific user charges (per s.502 – specific ‘actual use’ charges)

Domestic waste management services
Water supply services
Sewerage services
Waste management services (non-domestic)
Total user charges

Other user charges and fees
(i) Fees and charges – statutory and regulatory functions (per s.608)
Building regulation
Private works – section 67
Section 149 certificates (EPA Act)
Section 603 certificates
Total fees and charges – statutory/regulatory

(ii) Fees and charges – other (incl. general user charges (per s.608))
Aerodrome
Aged care
Cemeteries
Food control fees
Leaseback fees – Council vehicles
Library
Sewerage
Swimming centres
Water supply
Other
Total fees and charges – other

TOTAL USER CHARGES AND FEES

58                 38                 

25                 

22                 

103               

58                 

13                 

7                   

75                 

47                 

99                 
15                 

2,367        2,214        

33                 

Notes

34                 

201               

1,498            

Actual 
2016

150               
1,060            

254               

201               

2015
Actual 

22                 
187               

984               

166               

191               
1,337            

19                 

143               

22                 

4                   

25                 
397               

24                 

64                 

451               

117               

21                 

–                   

3                   

418               

96                 

480               
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Interest and investment revenue (including losses)

Interest
  – Interest on overdue rates and annual charges (incl. special purpose rates)
  – Interest earned on investments (interest and coupon payment income)
  – Interest on deferred debtors
TOTAL INTEREST AND INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest revenue is attributable to:
Unrestricted investments/financial assets:
Overdue rates and annual charges (general fund)
General Council cash and investments
Restricted investments/funds – external:
Water fund operations
Sewerage fund operations
Total interest and investment revenue recognised

(d) Other revenues

Rental income – other council properties
Fines
Legal fees recovery – rates and charges (extra charges)
Diesel rebate
Insurance rebate
Paid parental leave scheme
Recycling income (non-domestic)
Sales – general
Sale of gravel
Sale of high security water
Sale of scrap metal
Workers compensation recovery
Renewable Energy Certificates
Other
TOTAL OTHER REVENUE

30                 55                 

378               

331               374               

20                 57                 

118               6                   

–                   9                   
334               

722               
183               

55                 

3                   

722           

29                 

666               

117               179               

666           

146               

29                 

Notes

10                 

78                 

820           
33                 

56                 
2                   5                   

80                 

–                   

29                 

2016

3                   

Actual 

3                   

2015
Actual 

40                 

47                 

17                 

734           
50                 
–                   

61                 

10                 

29                 

690               

–                   

634               
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(e) Grants

General purpose (untied)
Financial assistance – general component
Financial assistance – local roads component
Pensioners’ rates subsidies – general component
Total general purpose

Specific purpose
Pensioners’ rates subsidies:
  – Water
  – Sewerage
  – Domestic waste management
Aged care
Bushfire and emergency services
Clean energy future
Community care
Employment and training programs
Environmental protection
Heritage and cultural
Library
Library – per capita
Library – special projects
LIRS subsidy
Public halls
Recreation and culture
Street lighting
Transport (roads to recovery)
Transport (other roads and bridges funding)
Other
Total specific purpose
Total grants

Grant revenue is attributable to:
– Commonwealth funding
– State funding
– Other funding

–                

191            

–                

20162015

12              

–                

–                
–                

–                111            

45              
40              –                

–                

–                

4,422         

5                

1,283         
3,039         

8                

759            

70              

94              

2,624         1,719         

–                

6,264         

5                

–                

7,023         

–                

–                

25              
13              

2                
(1)               –                

–                

7,023         

–                

–                

6,141         

–                
–                

40              

Operating 

45              

151            

4,399         

268            
–                

1                

31              

–                

2016

3,023         

Capital 
2015

–                

–                
–                

47              

100            
–                
–                

–                
–                

86              

–                

224            

–                

2                

–                
–                
–                

Capital 

–                

–                

–                

–                99              
1,277         

–                

–                

Operating 

–                

–                

449            

–                

485            

–                

6,141         

708            
5,433         

46              

10              

769            

–                

55              
–                

–                

15              

349            

–                
–                

36              

46              

–                

1,918         
32              

38              

50              

485            

–                –                

15              

1,762         

1,747         

1,762         

–                

–                

–                

1,747         

–                

485            

–                

1,762         
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Note 3. Income from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(f) Contributions

Developer contributions:
(s93 & s94 – EP&A Act, s64 of the LGA):
S 94 – contributions towards amenities/services
S 64 – water supply contributions
S 64 – sewerage service contributions
Other developer contributions (assets)
Total developer contributions

Other contributions:
Kerb and gutter
Paving
Recreation and culture
RMS contributions (regional roads, block grant)
Other
Total other contributions
Total contributions

TOTAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

$ ’000

(g) Restrictions relating to grants and contributions

Certain grants and contributions are obtained by Council on condition
that they be spent in a specified manner:

Unexpended at the close of the previous reporting period

Add: grants and contributions recognised in the current period but not yet spent:

Less: grants and contributions recognised in a previous reporting period now spent:

Net increase (decrease) in restricted assets during the period

Unexpended and held as restricted assets

Comprising:
  – Specific purpose unexpended grants
  – Developer contributions 85              

–                

36              

–                

2016 2015

967            
–                
–                

7,993      

(505)           

745            

–                
–                

–                –                

–                

–                

–                
5                

2015

12              

714            

–                
–                

Operating 

–                

352            

24              

17

Operating 

590          

3                

748          970          

Actual 

–                

2,586      

590            

7                

598            

–                

2015

–                
–                

748            

11              

28              

2016

824          

6,889      

781            
–                3                

121          

2016

496            

988         

503          
970            

–                
43              

121            

75              

(8)               

29              94              

10              

505            

14              

36              

Actual 

–                

Capital Capital 

(83)             

7                
27              

590            

(469)           

85              
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations

$ ’000

(a) Employee benefits and on-costs

Salaries and wages
Travel expenses
Employee leave entitlements (ELE)
ELE on-costs
Superannuation – defined contribution plans
Superannuation – defined benefit plans
Workers’ compensation insurance
Fringe benefit tax (FBT)

Training costs (other than salaries and wages)
Protective clothing
Other
Total employee costs
Less: capitalised costs
TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS EXPENSED

Number of ‘full-time equivalent’ employees (FTE) at year end

(b) Borrowing costs

(i) Interest bearing liability costs
Interest on loans
Total interest bearing liability costs expensed

(ii) Other borrowing costs
Discount adjustments relating to movements in provisions (other than ELE)
  – Remediation liabilities
Total other borrowing costs
TOTAL BORROWING COSTS EXPENSED

(c) Materials and contracts

Raw materials and consumables
Contractor and consultancy costs
  – Domestic waste and recycling collection contract
Auditors remuneration (1)

Legal expenses:
  – Legal expenses: planning and development
  – Legal expenses: debt recovery
Other
TOTAL MATERIALS AND CONTRACTS

10                 26

84                  

133               

1,010            

12                 

173               

73                 

2,506            

2016

77                 

6,321            

4                   

6                   

–                   
3,031        

82                 
37                 

85                  

8                   

2,383            

20                 

Notes

4                   24                 

7                   

11                 

10                 

214               

133               

Actual 

77                 

117               

406               

Actual 

49                 

309               

87             

–                   

(818)              

–                   

1,024            

2015

25                 

447               
191               

8,113            

8                   

(1,456)           
7,188        

8,644            

388               

7,295        

2,860        

400               
21                 

5,702            

27                 

203               

55                 

49                 

57             

10                 

170               
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Materials and contracts (continued)

Auditor remuneration
  During the year, the following fees were incurred for services provided by

the Council’s Auditor:

Audit and other assurance services
     – Audit and review of financial statements: RSD Chartered Accountants
Remuneration for audit and other assurance services

Total Auditor remuneration

$ ’000

(d) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Land improvements (depreciable)
Infrastructure:
  – Buildings – non-specialised
  – Buildings – specialised
  – Roads
  – Bridges
  – Footpaths
  – Stormwater drainage
  – Water supply network
  – Sewerage network
  – Swimming pools
  – Other open space/recreational assets
Other assets
  – Heritage collections
  – Library books
  – Other
Asset reinstatement costs
Total depreciation and impairment costs
Less: IPP&E impairments (to)/from equity
TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT COSTS EXPENSED

7                –                

555            

(410)           
410            

–             

170            

(410)           

Actual 

–                
–                

–                

–                

–                

21                 

–                

–                

–                

–                

2015

–             

88              

–                
677            

–                

–                –                

(410)           

66              

15              

Impairment costs    

–                

Notes

Actual 

71              –                

2016

Actual 

–                –                

–                

–                

20                 

598            

21                 
21                 

15              

–                
–                

Actual 

–                
–                

23              

107            
64              

–                
–                

702            

215            
–                
–                

Notes

–                

–                
410            

410            9a

5,758      

9 & 26

–                
–                

20                 

Actual 
2016 2015

20                 

–                
5,758         

574            

1                
19              

2,382         2,275         

–                

Actual 
2016

5,741      

602            

2015

66              

17              
80              

5,741         

23              

8                

708            

203            

Depreciation/amortisation 

107            
63              

161            

769            
67              

1                
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Note 4. Expenses from continuing operations (continued)

$ ’000

(e) Other expenses

Other expenses for the year include the following:

Advertising
Bad and doubtful debts
Bank charges
Cleaning
Contributions/levies to other levels of government
  – Emergency Services levy (includes FRNSW, SES, and RFS levies)

  – NSW Fire Brigade levy
  – NSW Rural Fire service levy
Councillor expenses – mayoral fee
Councillor expenses – councillors’ fees
Councillors’ expenses (incl. mayor) – other (excluding fees above)
Donations, contributions and assistance to other organisations (Section 356)

  – Central Murray County Council
  – Heritage and cultural programs
  – Public halls and community facilities
  – RAMROC
  – Sporting grounds
  – Swimming pools
  – Tourism and area promotion
  – Other
Electricity and heating
Insurance
Street lighting
Subscriptions and publications
Telephone and communications
Valuation fees
Other
TOTAL OTHER EXPENSES

Notes

39                 
51                 

133               

4                   

80                 

2016

21                 

15                 

25                 

48                 

25                 

80                 

120               

65                 

44                 

1,941        

41                 

192               

Actual 

86                 

Actual 
2015

117               

361               
367               

88                 

–                   

349               

50                 

21                 

–                   

–                   

40                 

22                 
14                 
61                 

108               

135               

6                   

34                 

47                 

–                   

58                 

326               

23                 

5                   

14                 

4                   

61                 
98                 
20                 

186               

–                   

62                 

12                 

12                 

24                 

158               
2,003        

(8)                  
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Note 5. Gains or losses from the disposal of assets

$ ’000

Property   (excl. investment property)
Proceeds from disposal – property
Less: carrying amount of property assets sold/written off
Net gain/(loss) on disposal

Plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal – plant and equipment
Less: carrying amount of plant and equipment assets sold/written off
Net gain/(loss) on disposal

Infrastructure
Proceeds from disposal – infrastructure
Less: carrying amount of infrastructure assets sold/written off
Net gain/(loss) on disposal

Real estate assets held for sale
Proceeds from disposal – real estate assets
Less: carrying amount of real estate assets sold/written off
Net gain/(loss) on disposal

NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

36                 

Actual 
Notes

49                 

52                 

140               

–                   

–                   

330               

–                   

(43)                
9                   

Actual 

(36)                

49                 

198           

2016

(190)              

129           

–                   

157               

–                   

(5)                  

–                   

2015

(5)                  

(23)                

(145)              

227               

302               

(250)              
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Note 6a. – Cash assets and Note 6b. – investments

$ ’000

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6a)
Cash on hand and at bank
Cash-equivalent assets 1

  – Deposits at call
Total cash and cash equivalents

Investments (Note 6b)
  – Long term deposits
Total investments
TOTAL CASH ASSETS, CASH
EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

1 Those investments where time to maturity (from date of purchase) is < 3 mths.

Cash, cash equivalents and investments were
classified at year end in accordance with
AASB 139 as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
a. ‘At fair value through the profit and loss’

Investments
b. ‘Held to maturity’
Investments

Note 6(b-i)
Reconciliation of investments
classified as ‘held to maturity’
Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions
Balance at end of year

Comprising:
– Long term deposits

Total

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of investments held.

Notes

2016
Actual 

Current 
Actual 

4,125         
–                2,000         

2015

Current 

–                

2,125         

2,630         

–                

–                

16,630       

–             

–                

19,630       

23,755    

–                
–                

14,000       –                

19,630       
19,630       –                

19,630       

–                

16,630       

6(b-i)
19,630       

4,125         

3,000         

19,630       

19,630       

Actual 

16,630       

Non-current 

–                

–                

2016

–                

–                

–                

–                

–                

4,691         

Non-current 

4,691         

Actual 
2015

16,630       

–             

–                

21,321    

–                –                4,691         

–                

–                

16,630       

–                

–                
–                

–                

–                

16,630       
16,630       

16,630       
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Note 6c. Restricted cash, cash equivalents and investments – details

$ ’000

Total cash, cash equivalents
and investments

attributable to:
External restrictions (refer below)
Internal restrictions (refer below)
Unrestricted

$ ’000

Details of restrictions

External restrictions – included in liabilities
Nil

External restrictions – other
Developer contributions – general (D)
Specific purpose unexpended grants (F)
Water supplies (G)
Sewerage services (G)
Domestic waste management (G)
Other
External restrictions – other
Total external restrictions

Internal restrictions
Plant and vehicle replacement
Employees leave entitlement
Aerodrome
Capital works reserve
Finley saleyard
Levee bank construction
Tourism events
Information Technology
Risk Management
Total internal restrictions
TOTAL RESTRICTIONS

D Development contributions which are not yet expended for the provision of services and amenities in accordance
with contributions plans (refer Note 17). 

F Grants which are not yet expended for the purposes for which the grants were obtained. (refer Note 1 (b)) 
G Water, sewerage, domestic waste management (DWM) and other special rates/levies/charges are externally

restricted assets and must be applied for the purposes for which they were raised.

6,415         

85              

Transfers to 

16              

1,543         

Actual 
2016

–                

–             

(436)           

balance 

–                

300            

99              

–                
389            

–                

794            

187            

272            
60              

–                
–                

–                

5,816         

1,761         

–                

–                

14,018       

–                

–                

(475)           

–                
–                

–                

36              

191            –                

–                

(39)             

3,112         

restrictions 

–             

Non-current 

2,039         

restrictions 

945            5,471         

389            

15,616     

100            

–                187            

60              

1,414         

12,504       

727            

284            

–                

191            
287            1,474         

162            

3,453       

–                

99              

2,039         

–                

300            

Actual 

14,018       

5,211         

23,755    

balance 

12,504       

Current 

85              

18,544     (475)         

172            

4,526         

5,022         

505            

23,755       –                

–                

540            1,267         

123            

–                

14,018       

1,259         

(475)           

2015
Actual 

12,504       

21,321    

–                

–                
–                

2015

–                
3,112         

2016 Closing Transfers from 

–                4,526         

21,321       

–                

5,706         

Opening 

–                

2016

Current 
Actual 

Non-current 
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Note 7. Receivables

$ ’000

Purpose
Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Accrued revenues
  – Interest on investments
  – Other income accruals
Deferred debtors
Net GST receivable
Total

Less: provision for impairment
User charges and fees
Total provision for impairment – receivables

TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Externally restricted receivables
Water supply
 – Rates and availability charges
 – Other
Sewerage services
 – Other
Total external restrictions
Internally restricted receivables
Nil
Unrestricted receivables
TOTAL NET RECEIVABLES

Notes on debtors above:
(i)   Rates and annual charges outstanding are secured against the property.

(ii)  Doubtful rates debtors are provided for where the value of the property is less than the debt outstanding.
      An allowance for other doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that a receivable is impaired.

(iii) Interest was charged on overdue rates and charges at 8.50% (2015 8.50%).
Generally all other receivables are non-interest bearing.

(iv) Please refer to Note 15 for issues concerning credit risk and fair value disclosures.

–                

416            

–                

–                

–                

–                
–                

102            

174            

102         

46              

Non-current 

–                –                

–                

1,377      

(18)             –                

–                

1,395         –                

–                

153            

1,230      

129            

27              

Non-current 

1,248         

–                
315            

678            

Current 

81              

(18)             

342            

Current 

79              

(18)             

856            
1,377      

217            –                

–                

1,230      

104            35              

–                
–             

521            

–                212            

381            
–                

102         

–                

102            

205            

(18)             

849            

–             

–                

102            

–                

–                

–                

–                

Notes

–                

2016

332            

2015
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Note 8. Inventories and other assets

$ ’000

(a) Inventories

(i) Inventories at cost
Real estate for resale (refer below)
Stores and materials
Total inventories at cost

(ii) Inventories at net realisable value (NRV)
Nil

TOTAL INVENTORIES

(b) Other assets

Prepayments
TOTAL OTHER ASSETS

Externally restricted assets

Water
Stores and materials
Total water

Sewerage
Stores and materials
Total sewerage

Domestic waste management
Nil

Other
Nil

Total externally restricted assets
Total internally restricted assets
Total unrestricted assets
TOTAL INVENTORIES AND OTHER ASSETS

–                

–                

–             

37              

–                27              

185         

4                

223            

185            

223         

Notes

–                
95              

317            

42              
–                

185            

–                

250            257            
257            

27           

185            

–                

359            

–                

–                
–                

37              

–                

331         

–                

91              
91              

–                

Current 

186            

28              

5                

–                

–                
223            

331            
–                

185            

2016
Current 

257            

Non-current Non-current 

4                
–                

–                

155            

5                

–                

–             28           

257         

257            

2015

145            
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Note 8. Inventories and other assets (continued)

$ ’000

(i) Other disclosures

(a) Details for real estate development
Residential
Total real estate for resale
(Valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value)

Represented by:
Acquisition costs
Total costs
Total real estate for resale

Movements:
Real estate assets at beginning of the year
 – Purchases and other costs
 – Transfers in from (out to) Note 9
 – WDV of sales (expense)
 – Transfer between current/non-current
 – Other
Total real estate for resale

(b) Inventory write downs

$7,694 was recognised as an expense relating to the write down of inventory balances held during the year.

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of other assets held.

(257)           

257            
–                

(145)           –                

–                

–                
229            

–                
4                

145            

257            

–                

–                
45              –                –                (72)             

–                
185            

257            

257            

145            

Current 

185            

–                
–                

–                
(190)           5

–                

185            

–                

–                

185            

145            

257            145            

–                

257            145            

314            

145            257            

257            –                

185            

185            

Non-current 

145            

2016
Non-current Current 

2015

–                
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Note 9a. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

At At Carrying At At Carrying

$ ’000 cost fair value depreciation impairment value cost fair value depreciation impairment value

 Capital work in progress 408            –                –                –                408            –              –              –              –                –              2,852       –                  –              –              3,260         –                –                –                3,260         
 Plant and equipment –                7,730         5,173         –                2,557         652          –              (43)           (702)           –              –              –                  (41)           –              –                7,157         4,734         –                2,423         
 Office equipment –                966            744            –                222            4              3              –              (67)             –              –              10                –              –              –                984            813            –                171            
 Land:
   –  Operational land –                6,685         –                –                6,685         –              –              (36)           –                –              –              178              –              43            –                6,869         –                –                6,869         
   –  Community land –                359            –                –                359            –              –              –              –                –              –              (178)            –              139          –                320            –                –                320            
   –  Land under roads (post 30/6/08) –                21              –                –                21              –              –              –              –                –              –              –                  –              –              –                21              –                –                21              
 Land improvements – depreciable –                605            114            –                491            –              30            –              (23)             –              –              –                  –              –              –                635            137            –                498            
 Infrastructure:
   –  Buildings – non-specialised –                774            231            –                543            –              –              –              (15)             –              –              –                  –              –              –                774            246            –                528            
   –  Buildings – specialised –                35,152       16,972       –                18,180       151          –              –              (677)           410          –              –                  (410)         417          –                37,170       19,099       –                18,071       
   –  Roads –                144,901     36,288       –                108,613     5,959       27            –              (2,382)        –              (2,593)      –                  (847)         –              –                149,769     40,992       –                108,777     
   –  Bridges –                7,975         4,073         –                3,902         –              –              –              (107)           –              –              –                  (68)           –              –                7,975         4,247         –                3,728         
   –  Footpaths –                4,122         950            –                3,172         –              38            –              (64)             –              (2)             –                  (50)           –              –                4,141         1,046         –                3,095         
   –  Bulk earthworks (non-depreciable) –                2,976         –                –                2,976         –              –              –              –                –              –              –                  –              –              –                2,976         –                –                2,976         
   –  Stormwater drainage –                19,277       3,850         –                15,427       –              1,347       –              (215)           –              (231)         –                  –              (63)           –                20,477       4,212         –                16,265       
   –  Water supply network –                42,627       16,488       –                26,139       201          –              –              (602)           –              (4)             –                  (132)         –              –                43,324       17,722       –                25,602       
   –  Sewerage network –                37,131       21,712       –                15,419       171          4              –              (555)           –              –              –                  (209)         –              –                37,737       22,908       –                14,829       
   –  Swimming pools –                2,838         1,130         –                1,708         31            –              –              (66)             –              –              –                  –              2              –                2,901         1,226         –                1,675         
   –  Other open space/recreational assets –                7,497         3,560         –                3,937         169          –              –              (170)           –              –              –                  (310)         –              –                7,629         4,003         –                3,626         
 Other assets:
   –  Heritage collections –                70              19              –                51              –              –              –              (1)               –              –              –                  –              20            –                70              –                –                70              
   –  Library books –                878            686            –                192            –              31            –              (17)             –              –              (10)              –              –              –                871            675            –                196            
   –  Other –                7,348         4,663         –                2,685         45            205          –              (88)             –              (22)           –                  (166)         –              –                8,387         5,727         –                2,660         
Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration 
assets (refer Note 26):
   –  Tip assets –                134            52              –                82              –              –              –              (4)               –              –              –                  –              42            –                176            56              –                120            
   –  Quarry assets –                35              17              –                18              –              –              –              (3)               –              –              –                  –              7              –                42              20              –                22              
TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE,
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIP.

Renewals are defined as the replacement of existing assets (as opposed to the acquisition of new assets).

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of other infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

as at 30/6/2016

Accumulated

410           –               –                   215,802       (2,232)       607           3,260           340,405       127,863       –                  7,383        (79)            (5,758)         1,684        

as at 30/6/2015
Asset movements during the reporting period

Accumulated
Impairment  

reversal
(via equity)

WIP
transfers

Adjustments
and transfers

Additions
new assets

Additions
renewals

Carrying 
value

of disposals

Depreciation 
expense

Revaluation 
decrements

to equity 
(ARR)

Revaluation 
increments

to equity 
(ARR)

408              330,101       116,722       –                  213,787       
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Note 9b. Externally restricted infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

Note 9c. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment – current year
                impairments

$ ’000

(i) Impairment losses recognised direct to equity (ARR):

Finley War Memorial Hall is set to be demolished – initially recognised via ARR
Total impairment losses

(ii) Reversals of impairment losses previously recognised
    direct to equity (ARR):

Finley War Memorial Hall re-instated
Total impairment reversals
IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS – DIRECT to EQUITY (ARR)

83,735    

 Other assets –              

TOTAL RESTRICTED I,PP&E
801           

–             
 Total DWM –              391           

 Buildings 2              

 Buildings

   – Operational land

 Domestic waste management

410         

22,827      14,365    

23,040      

1              

 Plant and equipment

 Infrastructure

   – Improvements - depreciable
143           

1,174        

57             

–              
26,336    

12           45             
155           

–              

 Land

–              

–               Office equipment

38,704      

 Plant and equipment

–              

–              

276           –              
–              

–              

–              

37,192      –              

–              

–              

17             

2016

cost

1             

60           

–              1,174      

At A/Dep &

–              

–              

207           

5              

 Land

–              

$ ’000

 Total sewerage services

 Class of asset

 Water supply
 WIP

 Infrastructure

   – Operational land

 Plant and equipment
 Land

   – Operational land

 Total water supply

 Buildings

–              

 Other assets

Actual

At

   – Community land

 Sewerage services

–              

72              Other assets

2016Notes
Actual 

(410)          

353           
304           

24           

112           –              
92             

163         100           
–              24             –              

143           
246           –              

–              

167           
–              

–              
113           
94             49           

766           

–             –              

174         341           

24             

17             

–              

17,894      –              

–              
25,602    

–              

43,324      

–              
545         

17,722      
6              

545           

44,230      
169           

15,664    
12             

–              
20             

–             

impairm’tfair value

1             

545           –              

7              7              

180           

fair value

159           

–              
52           

A/Dep & Carrying 
valuecost

7              

At

21           

545         

Carrying 
value

At

–             

–              

180           
–              

impairm’t

26,141    –              

–              

–              163         

5             –              –              
6              

156           

–              

42,627      

–              
–              

–              20           
24           

–             

38,273      

24           

–             

26,747    
3              

43,398      

17           

16,279    21,994      

–              

98             
40             

16           

57             

1,174        

16,651      

–              

57             

164           –              

2              –              

–              

1,174      

–              –              

40             17           

1              1             

462         –              
241         

146         

43,488    42,410    

–                   (410)              

410               

Actual 
2015

38,949    41,325    

20 (ii)

19             
16,486      

21,815      15,004    36,819      

Actual
2015

66           

51           

410               

(410)              

–             82,437    

–                   
–                   

–                   

410           
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Note 10a. Payables, borrowings and provisions

$ ’000

Payables
Goods and services – operating expenditure
Payments received In advance
Accrued expenses:
  – Salaries and wages
  – Other expenditure accruals
Security bonds, deposits and retentions
Total payables

Borrowings
Loans – secured 1

Total borrowings

Provisions
Employee benefits:
Annual leave
Long service leave
Other leave
Sub-total – aggregate employee benefits
Asset remediation/restoration (future works)

Total provisions

(i) Liabilities relating to restricted assets

Externally restricted assets
Water
Liabilities relating to externally restricted assets

Internally restricted assets
Nil

Total liabilities relating to restricted assets
Total liabilities relating to unrestricted assets

1. Loans are secured over the general rating income of Council
    Disclosures on liability interest rate risk exposures, fair value disclosures and security can be found in Note 15.

–                

17              

–                

253            

1,490         

–                

–                

2016

635            964            

1,551         

1                

Non-current Current Non-current 

40              17              

140            
–                

314            

2015
Current 

–                

2,641         

1,297         

4,251      

224            

Current 

75              

–                
–                

158            

(3)               

Notes

99              

66              
–                1,485         

1,297         261            

929            

26

1,593         

253            261            

1,651      

–                

Current 

2,641              72                   

111            

TOTAL PAYABLES, BORROWINGS 
AND PROVISIONS

973            

–                72              

282            

1,871      

303            

1,651      

1,551         

3,707         
116            –                

3,823      

–                

4,125         

1,871      

–                943            

Non-current 
2015

–                

4,251      

–                
72              

79                   

354            
–                

3,823      

–                

111            

Non-current 

–                

111            

126            

126            
126            

2,505              

79              

2016

116            
116            

2,505         

TOTAL PAYABLES, BORROWINGS AND 
PROVISIONS

1,651         1,760         
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Note 10a. Payables, borrowings and provisions (continued)

$ ’000

(ii) Current liabilities not anticipated to be settled within the next twelve months

The following liabilities, even though classified as current, are not expected
to be settled in the next 12 months.

Provisions – employees benefits

Note 10b. Description of and movements in provisions

a. Employees leave entitlements and on-costs represents those benefits accrued and payable and an estimate of 
those that will become payable in the future as a result of past service.

b. Asset remediation, reinstatement and restoration provisions represent the present value estimate of future costs 
Council will incur in order to remove, restore and remediate assets and/or activities as a result of past operations.

75                 

2,995            

1,665            

2,183         

Actual

(700)              

366               –                   

2,183         1,860         

973               

Actual
2015

2015

–                   Other leave (enter detai

457               
1,569            

–                   

Additional 
provisions

72                 
Asset remediation

(270)              
Annual leave –                   

(3)                  
224               

(427)              

2,808            887               

Opening
balance

as at 1/7/15

–                   

Long service leave
943               

TOTAL
58                 

–                   

2016

Class of provision

–                   
–                   

–                   

6                   

Closing
balance

as at 30/6/16

Remeasurement 
effects due to 

discounting

–                   

2016

–                   

Decrease due to 
payments

282               

1,860         

Unused 
amounts 
reversed
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Note 11. Statement of cash flows – additional information

$ ’000

(a) Reconciliation of cash assets

Total cash and cash equivalent assets
Less bank overdraft
Balance as per the Statement of Cash Flows

(b) Reconciliation of net operating result
     to cash provided from operating activities

Net operating result from Income Statement
Adjust for non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net losses/(gains) on disposal of assets
Losses/(gains) recognised on fair value re-measurements through the P&L:
  – Other
Unwinding of discount rates on reinstatement provisions

+/- Movement in operating assets and liabilities and other cash items:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables
Increase/(decrease) in provision for doubtful debts
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Increase/(decrease) in payables
Increase/(decrease) in other accrued expenses payable
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in employee leave entitlements
Net cash provided from/(used in)
operating activities from the Statement of Cash Flows

(c) Non-cash investing and financing activities

Nil

(d) Financing arrangements

Nil

(e) Bank guarantees

Nil

2016

(198)              

11,201          

2015Notes

5,882            

180               

129               

39                 

(129)              

–                   
14                 

4,125            4,691            

5,758            

2,490            

–                   

(37)                

58                 –                   

8,706            

281               

(38)                

(329)              
1                   

(74)                
25                 

1                   

372               

(15)                

(25)                
(219)              

5,741            

Actual 

10

6a 4,691            4,125            
–                   –                   

Actual 
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Note 12. Commitments for expenditure

$ ’000

(a) Capital commitments (exclusive of GST)

Capital expenditure committed for at the reporting date but not
recognised in the financial statements as liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings
Plant and equipment
Water infrastructure
Roadworks
Sewer Infrastructure
Levee 
Drainage
Total commitments

These expenditures are payable as follows:
Within the next year
Total payable

Sources for funding of capital commitments:
Unrestricted general funds
Future grants and contributions
Externally restricted reserves
Internally restricted reserves
Unexpended loans
Total sources of funding

(b) Finance lease commitments

Nil

(c) Operating lease commitments (non-cancellable)

Nil

(d) Investment property commitments

Nil

9                   

Notes

452               

863               122               
107               

–                   

1,361            452               

Actual 

67                 

308               
11                 

–                   

1,361            

946               

–                   

452               

78                 

104               

79                 28                 

288               
144               

1,361            

–                   108               

2016

121               
79                 

–                   

20                 
144               

Actual 

452               
1,361            

2015
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Note 13a(i). Statement of performance measurement – indicators (consolidated)

$ ’000

Local government industry indicators – consolidated

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital
grants and contributions less operating expenses
Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital
grants and contributions

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1)

excluding all grants and contributions
Total continuing operating revenue (1)

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions (2)

Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities (3, 4)

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result (1) before capital excluding interest
and depreciation/impairment/amortisation
Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows)
plus borrowing costs (Income Statement)

5. Rates, annual charges, interest and
    extra charges outstanding percentage
Rates, annual and extra charges outstanding
Rates, annual and extra charges collectible

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents
plus all term deposits
Payments from cash flow of operating and
financing activities

Notes

(1) Excludes fair value adjustments and reversal of revaluation decrements,
     net gain/(loss) on sale of assets and the net share of interests in joint ventures and associates.
(2) Refer Notes 6-8 inclusive.
     Also excludes any real estate and land for resale not expected to be sold in the next 12 months.
(3) Refer to Note 10(a).
(4) Refer to Note 10(a)(ii) – excludes all payables and provisions not expected to be paid in the next 12 months (incl. ELE).

Amounts

19.97 
mths

31.31x

63.99%

8,943        

19.9 mths

2015

4.05x

3,098        

26.03x

14.68%

13,110      61.23%

Indicator

21,103      

349           

4.44%

x12

4.19x

2016

1,524        
10,741      7.05x

2014

23,689      

2016

-9.78%7.10%

55.34%

5.05%

Prior periods

25.63x

3.53%
9,702        

1,189        
23,755      

342           

13.6 mths
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Note 13a(ii). Local government industry indicators – graphs (consolidated)

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >=0.00% Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >=60.00% Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >=1.50 Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Commentary on 2015/16 result

Commentary on 2015/16 result

2015/16 ratio      7.05x

Commentary on 2015/16 result

The last two years have seen the Council 
meet the set benchmark for this ratio. The 

2014 result is anomalous because of a 
issue relating to the timing receipt of the 

Council's annual Federal Financial 
Assistance Grant.

2015/16 ratio      55.34%

The Council has met this benchmark over 
the previous three years. Somewhat 
ironically this year, as a result of the 
Council's success in attracting grant 

funding for the upgrade of its infrastructure, 
the Council's own source funding falls 

below the benchmark.

Purpose of own 
source operating 

revenue ratio

The Council continues to meet benchmarks 
for this ratio indicating it has adequate 

liquidity and working capital. The growth 
this year is partly the result of deferring 
some capital works funded from its own 

resources to complete grant-funded 
projects.

Purpose of 
unrestricted current 

ratio

This ratio measures 
Council’s 

achievement of 
containing operating 
expenditure within 
operating revenue.

This ratio measures 
fiscal flexibility. It is 

the degree of reliance 
on external funding 

sources such as 
operating grants and 

contributions.

To assess the 
adequacy of working 
capital and its ability 
to satisfy obligations 
in the short term for 

the unrestricted 
activities of Council.

2015/16 ratio      14.68%

Purpose of 
operating 

performance ratio
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Note 13a(ii). Local government industry indicators – graphs (consolidated)

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >=2.00 Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Maximum  <10.00% Ratio is within Benchmark
Source for Benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside Benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >=3.00 Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

2015/16 ratio      25.63x

Council continues to comfortably meet this 
benchmark. The low level of indebtedness 
allowed the Council to take on additional 
debt in 2014/15 to accelerate some of its 

stormwater drainage program.

This ratio measures 
the availability of 
operating cash to 

service debt including 
interest, principal and 

lease payments 

Purpose of debt 
service cover ratio

Purpose of rates 
and annual charges 

outstanding ratio

Commentary on 2015/16 result

To assess the impact 
of uncollected rates 
and annual charges 
on Council’s liquidity 
and the adequacy of 

recovery efforts.

The Council continues to improve in this 
area from an alreay excellent result. 

Efficient collection of rates and charges 
owing assists with Council's liquidity and 

maintains equity across ratepayers.

Purpose of cash 
expense cover ratio

Commentary on 2015/16 result

2015/16 ratio      19.97 mths

This liquidity ratio 
indicates the number 
of months a Council 
can continue paying 

for its immediate 
expenses without 

additional cash inflow. 

2015/16 ratio      3.53%

Commentary on 2015/16 result

Council continues to maintain more than 
adequate cah reserves.
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Note 13b. Statement of performance measurement – indicators (by fund)

$ ’000

Local government industry indicators – by fund

1. Operating performance ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital
grants and contributions less operating expenses
Total continuing operating revenue (1) excluding capital
grants and contributions

2. Own source operating revenue ratio
Total continuing operating revenue (1)

excluding all grants and contributions
Total continuing operating revenue (1)

3. Unrestricted current ratio
Current assets less all external restrictions (2)

Current liabilities less specific purpose liabilities (3, 4)

4. Debt service cover ratio
Operating result (1) before capital excluding interest
and depreciation/impairment/amortisation
Principal repayments (Statement of Cash Flows)
plus borrowing costs (Income Statement)

5. Rates, annual charges, interest and
    extra charges outstanding percentage
Rates, annual and extra charges outstanding
Rates, annual and extra charges collectible

6. Cash expense cover ratio
Current year’s cash and cash equivalents
plus all term deposits
Payments from cash flow of operating and
financing activities

Notes

(1) - (4) Refer to Notes at Note 13a(i) above.
(5) General fund refers to all of Council’s activities except for its water and sewer activities which are listed separately.

23.19

prior period:

41.84%

prior period:

Water

9.45

97.65% 48.73%prior period: 98.30%

prior period:

58.26x

46.22x

71.25x

2016

0.00%

4.19x

mths mths

5.03%

17.72 
mths

21.56 
mths

0.00

2016

24.55x

x12

97.60%

0.00%

114.83x

1.93%

21.22%

7.05x

13.53%

mths

5.23%6.10%

2016

prior period:

20.02x

prior period: 24.98% 1.15%

98.72%

0.00x

General 5Sewer

3.84%

13.33 
mths

No 
liabilities

No liabilities

11.95%

9.55
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Note 14. Investment properties

$ ’000

Council has not classified any land or buildings as ‘investment properties’.

Note 15. Financial risk management

Risk management

Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including (1) price risk, (2) credit risk, (3) liquidity risk
and (4) interest rate risk.

The Council’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Council.

Council does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign
currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by Council’s finance section under policies approved by the Council.

A comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of Council’s financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the financial statements is presented below.

$ ’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
 – ‘Held to maturity’
Receivables
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Payables
Loans/advances
Total financial liabilities

Fair value is determined as follows:

– Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables – are estimated to be the carrying value that approximates 
   market value.

– Borrowings and held-to-maturity investments – are based upon estimated future cash flows discounted by the current
  mkt interest rates applicable to assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles, unless quoted market prices are available.

– Financial assets classified (i) ‘at fair value through profit and loss’ or (ii) ‘available-for-sale’ – are based upon quoted
  market prices (in active markets for identical investments) at the reporting date or independent valuation.

Refer to Note 27. Fair value measurement for information regarding the fair value of financial assets and liabilities.

Notes

2016

1,362        

2,321       

1,230       

4,125       

1,230       
19,630     

771          
1,550       

24,985     24,985     

3,174       
1,812        

2015

1,479        

1,362        
1,550       

16,630      

Actual Actual 

20152015

4,125       

771          

22,810     
1,489        

19,630     

3,173       

Carrying value     

22,800     

4,691        

1,811        

16,630      

2,321       

2016

4,691        

Fair value            

2016
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Note 15. Financial risk management (continued)

$ ’000

Council’s objective is to maximise its return on cash and investments whilst maintaining an adequate level of
liquidity and preserving capital.

The risks associated with the investments held are:

– Price risk – the risk that the capital value of Investments may fluctuate due to changes in market prices,
  whether there changes are caused by factors specific to individual financial instruments or their issuers
  or are caused by factors affecting similar instruments traded in a market.

– Interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could affect returns and income.

– Credit risk – the risk that the investment counterparty will not complete their obligations particular to a
  financial instrument, resulting in a financial loss to Council – be it of a capital or income nature.

Council manages these risks (amongst other measures) by diversifying its portfolio and only purchasing
investments with high credit ratings or capital guarantees.

(a) Market risk – price risk and interest rate risk

The following represents a summary of the sensitivity of Council’s Income Statement and accumulated surplus
(for the reporting period) due to a change in either the price of a financial asset or the interest rates applicable.

It is assumed that the change in interest rates would have been constant throughout the reporting period. 

$ ’000
2016
Possible impact of a 1% movement in interest rates

2015
Possible impact of a 1% movement in interest rates

237            
Equity 

(237)           237            

213            (213)           

Profit 
Decrease of values/ratesIncrease of values/rates

Profit Equity 
(237)           

(213)           213            
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Note 15. Financial risk management (continued)

$ ’000

(b) Credit risk

Council’s major receivables comprise (i) rates and annual charges and (ii) user charges and fees.

The major risk associated with these receivables is credit risk – the risk that debts due and payable to Council
may not be repaid in full.

Council manages this risk by monitoring outstanding debt and employing stringent debt recovery procedures.
It also encourages ratepayers to pay their rates by the due date through incentives.

Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of Council to secure a charge over the land
relating to the debts – that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. Council is also able to charge interest
on overdue rates and annual charges at higher than market rates which further encourages the payment of debt.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk, whether through exposure to individual customers,
specific industry sectors and/or regions.

The level of outstanding receivables is reported to Council monthly and benchmarks are set and monitored for
acceptable collection performance.

Council makes suitable provision for doubtful receivables as required and carries out credit checks on most
non-rate debtors.

There are no material receivables that have been subjected to a re-negotiation of repayment terms.

A profile of Council’s receivables credit risk at balance date follows:

(i) Ageing of receivables – %
Current (not yet overdue)
Overdue

(ii) Ageing of receivables – value
Rates and annual charges Other receivables
Current Current
< 1 year overdue 0 – 30 days overdue
1 – 2 years overdue 30 – 60 days overdue
2 – 5 years overdue 60 – 90 days overdue
> 5 years overdue > 90 days overdue

(iii) Movement in provision for impairment
      of receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year
– amounts provided for but recovered during the year
– previous impairment losses reversed
Balance at the end of the year

69%

–                

charges 
Other 

63%

20              

(2)               
(13)             

100%

annual Other 

261            

31%

2015

19              
38              

362            

Rates and 

receivables charges 

100%

18              

2015

663            

73              

2016

221            

Rates and 
annual 

22%

Rates and 

annual 

300            

100%

416            

47              

2015

33              

342            

2016

annual Other 

Rates and 

charges receivables charges receivables 

receivables 

4                
20              26              

4                

15              

906            

2016

–                

56              

98              

50% 78%

1,081         

50%

349            
51              

100%

Other 

18              

37%

118            

18              
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Note 15. Financial risk management (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Liquidity risk

Payables and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk – the risk that insufficient funds may be on hand to meet
payment obligations as and when they fall due.

Council manages this risk by monitoring its cash flow requirements and liquidity levels and maintaining an
adequate cash buffer.

Payment terms can (in extenuating circumstances) also be extended and overdraft facilities utilised as required.

The contractual undiscounted cash outflows (ie. principal and interest) of Council’s payables and borrowings are
set out in the maturity table below:

$ ’000

Trade/other payables
Loans and advances
Total financial liabilities

Trade/other payables
Loans and advances
Total financial liabilities

Borrowings are also subject to interest rate risk – the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely
affect funding costs and debt servicing requirements. Council manages this risk through the diversification of
borrowing types, maturities and interest rate structures.

The following interest rates were applicable
to Council’s borrowings at balance date:

Trade/other payables
Loans and advances – fixed interest rate

83         

≤ 1 Year > 5 Yrs2-3 Yrs

ActualTotal

–           1,279    

–           

200       

200       

Subject

maturity

200       

–           

200       

240       

to no
3-4 Yrs

200       

1-2 Yrs

–           

1,743    

2,140    

1,362    

357       

200       

1,362         
1,550         

1,550    
771      731       

83         

–           464       

200       

931       

–           

–           771       

2,321         
4.26% 1,812         

200       

Average
value

3,174         

550       

interest rate
Carrying

719       

–           

200       

771            0.00%

2,321    

2016

1,812    

1,750    

–           

200       

0.00%

interest rate

719       

200       

200       

4.80%

value

2015
Carrying

3,502    

2015

2016
–           40         

values

200       

550       

4-5 Yrs
carrying

200       

–           

200       2,521    

cash

200       

outflows
payable in:

1,362    

3,174    

357       

Average
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Note 16. Material budget variations

$ ’000

Council’s original financial budget for 15/16 was adopted by the Council on 15 June 2016.

While the Income Statement included in this General Purpose Financial Report must disclose the original
budget adopted by Council, the Local Government Act  1993  requires Council to review its financial budget on a
quarterly basis, so that it is able to manage the various variations between actuals versus budget that
invariably occur throughout the year.

This note sets out the details of material variations between Council’s original budget and its actual
results for the year as per the Income Statement – even though such variations may have been adjusted for
during each quarterly budget review.

Note that for variations* of budget to actual :
Material variations represent those variances that amount to 10% or more of the original budgeted figure.
F = Favourable budget variation, U = Unfavourable budget variation

$ ’000

REVENUES
Rates and annual charges

User charges and fees
Water consumption was greater than expected, as was non-domestic waste collection. Building, planning and
rates certificates all exceeded budgeted expectations, as did water connection revenue - a result of increased
development in Berrigan Shire.

Interest and investment revenue
The Council is traditionally conservatve when budgeting for interest investment revenue. The Council cash holdings
have increased over the financial year.

Other revenues
Sales of high security water are conservatively included in the council original budget.

Operating grants and contributions
Additional Roads to Recovery funding was alocated to Berrigan Shire Council in 2015/16, which the Council was 
required to spend this financial year.

Capital grants and contributions
The Council has not completed the Silo Rd project funded under Fixing Country Roads, this is expected to be 
completed in late 2016, when the balance of the grant will be claimed.

Net gains from disposal of assets
The Council made an additional $140,000 profit on the sale of developed land over and above cost of development
at Tocumwal Aerodrome and Finley St subdivisions.

---------- Variance* ----------

722               

9,201            1%

F

133          

2016
Budget

F

U3,103            

–                   

6,297            

198               

(17%)2,586            

7,993            

F

2016

284          65%

9,068            

1,392            2,367            

Actual

70%

F438               

2016

60%513               820               307          

975          

27%

F

F

198          0%

1,696       

(517)        
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Note 16. Material budget variations (continued)

$ ’000

EXPENSES
Employee benefits and on-costs

Borrowing costs
Costs on remediation are included in borrowing cost but not budgeted.

Materials and contracts
Council received extra Roads to Recovery funding for the year which needed to be spent in the financial year, 
hence the extra expenditure.

Depreciation and amortisation

Other expenses

Net losses from disposal of assets
Council did not make a loss on the disposal of plant, contrary to expectations.

Budget variations relating to Council’s Cash Flow Statement include:

Cash flows from operating activities
Council always estimates income conservatively, income from all sources was greater than anticipated.

Cash flows from investing activities
Stronger than anticipated performace resulted in a stronger cash position.

Cash flows from financing activities

(6%)(336)        

---------- Variance* ----------

(1,008)     

(22)          7,188            

Actual

76                 

2,023            

Budget

7,166            

3,031            

(0%)

(11)          U87                 

20162016

3%

F100%9              

5,422            U5,758            

U

2,008            F

(14%)

1,941            

2016

U

0.0%

20.2%

(262)              

(9,575)           (1,930)     

67            

9,440            11,201          

F(262)              

U(11,505)         

–              

9                   

1,761       

–                   

(50%)

F18.7%
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Note 17. Statement of developer contributions

$ ’000

Council recovers contributions, raises levies and enters into planning agreements on development works that are subject to a development consent issued by Council.
All contributions must be spent/utilised for the specific purpose they were levied and any interest applicable to unspent funds must be attributed to remaining funds.

The following tables detail the receipt, interest and use of the above contributions and levies and the value of all remaining funds which are ‘restricted’ in their future use.

SUMMARY OF CONTRIBUTIONS AND LEVIES

–                   
S64 contributions (436)              

27                 16                 

16                 S94 not under plans

Held asInternalExpenditure
borrowing restricted
(to)/from

during

–                   

85                 

85                 –                   

–                   

–                   

assetin year

–                   

Cash

505               

69                 

436               –                   

–                   

(436)              

–                   

earned
Contributions

received during the year
Interest

yearNon-cash

Total contributions

PURPOSE Opening
balance

27                 

–                   

–                   

–                   

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)
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Note 17. Statement of developer contributions (continued)

$ ’000

S94 CONTRIBUTIONS – NOT UNDER A PLAN

Drainage
Roads
Parking
Open space
Sewer

S64 contributions

Water

PURPOSE

Total 69                   27                   16                   –                     
–                     

–                     

–                     

–                     

Interest Expenditure

–                     
–                     

85                   

3                     
–                     

72                   

5                     
asset

–                     

–                     

(to)/from

–                     
–                     

–                     
–                     

balance

5                     
–                     

6                     

Contributions Held as
restricted

5                     

Internal
borrowing

–                     

during

–                     

–                     
year

Opening

–                     
–                     –                     

–                     

–                     

earned

3                     

–                     
27                   

Cash

–                     
Non-cash

received during the year
in year

–                     –                     

66                   –                     
5                     

PURPOSE
Contributions Interest Expenditure Internal Held as

Opening received during the year earned during borrowing restricted
balance Cash Non-cash in year year (to)/from asset

7,099              –                     –                     –                     (7,099)             –                     –                     
Total 7,099              –                     –                     –                     (7,099)             –                     –                     

–                     
–                     
–                     
–                     
–                     

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)

–                     

–                     
–                     

Cumulative 
internal 

borrowings 
due/(payable)
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Note 18. Contingencies and other assets/liabilities not recognised

$ ’000

The following assets and liabilities do not qualify for (i) Defined Benefit Superannuation
recognition in the Statement of Financial Position, but      Contribution Plans (continued)
their knowledge and disclosure is considered relevant
to the users of Council’s financial report. Future contributions made to the defined benefit

scheme to rectify the net deficit position are
recognised as an expense when they become

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED: payable - similar to the accounting for Defined
Contributions Plans.

1. Guarantees
Effective from 1 July 2013,employers are required to 

(i) Defined benefit superannuation contribute additional contributions to assist in 
     contribution plans extinguishing this deficit. The amount of additional 

contributions included in the total employer  
Council participates in an employer sponsored contribution advised above is $80,374.11
Defined Benefit Superannuation Scheme, and makes The share of this deficit that can be broadly attributed 
contributions as determined by the Superannuation to the Council was estimated to be in the order of 
Scheme's Trustees. $172,247.48 as at 30 June 2016 (0.23%).

Member Councils bear responsibility of ensuring there Council has a contingent liability to contribute further
are sufficient funds available to pay out the required equity in the event of the erosion of the Company's
benefits as they fall due. capital base as a result of the company's past

performance and/or claims experience or as a result
The Local Government Superannuation Scheme - Pool of any increased prudential requirements from APRA.
B (the Scheme) is a defined benefit plan that has been 
deemed to be a "multi-employer fund" for purposes of These future equity contributions would be required
AASB119. to maintain the company’s minimum level of Net

Assets in accordance with its Licence Requirements.
Sufficient information under AASB119 is not available
to account for the Scheme as a defined benefit plan, (ii) Statewide Limited
because the assets to the Scheme are pooled together
for all employers. Council is a member of Statewide Mutual, a mutual

pool scheme providing liability insurance to Local
The amount of employer contributions to the defined Government.
benefit section of the Local Government Superannuation 
Scheme and recognised as an expense for the year Membership includes the potential to share in either
ending 30 June 2016 was $160,748.23 the net assets or liabilities of the fund depending on

its past performance. Council’s share of the Net
The last valuation of the Scheme was performed by Assets or Liabilities reflects Councils contributions to
Mr Richard Boyfield, FIAA on the 24th February the pool and the result of insurance claims within
2016 and covers the period ended 30 June 2015. each of the Fund Years.
However the position is monitored annually and the 
actuary has estimated that as at 30 June 2015 a 
deficit still exists.
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Note 18. Contingencies and other assets/liabilities not recognised (continued)

$ ’000

LIABILITIES NOT RECOGNISED (continued):

1. Guarantees (continued) (ii) S94 Plans

(ii) Statewide Limited (continued) Council levies Section 94/94A Contributions upon
various development across the Council area through

The future realisation and finalisation of claims the required Contributions Plans.
incurred but not reported to 30 June this year may
result in future liabilities or benefits as a  result of past As part of these Plans, Council has received funds
events that Council will be required to fund or share for which it will be required to expend the monies in
in respectively. accordance with those Plans.

(iii) StateCover Limited As well, these Plans indicate proposed future
expenditure to be undertaken by Council, which will

Council is a member of StateCover Mutual Limited be funded by making levies and receipting funds in
and holds a partly paid share in the entity. future years or where a shortfall exists by the use of

Council's General Funds.
StateCover is a company providing workers
compensation insurance cover to the NSW Local These future expenses do not yet qualify as liabilities
Government Industry and specifically Council. as of the Reporting Date, but represent Councils

intention to spend funds in the manner and timing
2. Other Liabilities set out in those Plans.

(i) Third Party Claims (iii) Other Guarantees

The Council is involved from time to time in various Council has provided no other Guarantees other than
claims incidental to the ordinary course of business those listed above.
including claims for damages relating to its services.

ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED:
Council believes that it is appropriately covered
for all claims through its Insurance Coverage and (i) Land Under Roads
does not expect any material liabilities to eventuate.

As permitted under AASB 1051, Council has elected
not to bring to account Land Under Roads that it
owned or controlled up to and including 30th June 2008.

Note 19. Interests in other entities

Council has no interest in any controlled entities, joint arrangements or associates.
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Note 20. Retained earnings, revaluation reserves, changes in accounting
                policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

$ ’000

(a) Retained earnings

Movements in retained earnings were as follows:
Balance at beginning of year (from previous years audited accounts)

a. Net operating result for the year
b. Transfers between equity
Balance at end of the reporting period

(b) Revaluation reserves

(i) Reserves are represented by:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
Total

(ii) Reconciliation of movements in reserves:

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
– Opening balance
– Revaluations for the year
– (Impairment of revalued assets)/impairment reversals
– Transfer to retained earnings for asset disposals
– Correction of prior period errors
– Balance at end of year

TOTAL VALUE OF RESERVES

(iii) Nature and purpose of reserves

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
– The infrastructure, property, plant and equipment revaluation
  reserve is used to record increments/decrements of non-current
  asset values due to their revaluation.

135,221     137,583     

137,583        

137,583        

410               

135,221        

94,642          

(299)              
2,490            

–                   
299               

2015

(3)                  

108,440        
(1,625)           

100,527    

9(a) 29,254          

Actual 

92,451          

20(c) (1,144)           

3                   
5,882            

9(a),(c)

Notes 2016

137,583        135,221        
137,583     

94,642      

Actual 

135,221     

(410)              
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Note 20. Retained earnings, revaluation reserves, changes in accounting
                policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors (continued)

$ ’000

(c) Correction of error/s relating to a previous reporting period

Correction of errors disclosed in this year’s financial statements:

        During the revaluation of community land assets Council identified
    21 parcels of land classified as community and 1 parcel classified
     as operating land which are in fact Crown Land. These parcels had all been
          initially brought to Council accounts via Asset Revaluation Reserve.
       The following balances were affected:
           Community Land opening balance 

    Operational Land opening balance
  Asset Revaluation Reserve - Land

In accordance with AASB 108 – Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, the above prior period errors
have been recognised retrospectively.

These amounted to the following equity adjustments:

– Adjustments to opening equity – 1/7/14
  (relating to adjustments for the 30/6/14 reporting year end and prior periods)

– Adjustments to closing equity – 30/6/15
  (relating to adjustments for the 30/6/15 year end)

Total prior period adjustments – prior period errors

(d) Voluntary changes in accounting policies

     Council made no voluntary changes in any accounting policies during the year.

–                   

Actual Actual 
2015

(1,144)           

–                   

(1,144)           

(1,124)           

Notes

–                   

–                   

–                   

(1,144)           

(20)                

2016

–                   
–                   
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Note 21. Financial result and financial position by fund

Income Statement by fund
$ ’000

Continuing operations
Income from continuing operations
Rates and annual charges
User charges and fees
Interest and investment revenue
Other revenues
Grants and contributions provided for operating purposes
Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Other income
Net gains from disposal of assets
Share of interests in joint ventures and associates
using the equity method
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Operating result from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net profit/(loss) from discontinued operations
Net operating result for the year

Net operating result attributable to each council fund
Net operating result attributable to non-controlling interests

Net operating result for the year before grants and Contr     
and contributions provided for capital purposes

1 General fund refers to all Council’s activities other than Water and Sewer.
   NB. All amounts disclosed above are gross – that is, they include internal charges and recoveries made between 
   the funds.

179          

5,600       

Actual 

1,813       
59            

360          
1,118       

2016 2016

–              

762          

–              

–              

735          

3,586       

–              

865          

18,221     

–              
1,350       

308          

580          

–              

–              

–          

4,853   

–              

12            

–              

Actual 

–              –              

365          

2,272        

75            

1,190       

2016

1,788       

2016

5              2,581       

183          

–              

2,824       

–          

–               

267      

1,431       
615          

–              
–               

–              

267          

6,515       

2,080       

4,563       

–              
762      267      

4,853   
1,813       

Water

Actual 

General1Sewer

198          

–              

299          476          
7,993       

45            

Actual 

13,368     
762      

–              

–              

4,853       

–              
401          190          

262           

–               

762           –               



Financial Statements 2016

page 66

Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Financial Statements
 as at 30 June 2016

Note 21. Financial result and financial position by fund (continued)

Statement of Financial Position by fund
$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as ‘held for sale’
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Total equity
1 General Fund refers to all Council’s activities other than Water and Sewer.
   NB. All amounts disclosed above are gross – that is, they include internal receivables and payables between the funds.

General1

1,523       

Actual 

32,978   –            

10,319     

116          

–              
–              

21,613   

–              
–              –              

21,613     

–              
111          

33,094     

–              

5              

–              

5,474       

–              
–              

–              

354          

68,348     

–              

–              

–              

–              

Actual 

Sewer

1,651       –              

21,860     

181,157 

–              

–              

116          

–              

964          

20162016

129          

27            

12,644     
–              

–              

4              

–              

1,816       

–              

173,987   

173,802   

–              15,664     

2,416       
10,000     

–              

–              
–              

6,758       

4,000       
253          

5,949       

185          

–              

4,000       

–              
15,664     

89            

Actual 

130          

Actual 

–              

–              
26,336     

–              
–              

2016

–              

2016

Water

–              

–              

11,294     

253          

1,297       

–              
–              

–              
–              

186,631   

929          –              

11,118     

–              
2,641       
3,823       

–              

26,336     

112,809   
32,978   21,613   181,157 –            
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Note 22. ‘Held for sale’ non-current assets and disposal groups

$ ’000

(i) Reconciliation of non-current assets
      ‘held for sale’ and disposal groups
      – i.e. discontinued operations

Opening balance
Balance still unsold after 12 months:
Plus new transfers in:
– Assets ‘held for sale’

Closing balance of ‘held for sale’
non-current assets and operations

Note 23. Events occurring after the reporting date

Events that occur between the end of the reporting period (30 June 2016) and the date when the financial
statements are ‘authorised for issue’ have been taken into account in preparing these statements.

Council has adopted the date of receipt of the Auditors’ Report as the applicable ‘authorised for issue’ date
relating to these General Purpose Financial Statements.

Accordingly, the ‘authorised for issue’ date is 12/10/2016.

Events that occur after the reporting period represent one of two types:

(i) Events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting period

These financial statements (and the figures therein) incorporate all ‘adjusting events’ that provided evidence of
conditions that existed at 30 June 2016.

(ii) Events that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the reporting period

These financial statements (and figures therein) do not incorporate any ‘non-adjusting events’ that have occurred
after 30 June 2016 and which are only indicative of conditions that arose after 30 June 2016.

Council is unaware of any material or significant ‘non-adjusting events’ that should be disclosed.

–                
–                

–                

Disposal groups     

–                

20162016

229            

2015

–                

229            

Assets ‘held for sale’
2015

–                
–                

–             –             –             

(229)           –                

–             
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Note 24. Discontinued operations

$ ’000

Council has not classified any of its operations as ‘discontinued’.

Note 25. Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance.

Council is unaware of any control over intangible assets that warrant recognition in the financial statements,
including either internally generated and developed assets or purchased assets.

Note 26. Reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration liabilities

$ ’000
Council has legal/public obligations to make restore, rehabilitate and reinstate the following assets/operations:

Asset/operation
Finley Recycle Centre
Tocumwal Inert Hard Waste Depot
Berrigan Landfill
Pine Lodge Gravel Pit
Balance at end of the reporting period

Under AASB 116 – Property, Plant and Equipment, where the use of an asset results in the obligation to dismantle
or remove the asset and restore the site on which the asset stands, an estimate of such costs is required to be
included in the cost of the asset.

An equivalent liability must be recognised under AASB 137 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets.

The provision has been calculated by determining the present value of the future expenditures expected to be
incurred. The discount rate used is the risk free borrowing rate applicable to Council.

Reconciliation of movement in provision for year:

Balance at beginning of year
Amounts capitalised to new or existing assets:
Effect of a change in discount rates used in PV calculations
Amortisation of discount (expensed to borrowing costs)
Total – reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration provision

Amount of expected reimbursements

Of the above provisions for reinstatement, rehabilitation and restoration works, those applicable to garbage
services and waste management are able to be funded through future charges incorporated within Council’s
annual domestic waste management charge.

10                 

NPV of provision       

34                 

Actual Actual 

11                 

10(a) 224           282           

224               

282            224            

2017

224               

34                 

year of

2059

2059

48                 (8)                  

61                 
173               

2038 53                 
126               

14                 

8                   

2016

Estimated

2015restoration
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Note 27. Fair value measurement

$ ’000

The Council measures the following asset and liability classes at fair value on a recurring basis:

– Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

The fair value of assets and liabilities must be estimated in accordance with various accounting standards for
either recognition and measurement requirements or for disclosure purposes.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires all assets and liabilities measured at fair value to be assigned to a
‘level’ in the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access
              at the measurement date. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
              either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

(1) The following table presents all assets and liabilities that have been measured and recognised at
     fair values: 

2016

Recurring fair value measurements

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Operational land
Community land
Land under roads (post 30/06/08)
Land improvements – depreciable
Buildings – non-specialised
Buildings – specialised
Roads
Bridges
Footpaths
Bulk earthworks
Stormwater drainage
Water supply network
Sewer network
Swimming pools
Heritage collections
Library books
Other assets
Tip assets
Quarry assets
Open Space
Total infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

30/06/13 –              –               6,869       6,869        

–               528          528           
30/06/13 –              –               498          498           
30/06/14 –              –               21            21             

–              –               18,071     18,071      

30/06/16 –              –               

30/06/16 –              –               320          320           

2,976        
30/06/15 –              –               3,095       3,095        
30/06/15 –              –               3,728       3,728        
30/06/15 –              –               108,777   108,777    
30/06/13
30/06/13 –              

–              –              212,542   212,542   

30/06/16 –              –               22            22             
30/06/13 –              –               3,626       3,626        

30/06/16 –              –               1,675       1,675        
30/06/16 –              –               70            70             
30/06/14 –              –               196          196           
30/06/16 –              –               2,660       2,660        

30/06/15 –              –               14,829     14,829      
30/06/15 –              –               25,602     25,602      
30/06/15 –              –               16,265     16,265      
30/06/15 –              

inputs
prices in observable

120          

–               171          

120           

–               2,976       

inputs

Fair value measurement hierarchy
Level 1 Level 2

Significant
Level 3 Total

Date Quoted Significant

valuation active mkts
of latest unobservable

30/06/13 –              –               2,423       2,423        
30/06/14 –              171           
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Note 27. Fair value measurement (continued)

$ ’000

(1) The following table presents all assets and liabilities that have been measured and recognised at
     fair values (continued): 

2015

Recurring fair value measurements

Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment
Office equipment
Operational land
Community land
Land under roads (post 30/06/08)
Land improvements – depreciable
Buildings – non-specialised
Buildings – specialised
Roads
Bridges
Footpaths
Bulk earthworks
Stormwater drainage
Water supply network
Sewer network
Swimming pools
Heritage collections
Library books
Other assets
Tip assets
Quarry assets
Total infrastructure, property, plant and equipment

(2) Transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchies

During the year, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value hierarchies for recurring fair
value measurements.

–               21            21             
30/06/13 –              –               1,482       1,482        
30/06/13 –              –               6,706       6,706        

108,613   108,613    
30/06/13 –              –               18,180     18,180      
30/06/13 –              –               543          543           
30/06/13 491          491           

30/06/13 –              –               1,708       1,708        
30/06/15 –              –               15,419     15,419      
30/06/15 –              –               26,139     26,139      
30/06/15 –              –               15,427     15,427      
30/06/15 –              

3,902       

30/06/14 –              

–              –               

valuation active mkts

Level 1 Level 2

of latest prices in observable
Significant

–              –               

Date Quoted
Level 3 Total

–              214,523   

Fair value measurement hierarchy

Significant

3,902        

inputs
unobservable

inputs

30/06/13 –              –               2,556       2,556        
30/06/14 –              –               222          222           

30/06/13 –              –               51            51             
30/06/14 –              –               191          191           

–               2,976       2,976        
30/06/15 –              –               3,172       3,172        
30/06/15 –              –               
30/06/15

30/06/15 –              –               6,623       6,623        
30/06/15 –              –               83            83             
30/06/13 –              –               18            18             

–              214,523   
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(3) Valuation techniques used to derive Level 2 and Level 3 Fair Values 
 
Where Council is unable to derive Fair Valuations using quoted market prices of identical assets (i.e. Level 1 
inputs), Council instead utilises a spread of both observable inputs (Level 2 inputs) and unobservable inputs 
(Level 3 inputs). 
 
The Fair Valuation techniques Council has employed while utilising Level 2 and Level 3 inputs are as follows: 
 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Payables: Outstanding creditor payments, security bonds and deposits  
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 2) – Cost of product or service 
 

Loans/Advances: Outstanding loan from bank 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 2) – Amount of loan outstanding as advised by lender. 

 
 
Infrastructure, Property, Plant & Equipment 
 
Plant and Equipment: Major plant (graders, loaders, etc.), fleet vehicles (cars, utes, etc.) and minor plant 
(chainsaws, mowers etc.) 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost. 

 
Office Equipment: Computers, office furniture 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost. 

 
Operational land: Land under Council offices, depots, libraries, water and sewer treatment plants etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Market approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Land area, rate per square metre, zoning, geographical location, sales of 
comparable land. 
 
Council’s operational land has been valued at a market value, involving the inspection and analysis of 
sales evidence and comparisons with the subject property with adjustment for differences between 
key attributes of the properties. 
 
Council’s operational land was valued by Mr Martin Burns of Liquid Pacific Pty Ltd, a registered valuer 

 
Community land: Land under parks, recreation reserves, public halls etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Market approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Land area, rate per square metre, zoning, geographical location, sales of 
comparable land 
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Council’s operational land has been valued at a market value, involving the inspection and analysis of 
sales evidence and comparisons with the subject property with adjustment for differences between 
key attributes of the properties. 
 
Council’s community land was valued using the unimproved land value provided by the NSW Valuer 
General in accordance with Office of Local Government guidance for infrastructure assets. 
 

Land under roads: Land under roads acquired since 1 July 2008 
 

Valuation technique – “Market approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Land area, rate per square metre, zoning, geographical location, sales of 
comparable land. 
 
Council’s operational land has been valued at a market value, involving the inspection and analysis of 
sales evidence and comparisons with the subject property with adjustment for differences between 
key attributes of the properties. As the Council’s land under roads assets have no feasible alternate 
use, significant adjustments to the rate per square meter have been applied to the unobservable 
inputs and are based on a rate per square metre. 
 
Council’s Land under roads was valued by Ms Kelly Wickham of AssetVal Pty Ltd, a registered valuer. 
 

Land Improvements - depreciable: Car parks, netball and tennis courts, fences etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) –, dimensions, specifications. (Level 3) – Unit rates, Condition, Remaining life, 
Residual value 
 
These assets were valued at depreciated replacement cost. Available market data for recent projects 
and published cost guides are used to determine the estimated replacement cost of the asset, 
including preliminaries. A condition assessment is then applied based on factors such as the age of 
the asset, overall condition and remaining life. In some cases, residual values are factored into the 
calculation, which is the value at the time the asset is considered to no longer be available. 
 
Council’s Land Improvements were valued at depreciated historical cost as a representation of fair 
value in accordance with Office of Local Government guidance for infrastructure assets. 

 
Buildings (Non-specialised): Residences 
 

Valuation technique – “Market approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Sales evidence 
 
Council’s non-specialised buildings have been valued at a market value, involving the inspection and 
analysis of sales evidence and comparisons with the subject building with adjustment for differences 
between key attributes of the properties. The land value is then subtracted from the market value of 
the property to measure the building asset fair value. 
 
Council’s Buildings (non-specialised) was valued by Mr Martin Burns of Liquid Pacific Pty Ltd, a 
registered valuer. 
 

Buildings (Specialised): Community halls, toilet blocks, Council office, libraries, depot buildings, sheds etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Unit rates, dimensions, specifications. (Level 3) – Condition, Remaining life, 
Residual value 
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These assets were valued at depreciated replacement cost. Available market data for recent projects 
and published cost guides are used to determine the estimated replacement cost of the asset, 
including preliminaries. A condition assessment is then applied based on factors such as the age of 
the asset, overall condition and remaining life. In some cases, residual values are factored into the 
calculation, which is the value at the time the asset is considered no longer to be available. 
 
Council’s Buildings (specialised) was valued by Mr Martin Burns of Liquid Pacific Pty Ltd, a registered 
valuer. 

 
Roads, Bridges, Footpaths: Road surface, pavement, formation, road furniture, bridges, culverts. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Unit rates, useful life, asset condition, specifications. 
 
These assets were valued at depreciated replacement cost. Council’s road infrastructure assets are 
segmented and componentised into the following categories: 
 

• Seal 
• Pavement 
• Formation and earthworks 
• Culverts 
• Road furniture (signs, guideposts, guardrails) 

 
Council has surveyed its entire road network to measure both length and width of pavement and seal.  
 
Unit rates were based on Council’s own cost data based on its average cost across its entire road 
network, benchmarked against rates provided in relevant construction cost guides. Unit rates are 
applied consistently across the road network regardless of topography, soil type and geographical 
location. 
 
Condition assessments have been applied across the entire road network to establish remaining 
useful lives. 
 
Bridges were valued on the basis of deck area, with composite deck being $1,900 per square metre, 
and concrete $2,200 per square metre. 
 
Culverts were valued on their replacement cost from a relevant construction cost guide.  
 
Council’s roads, bridges and footpath assets were valued in-house by Mr Fred Exton – Director 
Technical Services. 

 
Bulk earthworks: Levee banks. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Unit rates, dimensions, condition 
 
The unit rates were determined by current replacement cost. 
 
Council’s bulk earthworks were valued in-house by Mr Fred Exton – Director Technical Services. 

 
Stormwater drainage: Kerb and gutter, drainage network, pumps and pump well, retention basins etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
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Inputs used (Level 3) – Unit rates, useful life, asset condition, dimensions and specification 
 
Council has surveyed its entire stormwater drainage network to measure both length and width of 
pipes and location and depth of pits. 
 
Unit rates were based on Council’s own cost data based on its average cost across its entire 
stormwater drainage network, benchmarked against rates provided in relevant construction cost 
guides.  Values for pumps are based on depreciated replacement cost. 
 
Condition assessments have been applied across the entire drainage network to establish remaining 
useful lives. 
 
Council’s stormwater drainage assets were valued in-house by Mr Fred Exton – Director Technical 
Services. 
 

Water Supply Network: Treatment plants, mains, reservoirs etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Unit rates, useful life, asset condition, dimensions and specification 
 
The Council has surveyed its entire sewerage network to measure both length and width of pipes and 
their location.  
 
Unit rates are based on the NSW References Rates Manual: Valuation of Water Supply, Sewerage 
and Stormwater Assets, including annual indexation.  
 
Condition assessments were applied to individual assets based on inspection programs, including the 
use of cameras. Where inspections have not been, or are unable to be, made the life of the asset has 
been used to estimate condition. 
 
Council’s water network assets were valued in-house by Mr Fred Exton – Director Technical Services 
 

Sewerage Network: Sewer pipes, pump stations, treatment plants etc. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Unit rates, useful life, asset condition, dimensions and specification 
 
The Council has surveyed its entire sewerage network to measure both length and width of pipes and 
location and depth of pits.  
Unit rates are based on the NSW References Rates Manual: Valuation of Water Supply, Sewerage 
and Stormwater Assets, including annual indexation.  
 
Condition assessments were applied to individual assets based on inspection programs, including the 
use of cameras. Where inspections have not been, or are unable to be, made the life of the asset has 
been used to estimate condition. 
 
Council’s sewerage network assets were valued in-house by Mr Fred Exton – Director Technical 
Services 
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Other Assets 
 
Heritage collections: 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost 
 

Library books: Books and other collection items. 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost 
 
Library books are valued as bulk annual purchases and depreciated using a standard useful life. 
 

Other Assets: 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost 
 
Councils other assets were valued at depreciated historical cost as a representation of fair value in 
accordance with Office of Local Government guidance for infrastructure assets. 
 
 

Tip & Quarry Assets: 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost 
 
Councils tip and quarry assets were valued at depreciated historical cost, and remediation costs are 
estimated in House by Mr Fred Exton, Director of Technical Services, and are factored to account for 
inflation. 
 
 

Open Space Assets: 
 

Valuation technique – “Cost approach” 
Inputs used (Level 3) – Fair value is approximated by depreciated historical cost 
 
Councils tip and quarry assets were valued at depreciated historical cost as a representation of fair 
value in accordance with Office of Local Government guidance for infrastructure assets. 
 
 

 
 
 
Non Current Assets classified as "Held for Sale" 
 
Assets previously classified as “held for Sale” are actively being marketed however as they may not sell within 
12 months, or indeed for some considerable time they have been transferred to Inventory assets along with all 
other land being marketed. 
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$ ’000

(4). Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

a. The following tables present the changes in level 3 fair value asset classes.

Opening balance – 1/7/14

Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation and impairment
Other movement

Closing balance – 30/6/15

Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation and impairment
Other movement

Closing balance – 30/6/16

Opening balance – 1/7/14

Purchases (GBV)
Disposals (WDV)
Depreciation
Impairment
WIP transfers

Closing balance – 30/6/15

Purchases (GBV)
Disposals (WDV)
Depreciation
Impairment
WIP transfers

Closing balance – 30/6/16

–              

–              

1,565        
–              –              (412)          

180          

(1,565)       

808          

specialised

–              

6,705       1,482       491          

–               

2,556       222          21,501     

2,556       222          

–              

–              –               

21,501     

24            1,012        

–              –              –              –              –               
–              –              

543          

–              –              –               –              

(771)        
–              –              (247)        (3)            (250)          

–              

–              (412)        
1,565       

18,180     

–              –              –              

21            

–              –               

6,705       8,699       

–              –               

1,482       

–              –              –              –              

–              

543          18,180     

–              –              –              –              

Plant 

21,151      558          17,555     

(15)          (708)        

Total

2,766       

equipment

7              

specialised

–              

non and equipment
Office

–              –              (23)          

21            

–              –              –              

Total

6,716       1,482       514          21            8,733        

–              

(18)          

-vements roads

–              –              7               

land land land impro- under
Operational Community Depreciable Land 

–              –              –              

–              (23)            
–              –              (18)            

491          

(71)          

–              

–               

272          

Buildings

8,699       

Buildings

–               
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Note 27. Fair value measurement (continued)

$ ’000

(4). Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (continued)

a. The following tables present the changes in level 3 fair value asset classes. (continued)

Opening balance – 1/7/14

Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation
FV gains – other comprehensive income
Transfers to/from WIP
Transfer to another asset class

Closing balance – 30/6/15

Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation
FV gains – other comprehensive income
Transfers to/from WIP
Transfer to another asset class

Closing balance – 30/6/16

Opening balance – 1/7/14

Transfers from/(to) another asset class
Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation and impairment
FV gains – other comprehensive income
WIP Transfer

Closing balance – 30/6/15

Transfers from/(to) another asset class
Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation and impairment
FV gains – other comprehensive income
WIP Transfer

Closing balance – 30/6/16

Total

129          –              3,527        

–              

–              –               

26,139     15,419     

earthworks

Stormwater

15,427     

–              –              –              

108,613   3,902       

–               

Sewerage Swimming

–               

network

–              

Total

–              –              

Roads

96,472      

Bridges Footpaths Bulk 

2,976       118,663   

2,976       

3,172       

–              –              –              

Water 

51,014      

314          

3,359       2,853       

336          253          –              21,187      

3,398       

118,663   

87,284     

–              
–              

3,902       3,172       2,976       

drainage supply network pools

(78)            

–              –               

–               

–              
–              –              –              

–              
–              –              –               

–              

108,613   

–              
(314)        

26,133     

–              –              

–              

–              

1,708       

–              –              

7,771       15,336     1,774       

(203)        (598)        

15,427     

(78)          

(2,275)     (107)        

–              239           

–              –              –              –               

(574)        (66)          (1,441)       
8,073       298          (285)        –              

–              –              –              –              

58,693     

–              –               

(716)        –              716          –              –               

(95)          167          167          
8,086        

597          139          59            –              795           

–              –              –              –              –               

26,139     15,419     1,708       

–               

58,693     

–              –              –              –              –               
–              

(63)          –              (2,445)       
20,598     
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Note 27. Fair value measurement (continued)

$ ’000

(4). Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (continued)

a. The following tables present the changes in level 3 fair value asset classes. (continued)

Opening balance – 1/7/14

Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation and impairment
FV gains – Income Statement 1
WIP Transfers

Closing balance – 30/6/15

Purchases (GBV)
Depreciation and impairment
FV gains – Income Statement 1
WIP Transfers

Closing balance – 30/6/16

Notes
(GBV) = Gross Book Value
(WDV) = Written Down Value

–              –              –              –              –               
–              –              –              –              –               

–              –              –              –              –               

51            191          6,623       100          6,965       

–              –              –              –              –               

51            191          6,623       100          6,965       

–              –              –              (7)            (7)              
–              –              33            –              33             

–              34            190          –              224           
–              (18)          (241)        (8)            (267)          

collection books assets quarry
assets Total

51            175          6,641       115          6,982        

Heritage Library Other Tip and



 

  Financial Statements 2016_ 

 
 
Berrigan Shire Council 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 for the year ended 30 June 2016 
 
Note 27. Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
 

  
  page 79 
 

(4). Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) 
 
b. Significant unobservable valuation inputs used (for level 3 asset classes) and their relationship to 
fair value. 
 
The following table summarises the quantitative information relating to the significant unobservable inputs 
used in deriving the various level 3 asset class fair values. 
 
I,PP&E 
 
 

Class 
 

Fair 
Value 

(30/6/16) 
$’000 

 

Valuation 
Techniques 

 

Unobservable Inputs 
 

Range of 
Inputs 
(incl probable) 

 

Relationship 
of 
unobservable 
inputs to Fair 
Value 

Plant & 
Equipment 

$2,423 Cost Approach • Gross Replacement 
Cost 
 

• Remaining Useful 
Life 

Various 
 
 
1-10 years 

Any changes in 
the gross 
replacement 
value or pattern 
of consumption 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Office 
Equipment 

$171 Cost Approach • Gross Replacement 
Cost 
 

• Remaining Useful 
Life 

Various 
 
 
3-25 years 

Any changes in 
the gross 
replacement 
value or pattern 
of consumption 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Operational 
Land 

$6,869 Market 
Approach 

• Price per square 
metre, Land area, 
zoning, geographical 
location, sales of 
comparable land 

$1,000-
$70,000 
per hectare 
or $1- $180 
per sq 
metre 

Changes in 
land zoning 
restrictions can 
have significant 
impacts on land 
values per sq 
metre. 
Changes in 
comparable 
land sales and 
availability of 
land can also 
have significant 
impact 

Community 
Land 

$1,482 Market 
Approach 

• Price per square 
metre, Land area, 
zoning, geographical 
location, sales of 
comparable land 

$1,000-
$70,000 
per hectare 
or $1- $180 
per sq 
metre 

Any change in 
the average 
unimproved 
capital value 
will increase / 
decrease fair 
value 
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Class Fair 
Value 

(30/6/16) 
$’000 

Valuation 
Techniques 

Unobservable Inputs Range of 
Inputs 
(incl probable) 

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to Fair 
Value 

Land under 
Roads (post 
30/06/08) 

$21 Market 
Approach 

• Price per square 
metre, Land area, 
zoning, geographical 
location, sales of 
comparable land  

• Alternate Uses 

$1-$100 
per sq 
metre 

Changes in land 
zoning restrictions 
can have 
significant impacts 
on land values per 
sq metre. 
Changes in 
comparable land 
sales and 
availability of land 
can also have 
significant impact 

Land 
Improvements - 
Depreciable 

$498 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

$1-$1000 
per sq 
metre 
Very Poor 
to 
Excellent 
10-40 yrs 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 

Buildings – 
Non 
Specialised 

$528 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 
 

• Useful Life 

$1-
$100,000 
Very Poor 
to 
Excellent 
 
5-50 years 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 

Buildings - 
Specialised 

$18,071 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
• Asset Condition 

 
 
 
 

• Useful Life 

$1-$5,000 
Very Poor 
to 
Excellent 

 
 
5-50 years 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 
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Class 
 

Fair 
Value 

(30/6/16) 
$’000 

 

Valuation 
Techniques 

 

Unobservable Inputs 
 

Range of 
Inputs 
(incl probable) 

 

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to Fair 
Value 

Roads $108,777 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

$3 to $20 
per sq 
metre 
(roads) 
$120 (kerb 
& gutter) 
$120 -$400 
per lineal 
meter 
(culverts) 
Very Poor 
to 
Excellent 
20-100 
years 
(roads 
80-150 
years (kerb 
& gutter 
50 years 
(Culverts) 
 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 

Bridges $3,728 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
 
 

 
• Asset Condition 

 
• Useful Life 

$1,900 
composite  
$2,200 
concrete 
Excellent 
to Poor 
80 years 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 

Footpaths $3,095 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 

• Useful Life 

$8-$120 per 
lineal metre 
Excellent to 
Poor 
60 years 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 

Bulk 
Earthworks 

$2,976 Cost 
Approach 

• Unit Rates 
 
 

• Asset Condition 
 

• Useful Life 

$1-$2,500 
per sq 
metre 
Excellent to 
Poor 
60-100 
years 

Any change in the 
component pricing 
and asset 
condition will have 
an impact on fair 
value 
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Class Fair 
Value 

(30/6/16) 
$’000 

Valuation 
Techniques 

Unobservable Inputs Range of 
Inputs 
(incl probable) 

Relationship 
of 
unobservable 
inputs to Fair 
Value 

Stormwater 
Drainage 

$16,265 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 
 

• Asset Condition 
 

• Useful Life 

$50-$1,500 
per sq 
metre 
Excellent to 
Poor 
50 years 
 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Water Supply 
Network 

$25,602 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
50-100 
years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Sewer Network $14,829 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
50-100 
years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Swimming 
Pools 

$1,675 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
20-50years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Heritage 
Collections 

$70 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
80-100 
years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Library Books $196 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
2-10 years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 
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Class Fair 
Value 

(30/6/16) 
$’000 

Valuation 
Techniques 

Unobservable Inputs Range of 
Inputs 
(incl probable) 

Relationship 
of 
unobservable 
inputs to Fair 
Value 

Other Assets $2,660 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
2-50 years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

Tip & Quarry 
Assets 

$144 Cost Approach • Unit Rates 
 

• Asset Condition 
 
 

• Useful Life 

Various 
 
Excellent to 
Poor 
 
50-60 years 

Any change in 
the component 
pricing and 
asset condition 
will have an 
impact on fair 
value 

 
 
c. The valuation process for level 3 fair value measurements 
 
Refer Note 27- Note 3 (above) 
 
 
(5). Highest and best use 
 
All of Council’s non-financial assets are considered to being utilised for their highest and best use. 
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Contents

1. Statement by Councillors and Management

2. Special Purpose Financial Statements:

Income Statement – Water Supply Business Activity
Income Statement – Sewerage Business Activity
Income Statement – Other Business Activities

Statement of Financial Position – Water Supply Business Activity
Statement of Financial Position – Sewerage Business Activity
Statement of Financial Position – Other Business Activities

3. Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements

4. Auditor’s Report

Background

These Special Purpose Financial Statements have been prepared for the use by both Council and the Office of
Local Government in fulfilling their requirements under National Competition Policy.

The principle of competitive neutrality is based on the concept of a ‘level playing field’ between persons/entities
competing in a market place, particularly between private and public sector competitors.

Essentially, the principle is that government businesses, whether Commonwealth, state or local, should operate
without net competitive advantages over other businesses as a result of their public ownership.

For Council, the principle of competitive neutrality and public reporting applies only to declared business activities.

These include (a) those activities classified by the Australian Bureau of Statistics as business activities being
water supply, sewerage services, abattoirs, gas production and reticulation, and (b) those activities with a turnover
of more than $2 million that Council has formally declared as a business activity (defined as Category 1 activities).

In preparing these financial statements for Council’s self-classified Category 1 businesses and ABS-defined
activities, councils must (a) adopt a corporatisation model and (b) apply full cost attribution including tax-equivalent
regime payments and debt guarantee fees (where the business benefits from Council's borrowing position by
comparison with commercial rates).

(iv)

7

n/a
6

(i)

(ii)

16

(iii)

5

Page

3
4

n/a

2
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Berrigan Shire Council

Income Statement of Council's Water Supply Business Activity
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges
User charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non-capital purposes
Profit from the sale of assets
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and impairment
Water purchase charges
Loss on sale of assets
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax
Less: corporate taxation equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

Plus opening retained profits
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:
– Taxation equivalent payments
– Debt guarantee fees
– Corporate taxation equivalent
Less:
– Tax equivalent dividend paid
– Surplus dividend paid
Closing retained profits

Return on capital %
Subsidy from Council

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions)
Surplus for dividend calculation purposes
Potential dividend calculated from surplus

1,704               
978                  
38                    

117                  
–                      
–                      

390                  
3,227               

341                  
20                    

1,102               
604                  
67                    
–                      
2                      
3                      

284                  
2,423               

804                  

7                      
811                  

–                      
811                  

(241)                 

570                  

20,285               

2                        
3                        

241                    

(2)                       
–                        

21,099               

3.1%
–                        

570                    
–                        

570                    
285                    

Actual 
2015

1,813               
1,060               

58                    
179                  

–                      
–                      

476                  
3,586               

365                  
12                    

1,431               
615                  
75                    
–                      
1                      
2                      

326                  
2,827               

1                        
2                        

759                  

–                      
759                  

–                      
759                  

(228)                 

531                    
266                    

Actual 
2016

228                    

(1)                       
–                        

21,860               

2.9%
–                        

531                  

21,099               

531                    
–                        
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Berrigan Shire Council

Income Statement of Council's Sewerage Business Activity
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Income from continuing operations
Access charges
User charges
Liquid trade waste charges
Fees
Interest
Grants and contributions provided for non-capital purposes
Profit from the sale of assets
Other income
Total income from continuing operations

Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits and on-costs
Borrowing costs
Materials and contracts
Depreciation and impairment
Loss on sale of assets
Calculated taxation equivalents
Debt guarantee fee (if applicable)
Other expenses
Total expenses from continuing operations
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations before capital amounts

Grants and contributions provided for capital purposes
Surplus (deficit) from continuing operations after capital amounts

Surplus (deficit) from discontinued operations
Surplus (deficit) from all operations before tax
Less: corporate taxation equivalent (30%) [based on result before capital]

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) AFTER TAX

Plus opening retained profits
Plus adjustments for amounts unpaid:
– Taxation equivalent payments
– Debt guarantee fees
– Corporate taxation equivalent
Less:
– Tax equivalent dividend paid
– Surplus dividend paid
Closing retained profits

Return on capital %
Subsidy from Council

Calculation of dividend payable:
Surplus (deficit) after tax
Less: capital grants and contributions (excluding developer contributions)
Surplus for dividend calculation purposes
Potential dividend calculated from surplus

1,915               

12                    

12                      

–                        
10,319               

1.6%
92                      

179                    
–                        

179                    

–                      
190                  

1,827               
248                  

–                      
253                  
(74)                   

179                  

10,067               

89                      

14                      
–                        

74                      

(14)                     

–                      
14                    

5                      
253                  

–                      
–                      

45                    
2,075               

–                      
45                    

286                  
–                      

833                  
604                  

–                      

15                      
–                        

15                      
8                        

308                  
–                      

735                  
580                  

Actual 
2016

22                    
146                  

–                      

1,690               
12                    

Actual 
2015

–                      

1,788               
12                    
–                      

47                    
183                  

–                      
158                  

1,893               
22                    

–                      
22                    

0.1%
470                    

–                      
22                    
(7)                     

15                    

10,045               

10,067               

–                        
7                        

(12)                     
–                        



SPFS 2016

page 5

Berrigan Shire Council

Statement of Financial Position – Council's Water Supply Business Activity
 as at 30 June 2016

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Council equity interest
Non-controlling equity interest
TOTAL EQUITY

–                      –                      

–                      
32,334             

32,334        

11,118             

32,978        

32,978             
–                      

32,978        

11,235             
21,099             

–                      –                      
74                    89                    

–                      
–                      

26,336             
–                      –                      

26,747             

–                      

26,336             

4,000               4,000               
253                  316                  

6,758               

–                      

–                      –                      
5,824               

–                      
–                      –                      

–                      

–                      –                      

Actual 
2015

Actual 
2016

33,094             

–                      

–                      
26,747             

111                  

–                      

21,860             

111                  

–                      

2,416               1,434               

32,571             

5                      

–                      

–                      –                      

111                  
–                      –                      

126                  116                  

126                  

116                  

–                      
–                      

32,334        
237                  
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Berrigan Shire Council

Statement of Financial Position – Council's Sewerage Business Activity
 as at 30 June 2016

$ ’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Other
Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Total Current Assets

Non-current assets
Investments
Receivables
Inventories
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment
Investments accounted for using equity method
Investment property
Intangible assets
Other
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Retained earnings
Revaluation reserves
Council equity interest
Non-controlling equity interest
TOTAL EQUITY

–                      –                      

–                      –                      

15,664             16,279             

21,552        

21,552             

–                      

–                      
–                      –                      

10,067             

21,613        

21,613        

–                      

Actual Actual 

1,025               

3                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      
–                      –                      

4,000               

5,949               5,233               

–                      –                      

21,613             

–                      

10,319             

–                      

–                      
–                      

11,294             11,485             
21,613             

–                      

4                      
–                      –                      

129                  205                  
4,000               

2015

1,816               

2016

21,552        

–                      40                    

15,664             16,319             
–                      –                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

21,552             

–                      

–                      –                      
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These financial statements are a Special Purpose 
Financial Statements (SPFS) prepared for use by 
Council and the Office of Local Government. 
 
For the purposes of these statements, the Council is 
not a reporting not-for-profit entity. 
 
The figures presented in the SPFS, unless otherwise 
stated, have been prepared in accordance with: 
 
 the recognition and measurement criteria of 

relevant Australian Accounting Standards, 
 

 other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB), 
and 

 
 Australian Accounting Interpretations. 

 
The disclosures in the SPFS have been prepared in 
accordance with: 
 
 the Local Government Act 1993 NSW, 
 
 the Local Government (General) Regulation, and 
 
 the Local Government Code of Accounting 

Practice and Financial Reporting. 
 
The statements are also prepared on an accruals 
basis, based on historic costs and do not take into 
account changing money values nor current values 
of non-current assets (except where specifically 
stated). 
 
Certain taxes and other costs (appropriately 
described) have been imputed for the purposes of 
the National Competition Policy. 
 
National Competition Policy 
 
Council has adopted the principle of ‘competitive 
neutrality’ to its business activities as part of the 
national competition policy which is being applied 
throughout Australia at all levels of government. 
 
The framework for its application is set out in the 
June 1996 government policy statement, Application 
of National Competition Policy to Local Government. 
 
The Pricing and Costing for Council Businesses, A 
Guide to Competitive Neutrality, issued by the Office 
of Local Government in July 1997, has also been 
adopted. 
 

The pricing and costing guidelines outline the 
process for identifying and allocating costs to 
activities and provide standards for disclosure. These 
disclosures are reflected in Council’s pricing and/or 
financial reporting systems and include taxation 
equivalents, Council subsidies, return on investments 
(rate of return), and dividends paid. 
 
Declared business activities 
 
In accordance with Pricing and Costing for Council 
Businesses – A Guide to Competitive Neutrality, 
Council has declared that the following are to be 
considered as business activities: 
 
Category 1 
 
(where gross operating turnover is over $2 million) 
 

None 
 
Category 2 
 
(where gross operating turnover is less than $2 million) 
 
a. Berrigan Shire Council Water Supply 

 

Supply drinking quality water to the towns of 
Barooga, Berrigan, Finley and Tocumwal. 

 
b. Berrigan Shire Council Sewerage Service 

 

Supply of a reticulated sewerage service to the 
towns of Barooga, Berrigan, Finley and 
Tocumwal. 

 
Monetary amounts 
 
Amounts shown in the financial statements are in 
Australian currency and rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars, with the exception of some figures 
disclosed in Note 2 (Water Supply Best-Practice 
Management Disclosures) and Note 3 (Sewerage 
Best-Practice Management Disclosures). 
 
As required by the NSW Office of Water (Department 
of Primary Industries) the amounts shown in Note 2 
and Note 3 are disclosed in whole dollars. 
 
(i) Taxation-equivalent charges 
 
Council is liable to pay various taxes and financial 
duties in undertaking its business activities. Where 
this is the case, they are disclosed in these 
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statements as a cost of operations just like all other 
costs. 
 
However, where Council is exempt from paying taxes 
which are generally paid by private sector 
businesses (such as income tax), equivalent tax 
payments have been applied to all Council-
nominated business activities and are reflected in 
these financial statements. 
 
For the purposes of disclosing comparative 
information relevant to the private sector equivalent, 
the following taxation equivalents have been applied 
to all Council-nominated business activities (this 
does not include Council’s non-business activities): 
 
Notional rate applied (%) 
 
Corporate income tax rate – 30% 
 
Land tax – the first $482,000 of combined land 
values attracts 0%. For that valued from $482,001 to 
$2,947,000 the rate is 1.6% + $100. For the 
remaining combined land value that exceeds 
$2,947,000, a premium marginal rate of 2.0% 
applies. 
 
In accordance with the Best-Practice Management of 
Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines, a payment 
for the amount calculated as the annual tax 
equivalent charges (excluding income tax) must be 
paid from water supply and sewerage business 
activities. 
 
The payment of taxation equivalent charges, referred 
in the Best-Practice Management of Water Supply 
and Sewerage Guidelines to as a ‘dividend for 
taxation equivalent’, may be applied for any purpose 
allowed under the Local Government Act, 1993. 
 
Achievement of substantial compliance against the 
Best-Practice Management of Water Supply and 
Sewerage Guidelines is not a prerequisite for the 
payment of the tax equivalent charges; however the 
payment must not exceed $3 per assessment. 
 
Income tax 
 
An income tax equivalent has been applied on the 
profits of each reported business activity. 
 
While income tax is not a specific cost for the 
purpose of pricing a good or service, it needs to be 

taken into account in terms of assessing the rate of 
return required on capital invested. 
 
Accordingly, the return on capital invested is set at a 
pre-tax level (gain or loss from ordinary activities 
before capital amounts) as would be applied by a 
private sector competitor – that is, it should include a 
provision equivalent to the corporate income tax rate, 
currently 30%. 
 
Income tax is only applied where a positive gain/ 
(loss) from ordinary activities before capital amounts 
has been achieved. 
 
Since this taxation equivalent is notional – that is, it is 
payable to Council as the ‘owner’ of business 
operations, it represents an internal payment and 
has no effect on the operations of the Council. 
Accordingly, there is no need for disclosure of 
internal charges in Council’s General Purpose 
Financial Statements. 
 
The 30% rate applied is the equivalent company tax 
rate prevalent as at balance date. No adjustments 
have been made for variations that have occurred 
during the year. 
 
Local government rates and charges 
 
A calculation of the equivalent rates and charges 
payable on all category 1 businesses has been 
applied to all land assets owned or exclusively used 
by the business activity. 
 
Loan and debt guarantee fees 
 
The debt guarantee fee is designed to ensure that 
council business activities face ‘true’ commercial 
borrowing costs in line with private sector 
competitors.  
 
In order to calculate a debt guarantee fee, Council 
has determined what the differential borrowing rate 
would have been between the commercial rate and 
Council’s borrowing rate for its business activities. 
 
 
(ii) Subsidies 
 
Government policy requires that subsidies provided 
to customers, and the funding of those subsidies, 
must be explicitly disclosed. 
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Subsidies occur when Council provides services on a 
less-than-cost-recovery basis. This option is 
exercised on a range of services in order for Council 
to meet its community service obligations. 
 
Accordingly, ‘subsidies disclosed’ (in relation to 
National Competition Policy) represents the 
difference between revenue generated from ‘rate of 
return’ pricing and revenue generated from prices set 
by Council in any given financial year. 
 
The overall effect of subsidies is contained within the 
Income Statement of each reported business activity. 
 
 
(iii) Return on investments (rate of return) 
 
The policy statement requires that councils with 
category 1 businesses ‘would be expected to 
generate a return on capital funds employed that is 
comparable to rates of return for private businesses 
operating in a similar field’. 
 
Such funds are subsequently available for meeting 
commitments or financing future investment 
strategies. 
 
The rate of return on capital is calculated as follows: 
 
Operating result before capital income + interest expense 
 

Written down value of I,PP&E as at 30 June 
 
As a minimum, business activities should generate a 
return equal to the Commonwealth 10 year bond rate 
which is 2.17% at 30 June 2016. 
 
The actual rate of return achieved by each business 
activity is disclosed at the foot of each respective 
Income Statement. 
 
 
(iv) Dividends 
 
Council is not required to pay dividends to either 
itself (as owner of a range of businesses) or to any 
external entities. 
 
Local government water supply and sewerage 
businesses are permitted to pay an annual dividend 
from its water supply or sewerage business surplus. 
 
The dividend, calculated and approved in 
accordance with the Best-Practice Management of 

Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines, must not 
exceed either: 
 
(i) 50% of this surplus in any one year, or 
 
(ii) the number of water supply or sewerage 

assessments at 30 June 2016 multiplied by $30 
(less the payment for tax equivalent charges, not 
exceeding $3 per assessment). 

 
In accordance with the Best-Practice Management of 
Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines, a Dividend 
Payment Form, Statement of Compliance, 
Unqualified Independent Financial Audit Report and 
Compliance Audit Report are required to be 
submitted to the NSW Office of Water prior to making 
the dividend and only after it has approved the 
payment. 
 
The Council did not pay itself a dividend for the year 
ended 30 June 2016 from either its Water Supply or 
Sewerage fund. 
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Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Water supply business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

1. Calculation and payment of tax-equivalents
[all local government local water utilities must pay this dividend for tax equivalents]

Calculated tax equivalents

Number of assessments multiplied by $3/assessment

Amounts payable for tax equivalents [lesser of (i) and (ii)]

Amounts actually paid for tax equivalents

2. Dividend from surplus
50% of surplus before dividends
[calculated in accordance with Best-Practice Management for Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines]

Number of assessments multiplied by $30/assessment, less tax equivalent
charges/assessment

Cumulative surplus before dividends for the 3 years to 30 June 2016, less the
cumulative dividends paid for the 2 years to 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2016 Surplus 2015 Surplus 2014 Surplus
2015 Dividend 2014 Dividend

Maximum dividend from surplus [least of (i), (ii) and (iii) above]

Dividend actually paid from surplus [refer below for required pre-dividend payment criteria]

Are the overhead reallocation charges to the water business fair and reasonable? a

3. Required outcomes for 6 criteria
[to be eligible for the payment of a ‘dividend from surplus’, all the criteria below need a ‘YES’]

Completion of strategic business plan (including financial plan)

Full cost recovery, without significant cross subsidies
[refer item 2 (a) in table 1 on page 22 of the Best-Practice Guidelines]

– Complying charges [item 2 (b) in table 1]

– DSP with commercial developer charges [item 2 (e) in table 1]

– If dual water supplies, complying charges [item 2 (g) in table 1]

Sound water conservation and demand management implemented

Sound drought management implemented

Complete performance reporting form (by 15 September each year)

a. Integrated water cycle management evaluation

b. Complete and implement integrated water cycle management strategy

NO

YES(v)

(vi)

NO

3,000               

1,114               

107,850           

2016

–                      

265,650           

107,850           

1,549,400        

11,085             

3,000               

(iv) YES

YES

YES

(ii)

YES

NO

–                  
531,300       569,800       

YES

YES

–                  
448,300       

YES

(iv)

(iii)

(i)

(iv)

(iii)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(v)

(i)

(vi)
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Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2. Water supply business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements (continued)

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators

Total revenue (water)
Total income (w13) – grants for the acquisition of assets (w11a) – interest income (w9)
– Aboriginal Communities W&S Program income (w10a)

Revenue from residential usage charges (water)
Income from residential usage charges (w6b) x 100 divided by the sum of
[income from residential usage charges (w6a) + income from residential
access charges (w6b)]

Written down replacement cost of fixed assets (water)
Written down current cost of system assets (w47)

Operating cost (OMA) (water)
Management expenses (w1) + operational and maintenance expenses (w2)

Capital expenditure (water)
Acquisition of fixed assets (w16)

Economic real rate of return (water)
[total income (w13) – interest income (w9) – grants for acquisition of assets (w11a) –
operating costs (NWI F11) – current cost depreciation (w3)] x 100 divided by
[written down current cost of system assets (w47) + plant and equipment (w33b)]

Capital works grants (water)
Grants for the acquisition of assets (w11a)

Notes: 1. References to w (e.g. w12) refer to item numbers within Special Schedules 3 and 4 of
Council’s Annual Financial Statements.

2. The NWI performance indicators are based upon the National Performance Framework
Handbook for Urban Performance Reporting Indicators and Definitions.

a refer to 3.2 (2) on page 15 of the Best-Practice Management of Water Supply 
and Sewerage Guidelines, 2007

NWI F26 –                      $’000

NWI F11

NWI F17 %

NWI F14 $’000

2.84%

197                  

2,011               $’000

$’000NWI F9

2016

3,367               

NWI F4 %

26,336             

$’000

40.50%

NWI F1
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Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 3. Sewerage business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

1. Calculation and payment of tax-equivalents
[all local government local water utilities must pay this dividend for tax equivalents]

Calculated tax equivalents

Number of assessments multiplied by $3/assessment

Amounts payable for tax equivalents [lesser of (i) and (ii)]

Amounts actually paid for tax equivalents

2. Dividend from surplus

50% of surplus before dividends
[calculated in accordance with Best-Practice Management for Water Supply and Sewerage Guidelines]

Number of assessments x ($30 less tax equivalent charges per assessment)

Cumulative surplus before dividends for the 3 years to 30 June 2016, less the
cumulative dividends paid for the 2 years to 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2016 Surplus 2015 Surplus 2014 Surplus
2015 Dividend 2014 Dividend

Maximum dividend from surplus [least of (i), (ii) and (iii) above]

Dividend actually paid from surplus [refer below for required pre-dividend payment criteria]

Are the overhead reallocation charges to the sewer business fair and reasonable? a  

3. Required outcomes for 4 criteria  
[to be eligible for the payment of a ‘dividend from surplus’, all the criteria below need a ‘YES’]

Completion of strategic business plan (including financial plan)  

Pricing with full cost-recovery, without significant cross subsidies  
[refer item 2 (a) in table 1 on page 22 of the Best-Practice Guidelines]

Complying charges Residential [item 2 (c) in table 1]  
Non-residential [item 2 (c) in table 1]  
Trade waste [item 2 (d) in table 1]  

DSP with commercial developer charges [item 2 (e) in table 1]  
Liquid trade waste approvals and policy [item 2 (f) in table 1]  

Complete performance reporting form (by 15 September each year)  

a. Integrated water cycle management evaluation  

b. Complete and implement integrated water cycle management strategy  

14,000             

10,323             

YES

NO

NO

89,300             

YES

YES

2016

NO

89,300             

–                      

NO

10,323             

14,343             

YES

YES

326,300           

NO

NO

(i)

(iv)

(iii)

(ii)

(iii)

178,600       

(i)

(ii) 92,907             

132,300       

(iv)

(c)

(iv)

–                  
15,400         

–                  

(v)

(iii)

(i)

(ii)

(a)
(b)

(vi)
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Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 3. Sewerage business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements (continued)

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators

Total revenue (sewerage)
Total income (s14) – grants for acquisition of assets (s12a) – interest income (s10)
– Aboriginal Communities W&S Program income (w10a)

Written down replacement cost of fixed assets (sewerage)
Written down current cost of system assets (s48)

Operating cost (sewerage)
Management expenses (s1) + operational and maintenance expenses (s2)

Capital expenditure (sewerage)
Acquisition of fixed assets (s17)

Economic real rate of return (sewerage)
[total income (s14) – interest income (s10) – grants for acquisition of assets (s12a)
– operating cost (NWI F12) – current cost depreciation (s3)] x 100 divided by
[written down current cost (i.e. WDCC) of system assets (s48) + plant and equipment (s34b)]

Capital works grants (sewerage)
Grants for the acquisition of assets (12a)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators
Water and sewer (combined)

Total income (water and sewerage)
Total income (w13 + s14) + gain/loss on disposal of assets (w14 + s15)
minus grants for acquisition of assets (w11a + s12a) – interest income (w9 + s10)

Revenue from community service obligations (water and sewerage)
Community service obligations (NWI F25) x 100 divided by total income (NWI F3)

Capital expenditure (water and sewerage)
Acquisition of fixed assets (w16 + s17)

Economic real rate of return (water and sewerage)
[total income (w13 + s14) – interest income (w9 + s10) – grants for acquisition of assets
(w11a + s12a) – operating cost (NWI F11 + NWI F12) – current cost depreciation (w3 + s3)] x 100
divided by [written down replacement cost of fixed assets (NWI F9 + NWI F10)
+ plant and equipment (w33b + s34b)]

Dividend (water and sewerage)
Dividend paid from surplus (2 (v) of Note 2 + 2 (v) of Note 3)

Dividend payout ratio (water and sewerage)
Dividend (NWI F20) x 100 divided by net profit after tax (NWI F24)

$’000

–                      

15,664             

1,897               

1.83%

1,042               

171                  

2016

NWI F3 $’000 5,264               

NWI F8 % 1.73%

NWI F19

NWI F21

NWI F20

%

%

–                      $’000

0.00%

2.46%

368                  NWI F16 $’000

NWI F27

NWI F18

NWI F15 $’000

%

$’000

NWI F2

NWI F10

NWI F12

$’000

$’000
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Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to the Special Purpose Financial Statements
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 3. Sewerage business
              best-practice management disclosure requirements (continued)

Dollars amounts shown below are in whole dollars (unless otherwise indicated)

National Water Initiative (NWI) financial performance indicators
Water and sewer (combined)

Net debt to equity (water and sewerage)
Overdraft (w36 + s37) + borrowings (w38 + s39) – cash and investments (w30 + s31)
x 100 divided by [total assets (w35 + s36) – total liabilities (w40 + s41)]

Interest cover (water and sewerage)
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) divided by net interest

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT):
Operating result (w15a + s16a) + interest expense (w4a + s4a) – interest income (w9 + s10)
– gain/loss on disposal of assets (w14 + s15) + miscellaneous expenses (w4b + w4c + s4b + s4c)

Net interest:
Interest expense (w4a + s4a) – interest income (w9 + s10)

Net profit after tax (water and sewerage)
Surplus before dividends (w15a + s16a) – tax equivalents paid (Note 2-1 (iv) + Note 3-1 (iv))

Community service obligations (water and sewerage)
Grants for pensioner rebates (w11b + s12b)

Notes: 1. References to w (eg. s12) refer to item numbers within Special Schedules 5 and 6 of
Council’s Annual Financial Statements.

2. The NWI performance indicators are based upon the National Performance Framework Handbook
for Urban Performance Reporting Indicators and Definitions.

a refer to 3.2 (2) on page 15 of the Best-Practice Management of Water Supply 
and Sewerage Guidelines, 2007

NWI F25 $’000

NWI F24

NWI F23

NWI F22 %

1,035               

91                    

> 100

1,030               

350-                  

$’000

-22.20%

2016
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedules
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Contents

Special Schedules1

Net Cost of Services

Statement of Long Term Debt (all purposes)

Statement of Internal Loans (Sect. 410(3) LGA 1993)

Water Supply Operations – incl. Income Statement
Water Supply – Statement of Financial Position

Sewerage Service Operations – incl. Income Statement
Sewerage Service – Statement of Financial Position

Notes to Special Schedules 3 and 5

Report on Infrastructure Assets

Permissible Income Calculation

1 Special Schedules are not audited (with the exception of Special Schedule 8).

Background

These Special Schedules have been designed to meet the requirements of special purpose users such as;

the NSW Grants Commission
the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS),
the NSW Office of Water (NOW), and
the Office of Local Government (OLG).

The financial data is collected for various uses including;

the allocation of Financial Assistance Grants,
the incorporation of Local Government financial figures in national statistics,
the monitoring of loan approvals,
the allocation of borrowing rights, and
the monitoring of the financial activities of specific services.

Special Schedule 5 10

Page

2

4

6

Special Schedule 1

Special Schedule 2(a)
5

Special Schedule 4

Special Schedule 2(b)

Special Schedule 3
9

15Special Schedule 7

14

13

(ii)
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 1 – Net Cost of Services
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

Governance

Administration

Public order and safety

Beach control
Enforcement of local government regulations
Animal control
Other
Total public order and safety

Health

Environment
Noxious plants and insect/vermin control
Other environmental protection
Solid waste management
Street cleaning
Drainage
Stormwater management
Total environment

Community services and education
Administration and education
Social protection (welfare)
Aged persons and disabled
Children’s services
Total community services and education

Housing and community amenities
Public cemeteries
Public conveniences
Street lighting
Town planning
Other community amenities
Total housing and community amenities

Water supplies

Sewerage services

(125)                      

268                       
–                           

–                           

–                           
(44)                        

(247)                      

–                           

270                       

(10)                        
–                           

–                           

(261)                      

3                           

796                       

(577)                      

(236)                      

–                           
13                         

–                           

247                       
–                           

1,041                    

2,215                    
752                       

–                           

286                       

518                       

224                       

25                         
–                           

40                         

–                           
–                           

1,027                    

158                       

Net cost.
of services.

–                           
–                           

(171)                      

–                           

(262)                      
(114)                      

419                       2                           –                           (417)                      

(85)                        –                           
–                           

693                       

–                           

22                         

131                       

Function or activity

–                           

Fire service levy, fire protection, 
emergency services

–                           

219                       

133                       
462                       

(359)                      

265                       

334                       

–                           –                           
(256)                      

–                           (102)                      

–                           

105                       

107                       
–                           

372                       
–                           

–                           

94                         

–                           

103                       

450                       

3,546                    

5                           

–                           

(36)                        

(55)                        
(224)                      

(184)                      
(78)                        

35                         
–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

14                         50                         

–                           

278                       

282                       
254                       

2,790                    

55                         

2,053                    1,788                    

519                       

–                           
519                       

Expenses from. 
continuing. 
operations. Non-capital.

–                           

–                           

119                       
–                           

Capital.

Income from
continuing operations

–                           

3                           

–                           
6                           

1,309                    

116                       

1,434                    

44                         
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 1 – Net Cost of Services (continued)
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

Recreation and culture
Public libraries
Museums
Art galleries
Community centres and halls
Performing arts venues
Other performing arts
Other cultural services
Sporting grounds and venues
Swimming pools
Parks and gardens (lakes)
Other sport and recreation
Total recreation and culture

Fuel and energy

Agriculture

Mining, manufacturing and construction
Building control
Other mining, manufacturing and construction
Total mining, manufacturing and const.

Transport and communication
Urban roads (UR) – local
Urban roads – regional
Sealed rural roads (SRR) – local
Sealed rural roads (SRR) – regional
Unsealed rural roads (URR) – local
Unsealed rural roads (URR) – regional
Bridges on UR – local
Bridges on SRR – local
Bridges on URR – local
Bridges on regional roads
Parking areas
Footpaths
Aerodromes
Other transport and communication
Total transport and communication

Economic affairs
Camping areas and caravan parks
Other economic affairs
Total economic affairs

Totals – functions
General purpose revenues (1)

NET OPERATING RESULT (2)

(1) Includes: rates and annual charges (including ex gratia, excluding water and sewer), non-capital general purpose (2) As reported in the Income Statement

     grants, interest on investments (excluding externally restricted assets) and interest on overdue rates and annual charges

Share of interests – joint ventures and 
associates using the equity method

204                       

(19)                        

–                           

(142)                      

(454)                      

(204)                      

–                           

Net cost.
of services.

–                           

(232)                      

–                           

90                         

(2,092)                   

(1,672)                   

–                           

–                           
(458)                      

9,423                 

579                       
–                           

–                           

(528)                      
–                           

2,586                 

1,223                    
(763)                      

–                           
–                           

5,882.16            

–                        

(3,541)                
(487)                      

1                           

(832)                      
2,518                    

(488)                      

–                           

(7)                          

33                         

52                         

–                           
(53)                        

(321)                      

–                           
(24)                        

–                           

(1,989)                   

–                           –                           

–                           

Capital.

8                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

1,747                    
–                           –                           

–                           
763                       

–                           
–                           

2,119                    –                           

524                       

6                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

302                       

238                       

–                           –                           
1,672                    –                           

–                           

–                           

Non-capital.

–                           

Expenses from. 
continuing. 
operations.

458                       

504                       
417                       

25                         

–                           

1                           
–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

–                           

64                         

–                           
–                           

–                           

58                         2,187                    
–                           –                           

140                       

–                           –                           

Function or activity

160                       

–                           

–                           

27                         

–                           

154                       –                           

–                           

–                           

50                         

52                         
–                           

2,586                 

–                           

–                           

(165)                      

22                         
22                         

–                           

296                       
3,040                    

7                           

357                       
285                       

82                         7                           

19                         

–                           

–                           –                           

1,912                    

18,005               

–                        

5,828                    3,084                    

813                       
785                       

21,301               

274                       

29                         28                         

9,423                 
18,005               

245                       

–                        

11,878               

96                         

43                         

–                           

Income from
continuing operations

–                           
–                           –                           
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 2(a) – Statement of Long Term Debt (all purpose)
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

S
pe

 
 

pag
 

Notes: excludes (i) internal loans and (ii) principal inflows/outflows relating to loan re-financing.
           This schedule is prepared using the face value of debt obligations, rather than fair value (which are reported in the GPFS).

Loans (by source)
Commonwealth government

Current

–              –              –              –              –              –              –              

Transfers 
to sinking 

funds

Principal outstanding
Interest 

applicable 
for year TotalNon-

current

at the end of the year

–              –              

Principal outstanding New loans 
raised 

during the 
year

at beginning of the year

Classification of debt
Current Non-

current Total

–              

–              –              –              

–              –              –              

–              

–              

–              –              –              –              –              

1,550       

–              

1,550       

–              
–              

–              –              

Debt redemption 
during the year

From 
revenue

Sinking 
funds

–              

253          
–              

77            
–              

77            

1,297       

–              

–              

–              

–              

253          1,297       
–              –              

–              
–              –              –              

–              Other state government –              –              –              
–              –              

–              
–              –              –              –              

Treasury corporation
–              

Public subscription –              –              

–              –              –              
–              
–              

–              

Financial institutions 261          1,551       1,812       –              –              

–              
–              

–              

–              

–              262          
–              –              –              

262          

261          1,551       Total loans
–              

1,812       
Other

–              –              –              
Other long term debt
Ratepayers advances –              –              –              

–              
Government advances –              
Finance leases –              

–              
–              –              –              
–              

–              
–              

–              
–              –              –              

–              
–              –              

253          

–              –              –              

1,550       

–              –              –              

1,297       

–              

77            –              

–              

–              

–              
Deferred payments

–              
–              

261          

–              

1,551       

–              –              –              –              
Total long term debt –              –              

Total debt

–              

1,812       

–              

–              262          
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 2(b) – Statement of Internal Loans [Section 410(3) of the Local Government Act  1993]
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

Note: the summary of internal loans (above) represents the total of Council’s internal loans categorised according to the borrower.

Totals

6.94%
31/12/06

30/12/15
30/12/16 6.94%

General (Stormwater)Sewer 05/09/05 9                      
9                      

30/06/06
General (Stormwater)Sewer 06/07/04

Gas

outstanding 
at end of year 

Date of
Borrower Lender Dates of

(princ. and int.) 

Total repaid 
during year 

maturity interest raised 
Rate of originally 

(by purpose) (by purpose) approval (years) 
Date raisedminister’s

Totals 1,197                                                    180                                                       111                                                       

Amount Principal 
Term 

180               

–                      42                 597                  

111                  

600                  111                  

1,197               

138               

1,197                                                    180                                                       111                                                       

Summary of internal loans

Details of individual internal loans

Principal outstanding 
(principal and interest) at end of year 

Sewer

Total repaid during the year Amount originally raised 

Other

Borrower (by purpose)

General
Water

Domestic waste management



Special Schedules 2016

page 6

Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 3 – Water Supply Income Statement
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

A Expenses and income
Expenses

1. Management expenses
a. Administration
b. Engineering and supervision

2. Operation and maintenance expenses
– dams and weirs
a. Operation expenses
b. Maintenance expenses

– Mains
c. Operation expenses
d. Maintenance expenses

– Reservoirs
e. Operation expenses
f.  Maintenance expenses

– Pumping stations
g. Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)
h. Energy costs
i.  Maintenance expenses

– Treatment
j.  Operation expenses (excluding chemical costs)
k. Chemical costs
l.  Maintenance expenses

– Other
m. Operation expenses
n.  Maintenance expenses
o.  Purchase of water

3. Depreciation expenses
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

4. Miscellaneous expenses
a. Interest expenses
b. Revaluation decrements
c. Other expenses
d. Impairment – system assets
e. Impairment – plant and equipment
f. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program
g. Tax equivalents dividends (actually paid)

5. Total expenses

–                      

–                      –                      
152                  

–                      
–                      

–                      

602                  

147                  
–                      

12                    
–                      

20                    

–                      

–                      

–                      –                      

67                    

15                    54                    

75                    
–                      –                      

749                  

–                      

86                    88                    
18                    

–                      

–                      

18                    

–                      

771                  

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      –                      

588                  304                  

–                      

–                      

–                      –                      

2016

–                      

168                  

–                      

607                  

166                  
249                  249                  

Actuals 
2015

–                      

2,782               2,423               

Actuals 
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 3 – Water Supply Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

Income

6. Residential charges
a. Access (including rates)
b. Usage charges

7. Non-residential charges
a. Access (including rates)
b. Usage charges

8. Extra charges

9. Interest income

10. Other income
10a. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program

11. Grants
a. Grants for acquisition of assets
b. Grants for pensioner rebates
c. Other grants

12. Contributions
a. Developer charges
b. Developer provided assets
c. Other contributions

13. Total income

14. Gain (or loss) on disposal of assets

15. Operating result

15a. Operating result (less grants for acquisition of assets)

816                  

8                      
–                      

343                  

–                      
46                    47                    

–                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      –                      

179                  117                  

1,508               

12                    

1,005               

2016
Actuals Actuals 

764                  

200                  

390                  

764                  

–                      

–                      

3,546               

20                    

–                      

816                  

–                      

1,098               
1,613               

–                      

199                  

2015

3,239               

–                      

–                      
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 3 – Water Supply Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

B Capital transactions
Non-operating expenditures

16. Acquisition of fixed assets
a. New assets for improved standards
b. New assets for growth
c. Renewals
d. Plant and equipment

17. Repayment of debt

18. Totals

Non-operating funds employed

19. Proceeds from disposal of assets

20. Borrowing utilised

21. Totals

C Rates and charges

22. Number of assessments
a. Residential (occupied)
b. Residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)
c. Non-residential (occupied)
d. Non-residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)

23. Number of ETs for which developer charges were received

24. Total amount of pensioner rebates (actual dollars)

2016

–                      

–                      –                      

332                  273                  
2,704               

197                  

Actuals 

3,032               

–                      

–                      

–                      

146                  

–                      

197                  

–                      

2015

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

Actuals 

–                      

146                  
–                      

521                  
54                    

336                  
54                    

–              ET–              ET

85,165$           73,436$           
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 4 – Water Supply Statement of Financial Position
 Includes internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 as at 30 June 2016

$’000

ASSETS
25. Cash and investments

a. Developer charges
b. Special purpose grants
c. Accrued leave
d. Unexpended loans
e. Sinking fund
f. Other

26. Receivables
a. Specific purpose grants
b. Rates and availability charges
c. User charges
d. Other

27. Inventories

28. Property, plant and equipment
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

29. Other assets

30. Total assets

LIABILITIES
31. Bank overdraft
32. Creditors

33. Borrowings

34. Provisions
a. Tax equivalents
b. Dividend
c. Other

35. Total liabilities

36. NET ASSETS COMMITTED

EQUITY
37. Accumulated surplus
38 Asset revaluation reserve

39. TOTAL EQUITY

Note to system assets:
40. Current replacement cost of system assets
41. Accumulated current cost depreciation of system assets
42. Written down current cost of system assets

–                      

–                      111                  111                  

26,336             6,642               

116                  –                      

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

21,926             

26,336               

44,230               
(17,894)              

11,052             

32,978             

32,978             

116                  

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

35                    

–                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

26,336             

91                    

–                      
–                      

–                      

6,758               

26,336             

33,094             

91                    

–                      5                      

Non-current 

–                      

–                      –                      
–                      –                      

–                      

5                      

–                      

–                      

35                    

–                      

–                      

6,415               –                      

–                      

–                      

217                  

Actuals 
Current 

–                      –                      

Actuals 

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

Actuals 
Total 

–                      

–                      –                      

26,336             

6,415               

217                  
–                      
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 5 – Sewerage Service Income Statement
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

A Expenses and income
Expenses

1. Management expenses
a. Administration
b. Engineering and supervision

2. Operation and maintenance expenses
– mains
a. Operation expenses
b. Maintenance expenses

– Pumping stations
c. Operation expenses (excluding energy costs)

d. Energy costs
e. Maintenance expenses

– Treatment
f. Operation expenses (excl. chemical, energy, effluent and biosolids management costs)

g. Chemical costs
h. Energy costs
i.  Effluent management
j.  Biosolids management
k. Maintenance expenses

– Other
l.    Operation expenses
m. Maintenance expenses

3. Depreciation expenses
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

4. Miscellaneous expenses
a. Interest expenses
b. Revaluation decrements
c. Other expenses
d. Impairment – system assets
e. Impairment – plant and equipment
f. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program
g. Tax equivalents dividends (actually paid)

5. Total expenses

Actuals 
2016

Actuals 
2015

–                      

569                  

141                  140                  
211                  211                  

231                  

–                      
123                  63                    

236                  

–                      

1,799               1,882               

170                  
–                      –                      

–                      –                      

–                      

188                  

–                      –                      

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      –                      

28                    28                    

–                      
–                      –                      

–                      

20                    

–                      
–                      

–                      

594                  
–                      

–                      

20                    
–                      

343                  

–                      

–                      

365                  

–                      
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 5 – Sewerage Service Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

Income

6. Residential charges (including rates)

7. Non-residential charges
a. Access (including rates)
b. Usage charges

8. Trade waste charges
a. Annual fees
b. Usage charges
c. Excess mass charges
d. Re-inspection fees

9. Extra charges

10. Interest income

11. Other income
11a. Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program

12. Grants
a. Grants for acquisition of assets
b. Grants for pensioner rebates
c. Other grants

13. Contributions
a. Developer charges
b. Developer provided assets
c. Other contributions

14. Total income

15. Gain (or loss) on disposal of assets

16. Operating result

16a. Operating result (less grants for acquisition of assets)

183                  146                  

12                    9                      

–                      –                      

–                      –                      
–                      –                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

281                  34                    

281                  

–                      –                      

45                    45                    
–                      –                      

2,080               1,916               

–                      

34                    

5                      –                      

–                      –                      
–                      –                      

–                      –                      

–                      

47                    
120                  116                  

–                      

24                    

1,576               

Actuals 

1,668               

Actuals 
20152016
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 5 – Sewerage Service Income Statement (continued)
 Includes all internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$’000

B Capital transactions
Non-operating expenditures

17. Acquisition of fixed assets
a. New assets for improved standards
b. New assets for growth
c. Renewals
d. Plant and equipment

18. Repayment of debt

19. Totals

Non-operating funds employed

20. Proceeds from disposal of assets

21. Borrowing utilised

22. Totals

C Rates and charges

23. Number of assessments
a. Residential (occupied)
b. Residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)
c. Non-residential (occupied)
d. Non-residential (unoccupied, ie. vacant lot)

24. Number of ETs for which developer charges were received

25. Total amount of pensioner rebates (actual dollars)

45                    171                  

–                      
171                  45                    

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

42                    

–              ET

82,649$           

–                      

–                      –                      

Actuals Actuals 
2016 2015

–                      

–                      

274                  
320                  

2,735               

–                      

–                      

–                      

71,786$           

–                      

276                  
273                  

52                    

–              ET

2,840               
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 6 – Sewerage Service Statement of Financial Position
 Includes internal transactions, i.e. prepared on a gross basis
 as at 30 June 2016

$’000

ASSETS
26. Cash and investments

a. Developer charges
b. Special purpose grants
c. Accrued leave
d. Unexpended loans
e. Sinking fund
f. Other

27. Receivables
a. Specific purpose grants
b. Rates and availability charges
c. User charges
d. Other

28. Inventories

29. Property, plant and equipment
a. System assets
b. Plant and equipment

30. Other assets

31. Total assets

LIABILITIES
32. Bank overdraft
33. Creditors

34. Borrowings

35. Provisions
a. Tax equivalents
b. Dividend
c. Other

36. Total liabilities

37. NET ASSETS COMMITTED

EQUITY
38. Accumulated surplus
39. Asset revaluation reserve

40. TOTAL EQUITY

Note to system assets:
41. Current replacement cost of system assets
42. Accumulated current cost depreciation of system assets
43. Written down current cost of system assets

Actuals 

5,816               

–                      

Actuals 

–                      
–                      –                      

–                      
–                      

Non-current Current 

5,816               –                      
–                      

–                      

–                      

Total 
Actuals 

–                      
–                      

5,949               

–                      

79                    –                      

–                      
–                      

–                      

79                    
50                    –                      

–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      –                      

–                      

–                      

–                      

15,664             

4                      

–                      
–                      

4                      

–                      

–                      

21,613             

15,664             

15,664             

50                    

–                      

–                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

10,435             

15,664               

38,741               
(23,077)              

11,178             

21,613             

15,664             

–                      

5,949               

–                      

–                      

–                      
–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      –                      

–                      

–                      
–                      

21,613             

–                      

–                      
–                      
–                      
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Berrigan Shire Council

Notes to Special Schedules 3 and 5
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Administration (1) Engineering and supervision (1)

(item 1a of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprises the following: (item 1b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprises the following:

•  Administration staff: • Engineering staff:
− Salaries and allowance − Salaries and allowance
− Travelling expenses − Travelling expenses
− Accrual of leave entitlements − Accrual of leave entitlements
− Employment overheads. − Employment overheads.

• Meter reading • Other technical and supervision staff:
− Salaries and allowance

• Bad and doubtful debts − Travelling expenses
− Accrual of leave entitlements

• Other administrative/corporate support services − Employment overheads.

Operational expenses   (item 2 of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprise the day to day operational expenses
excluding maintenance expenses.

Maintenance expenses   (item 2 of Special Schedules 3 and 5) comprise the day to day repair and maintenance
expenses. (Refer to Section 5 of the Local Government Asset Accounting Manual regarding capitalisation
principles and the distinction between capital and maintenance expenditure).

Other expenses   (item 4c of Special Schedules 3 and 5) includes all expenses not recorded elsewhere.

Revaluation decrements   (item 4b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) is to be used when I,PP&E decreases in FV.

Impairment losses   (item 4d and 4e of Special Schedules 3 and 5) are to be used when the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount (refer to page D-31).

Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program (item 4f of Special Schedules 3 and 5) is to be
used when operation and maintenance work has been undertaken on behalf of the Aboriginal Communities
Water and Sewerage Program. Similarly, income for item 11a of Special Schedule 3 and item 12a of Special
Schedule 5 are for services provided to the Aboriginal Communities Water and Sewerage Program and is not
part of Council’s water supply and sewerage revenue.

Residential charges   

(2) (items 6a, 6b and item 6 of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include all income
from residential charges. Item 6 of Schedule 3 should be separated into 6a access charges (including rates if
applicable) and 6b usage charges.

Non-residential charges   

(2) (items 7a, 7b of Special Schedules 3 and 5) include all income from non-residential
charges separated into 7a access charges (including rates if applicable) and 7b usage charges.

Trade waste charges   (item 8 of Special Schedule 5) include all income from trade waste charges separated
into 8a annual fees, 8b usage charges and 8c excess mass charges and 8d re-inspection fees.

Other income   (items 10 and 11 of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) include all income not recorded
elsewhere.

Other contributions   (items 12c and 13c of Special Schedules 3 and 5 respectively) including capital contributions
for water supply or sewerage services received by Council under Section 565 of the Local Government Act .

Notes:
(1) Administration and engineering costs for the development of capital works projects should be reported as part of the
    capital cost of the project and not as part of the recurrent expenditure (ie. in item 16 for water supply and item 17 for
    sewerage, and not in items 1a and 1b).

(2) To enable accurate reporting of residential revenue from usage charges, it is essential for councils to accurately
    separate their residential (item 6) charges and non-residential (item 7) charges.
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets as at 30 June 2016
 as at 30 June 2016

$’000

Assets in condition as a percentage of gross 
replacement cost

Carrying
value

18,071          
528               

0%

0%96% 2%

703            

643            
643            

–                   

–                   282            55.0%

0%

0%4,141            

0%
0%

0%
0%

2%

60              

54%43,342          0%

0.0%37,737          

25,602          

Sub-total 0.0%
20%

–                   0.0%617            14,829          

560            
Sub-total

37,737          617            

–                   25,602          

14,829          

82%
75%
10%

0%

Bulk earthworks

7,032            

2,976            80%2,976            
83.1%

1%98%

Footpaths
Other road assets 25%

3,727            
3,095            
8,729            

Sealed roads

13              

10              

15              

10              
60              

0%100%
18%

0%

0%
10%

18,599          

Unsealed roads
88,587          
11,462          554            564            

812            

171            

21

0%

27%

1%119,819        
34,911          

1,048         

maintenancea

Roads

2015/16to bring to the 2015/16 Gross

standard maintenanceAsset category
Required Actual replacement

cost (GRC)
to satisfactory

Estimated cost

agreed level of
service set by

Council

Buildings

Asset class

to bring assets
Estimated cost

371,699        252            

Sub-total
33%

–                   

141            
774               0%

18%
30              67%30              

0%

5

Buildings – specialised

3

Buildings – non-specialised

27.1%

0%
0%

55%

4

0%
0.0%18.0%372,473        0.0%

20              20              

–                   1,705         

0%
0%

13,197          

Sub-total

Bridges 0%

560            –                   

–                   

703            
Water supply network

8.4%182,076        

0.0%

0.0%

Water supply                    

1,481         

0%46%

8.1% 0.4%118,576        

0%

0%

0.0%0.0%54.0%43,342          

0% 80%

46.0%

0%Sewerage network

network

network 20.0%
Sewerage                       

80.0%
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets as at 30 June 2016 (continued)
 as at 30 June 2016

$’000

Notes:
a Required maintenance is the amount identified in Council’s asset management plans.

Infrastructure asset condition assessment ‘key’

Excellent No work required (normal maintenance) Condition Description here…
Good Only minor maintenance work required Condition Description here…
Average Maintenance work required Condition Description here…
Poor Renewal required Condition Description here…
Very poor Urgent renewal/upgrading required Condition Description here…

4
3
2
1 6

10
9
8
7

199,172        TOTAL – ALL ASSETS –                   3,486         3,666         

Assets in condition as a percentage of gross 
replacement cost

29.0% 13.5% 0.1% 0.0%–                   666,334        57.4%

to bring to the
Estimated cost

Asset class

376            7,329            
–                   

Stormwater drainage
20,477          10.0%

2015/16

Asset category

0%

10,229          10.0%
5%

–                   391            384            

90.0% 0.0%0.0%

0%
0%

0.0%
0%

4

assets Sub-total

2,900            10% 80%

to bring assets

0%

118            97              

15              8                10% 0%

83.6% 6.4% 0.0% 0.0%5,301            

2015/16

10%97              118            16,265          0%

Carrying
value

Council

Gross

21 3cost (GRC)

recreational Other

16,265          

1,675            
3,626            

–                   

Swimming pools
10%

20,477          

maintenance
ActualRequiredto satisfactory

standard

Estimated cost

agreed level of
service set by

drainage Sub-total

Open space/                                   

5

–                   
Stormwater                              

maintenancea

376            85%

5
replacement

90%
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets (continued)
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Infrastructure asset performance indicators * 
consolidated

1. Infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals (1)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

2. Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory standard
Carrying value of infrastructure assets

3. Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance
Required asset maintenance

4. Capital expenditure ratio
Annual capital expenditure
Annual depreciation

Notes

* All asset performance indicators are calculated using the asset classes identified in the previous table.

(1) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent 
                       capacity/performance  as opposed to the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that
        increases capacity/performance.

1.05 1.00 1.003,486        

1.56 0.92 1.24

Indicator Prior periods

–               0.00% 0.00% 2.17%196,694    

2016 2016 2015 2014

6,243        140.51% 109.17% 76.54%4,443        

Amounts

8,988        
5,758        

3,666        
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets (continued)
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >=100.00% Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Maximum  <2.00% Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >1.00 Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Benchmark: ――― Minimum  >1.10 Ratio achieves benchmark
Source for benchmark: Code of Accounting Practice and Financial Reporting #24 Ratio is outside benchmark

Due to the revaluation of assets in 2015 
depreciation was higher than anticipated.

Commentary on 2015/16 result

2015/16 Ratio      140.51%

To assess the extent 
to which a Council is 
expanding its asset 
base through capital 
expenditure on both 
new assets and the 

replacement and 
renewal of existing 

assets. 

To assess the rate at 
which these assets 
are being renewed 

relative to the rate at 
which they are 
depreciating.

Purpose of 
infrastructure 
backlog ratio

Purpose of asset 
maintenance ratio

Council continues to invest in maintaining 
and renewing assets.

Commentary on 2015/16 result

2015/16 Ratio      0.00%

Council has no unfunded infrastructure 
backlog.

Commentary on 2015/16 result

2015/16 Ratio      1.05 x

Compares actual vs. 
required annual asset 
maintenance. A ratio 
above 1.0 indicates 
Council is investing 

enough funds to stop 
the infrastructure 
backlog growing.

Purpose of capital 
expenditure ratio

Purpose of asset 
renewals ratio

This ratio shows
what proportion the 
backlog is against

the total value
of a Council’s 
infrastructure.

Council continues to maintain its assets.

Commentary on 2015/16 result

2015/16 Ratio      1.56 x

109% 141%62% 77%

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%

100%
120%
140%
160%
180%

2013 2014 2015 2016

R
at

io
 %

1. Infrastructure renewals ratio

0.0% 0.0%5.0% 2.2%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

2013 2014 2015 2016

R
at

io
 %

2. Infrastructure backlog ratio

1.00 1.05 1.00 1.00

0.00

0.20

0.40

0.60

0.80

1.00

1.20

1.40

2013 2014 2015 2016

R
at

io
 (x

)

3. Asset maintenance ratio

1.24 1.56 1.03 0.92

0.00
0.20
0.40
0.60
0.80
1.00
1.20
1.40
1.60
1.80
2.00

2013 2014 2015 2016

R
at

io
 (x

)

4. Capital expenditure ratio
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 7 – Report on Infrastructure Assets (continued)
 for the year ended 30 June 2016

$ ’000

Infrastructure asset performance indicators
by fund

1. Infrastructure renewals ratio
Asset renewals (2)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

2. Infrastructure backlog ratio
Estimated cost to bring assets to a satisfactory standard
Carrying value of infrastructure assets

3. Asset maintenance ratio
Actual asset maintenance
Required asset maintenance

4. Capital expenditure ratio
Annual capital expenditure
Annual depreciation

Notes

(1) General fund refers to all of Council’s activities except for its water and sewer activities which are listed separately.

(2) Asset renewals represent the replacement and/or refurbishment of existing assets to an equivalent 
                       capacity/performance  as opposed to the acquisition of new assets (or the refurbishment of old assets) that
        increases capacity/performance.

0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

prior period: 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

prior period: 0.24 0.08 1.12

0.80 0.96 1.16

prior period: 0.97 1.01 1.03

0.32 0.30 1.88

32.72% 30.81% 178.79%
prior period: 51.17% 39.37% 127.82%

Water Sewer General (1)

2016 2016 2016
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Berrigan Shire Council

Special Schedule 8 – Permissible Income Calculation
 for the year ended 30 June 2017

$’000

Notional general income calculation (1)

Last year notional general income yield
Plus or minus adjustments (2)

Notional general income

Permissible income calculation

Special variation percentage (3)

Or rate peg percentage
Or crown land adjustment (incl. rate peg percentage)

Less expiring special variation amount
Plus special variation amount

Or plus rate peg amount
Or plus Crown land adjustment and rate peg amount

Sub-total

Plus (or minus) last year’s carry forward total
Less valuation objections claimed in the previous year
Sub-total

Total permissible income

Less notional general income yield
Catch-up or (excess) result

Plus income lost due to valuation objections claimed (4)

Less unused catch-up (5)

Carry forward to next year

Notes

(1) The notional general income will not reconcile with rate income in the financial statements in the corresponding
year. The statements are reported on an accrual accounting basis which include amounts that relate to prior years’
rates income.

(2) Adjustments account for changes in the number of assessments and any increase or decrease in land value occurring
during the year. The adjustments are called ‘supplementary valuations’ as defined in the Valuation of Land Act 1916 .

(3) The ‘special variation percentage’ is inclusive of the rate peg percentage and where applicable Crown land adjustment.

(4) Valuation objections are unexpected changes in land values as a result of land owners successfully objecting to the
land value issued by the Valuer-General.  Councils can claim the value of the income lost due to valuation objections in
any single year.

(5) Unused catch-up amounts will be deducted if they are not caught up within 2 years. Usually councils will have a
nominal carry forward figure. These amounts can be adjusted for in setting the rates in a future year.

(6) Carry forward amounts which are in excess (an amount that exceeds the permissible income) require ministerial 
approval by order published in the NSW Government Gazette  in accordance with section 512 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 . The OLG will extract these amounts from Council’s Special Schedule 8 in the financial data 
return (FDR) to administer this process.

17                    13                    
4,726               4,853               

4,709               4,840               

0.00% 0.00%
2.40% 1.80%
0.00% 0.00%

–                      –                      
–                      –                      

1                      (0)                     

113                  87                    
–                      –                      

4,839               4,940               

(1)                     –                      
0                      (0)                     

4,940               

4,840               4,940               

a

(0)                     0                      

Calculation Calculation
2015/16 2016/17

–                      –                      

(0)                     0                      

–                      –                      

4,840               

l

m

n = (l + m)

o = k + n

g

k = (c + g + h + i + j)

b

d

e

f

j = c x f

i = c x e

h = d x (c – g)

c = (a + b)

p

q = o – p

r

s
t = q + r – s
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